

Acidification effects in forest soils, soil water, groundwater and stream water following clear-cutting and aboveground biomass removal

-a literature review



Rapport 2010:15



Acidification effects in forest soils, soil water, groundwater and stream water following clear-cutting and aboveground biomass removal

-a literature review

Therese Zetterberg & Stefan Löfgren

Rapport 2010:15

Institutionen för vatten och miljö, SLU Box 7050 750 07 Uppsala Tel. 018 – 67 31 10 http://www.slu.se/vatten-miljo

Omslagsillustration/omslagsfoto: Therese Zetterberg

Tryck: Institutionen för vatten och miljö, SLU Uppsala, 2010-12-03

Preface

Over the years the Swedish Energy Agency has funded research and development in the field of energy, including the effects of intensified forestry and different mitigating measures e.g. ash return. In 2009 the project "Acidification of surface waters due to forest biofuel extraction - development of a classification tool" was granted fundings by the Swedish Energy Agency from the third research and framework development program 2007-2010 "Sustainable supply and upgrading of biomass feedstock for energy purposes". Project leader is Associate Professor Stefan Löfgren at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, department of Aquatic sciences and Assessment. Financial support is also given to post graduate studies whitin this project. The work is carried out in collaboration between the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences and IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute.

The aim of the project is to develop a tool for estimating the long-term sensitivity of surface waters to acidification from forest biomass extraction due to depletion of base cations. The EU Water Framework Directive, the energy policy, the environmental quality objective "only natural acidification" and the sector objective to reduce forestry-related acidification have all highlighted the potential of forest biomass extraction acidification effects on lakes and streams.

This literature review is part of the project and will provide state of the art information about the acidification effects following clear-cutting and biomass removal. When possible, the quantitative importance is discussed. Mechanisms responsible for the observed changes are identified and evaluated in terms of their importance from a whole-catchment perspective. The report is primarily directed towards the forestry and energy sectors.

Therese Zetterberg and Stefan Löfgren

Uppsala 2010-12-03

Table of contents

1	INTRODUCTION	7
2	BACKGROUND	8
2.1	Current acidification status in Sweden	8
2.1.1	Forest soils	10
2.1.2	Surface waters	11
2.2	Potential effects of whole-tree harvesting	11
3	IMPORTANT CONCLUSIONS FROM PREVIOUS LITERATURE	REVIEWS 15
3.1	Swedish reviews	15
3.2	International reviews	18
4	SOME FUNDAMENTALS REGARDING ACIDIFICATION	26
4.1	Acidification of soils	26
4.2	Acidification of soil water, groundwater, stream water and lakes	27
5	CATCHMENT CHARACTERISTICS AND HYDROLOGY	31
5.1	Stream flow generation	31
5.2	Dominating soil types in Sweden	34
5.3	Recharge areas	35
5.4	Discharge areas	38
5.5	Catchment level	38
6	MATERIAL AND METHODS	40
7	RESULTS	47
7.1	Hydrology	47
7.2	Soil chemistry	50
7.2.1	pH and H^+	50
7.2.2	Carbon (C) and CEC	50
7.2.3	Nitrogen (N)	51
7.2.4	Base cations (Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^{+})	52
7.3	Soil water, groundwater and stream water	63
7.3.1	рН	63
7.3.2	Base cations (Ca ²⁺ , Mg ²⁺ and K ⁺)	63
7.3.3	Anions (NO ₃ ⁻ , SO ₄ ²⁻ , Cl ⁻ and DOC)	64
8	DISCUSSION	72
8.1	Hydrology	72

8.1.1	Soil water and groundwater tables	72
8.1.2	Stream runoff	73
8.2	pH and H^+	75
8.2.1	Soils	76
8.2.2	Soil water, groundwater and stream water	77
8.3	Carbon (C) and CEC	80
8.4	Nitrogen (N)	85
8.5	Base cations (Ca ²⁺ , Mg ²⁺ and K ⁺)	87
8.5.1	Decomposition and mineralization effects	88
8.5.2	Exchangeable concentrations in soils	89
8.5.3	Total concentrations in soils	91
8.5.4	Exchangeable pools in soils	92
8.5.5	Total pools in soils	94
8.5.6	Concentrations in soil water, groundwater and stream water	95
8.5.7	Fluxes in soil water and stream water	99
8.5.8	Summary of harvest effects on base cations in soils and water	99
8.6	Anions (NO ₃ ⁻ , SO ₄ ²⁻ , Cl ⁻ and DOC)	101
8.6.1	NO ₃	101
8.6.2	SO4 ²⁻	104
8.6.3	Cľ	108
8.6.4	DOC	110
9	ASSESSMENT IN RELATION TO PREVIOUS REVIEWS	113
9.1	Hydrology	113
9.2	рН	114
9.3	Carbon (C) and CEC	115
9.4	Nitrogen (N) and major anions (NO ₃ ⁻ , SO ₄ ²⁻ , Cl ⁻ , DOC)	116
9.5	Base cations (Ca ²⁺ , Mg ²⁺ , K ⁺)	119
10	CONCLUSION	119
11	ACKNOWLEDGMENT	123
12	REFERENCES	123

Summary

Today, Sweden is the leading user of renewable energy in the EU as a result of various energy policies as well as major indigenous sources of renewable energy such as biofuels. The use of renewable energies is intended to increase even further in the future while reducing the use of fossil fuels. Increased utilization of logging residues (above- and belowground) removes valuable nutrients and buffer capacity from the forests, which could prevent or delay a recovery from acidification in soils and surface waters. As of today, the relationship between whole-tree harvesting and long-term surface water acidification is unclear.

The objective of this literature review is to describe acidification effects in forest soils, soil water, groundwater and surface waters following clear-cutting and above-ground biomass removal by examining the empirical results from scientific studies presented in the literature. In addition, cutting effects on hydrology are discussed. The mechanisms responsible for the results are explained and discussed in terms of site-specific conditions (catchment characteristics and hydrology). When possible, treatment differences between whole-tree and stem-only harvest are discussed. The results are assessed in relation to previous reviews in order to improve our current understanding. The review describes research carried out mainly in Europe, the US and Canada but studies from New Zeeland and South Australia have been considered although climate, soil types and forest practices may differ. The review will provide increased understanding of the causes and effects of logging harvest residues in forested catchments and it is primarily directed towards the forestry and energy sectors.

Following the abrupt removal of trees in final cutting, the soil properties will be affected resulting in increased or decreased concentrations, pools and fluxes of most constituents. The quantitative importance and duration of these changes differ between sites. The treatment differences between whole-tree and stem-only harvest are difficult to quantify, which suggests that the effect of cutting per se is more important than differences in harvest intensity, especially during the clear-cut phase. Treatment effects can usually be detected in soils, soil water, groundwater and stream water. In general, short-term effects (equal to the clear-cut phase) are well studied, especially in forest soils and stream water since this is usually the time when the largest changes take place. Groundwater studies are largely lacking. Clear-cutting effects should also be viewed in a catchment perspective why soil studies should be combined with soil water, groundwater and stream water studies. This type of studies, preferably complemented with measurements of deposition, decomposition and mineralization, should therefore be prioritized in future research. In addition, long-term effects are rarely described due to the lack of long-term data. There are no studies describing treatment effects older than 31 years. Considering normal rotation times of forests (60-120 years) and that it may take decades for soil changes to become detectable, continued monitoring in already established research sites should be supported. This becomes even more apparent when considering the use of steadystate mass-balances and dynamic modelling for predicting long-term changes. According to the model simulations, clear-cutting, especially whole-tree harvest, have a long-term negative impact on soil nutrients which cannot always be compensated for by weathering processes and deposition. However, based on the empirical evidence assessed in this review, the short-term effect of clearcutting final felling is relatively small even though there are sites where the effect of cutting has been considerable. The long-term effects are largely unknown. Thus, there is a discrepancy between the empirical evidence and model predictions.

1 Introduction

The energy use in Sweden has continued to increase since the Second World War owing to an import of fossil fuels and the development of nuclear power stations and hydropower production. However, the 1973's oil crises lead to awareness in finding renewable energy sources to reduce the fossil fuel dependency. Driving forces during the 1980's and 1990's has been acidification and climate change. As a result, the supply of electricity (from hydro- and nuclear power) has increased by 145 % and the supply of biofuels by 179 % since the 1970's (Swedish Energy Agency, 2008). The supply of oil products has decreased by 43 % but at the same time the demand for energy has increased by 7.7 % (from 375 to 404 TWh) and the total energy supply by 36.5 % (from 457 to 624 TWh).

Today, Sweden is the leading user of renewable energy in the EU as a result of various energy policies as well as major indigenous sources of renewable energy such as biofuels. In 2007, the total supply of biofuels, peat, waste etc. amounted to 120 TWh (or 19 %) used primarily in district heating plants, electricity production, forest product industry and for heating of residential buildings (Swedish Energy Agency, 2008). The supply of renewable energy (i.e. logging residue fuel) from the forest was 7.3 TWh in 2007 according to the Swedish Forest Agency (2008a). In the future, this amount could increase to 15 TWh using existing techniques, new methods and harvest of stumps could yield another 21-34 TWh (Swedish Forest Agency, 2008b).

The use of renewable energies is expected to increase even further in the future while reducing the use of fossil fuels. Nationally, the Swedish Parliament has adopted 16 national environmental quality objectives where the significant environmental problems should be solved by 2020 (governement bill 1997/98:145). One of these goals is "Reduced climate impact" whereby emissions of greenhouse gaseous should be reduced by 4 % compared with the concentrations in 1990. In Europe, the European Council has agreed upon an integrated energy and climate change strategy (COM, 2007) including an overall binding target of 20 % renewable energies by the year 2020 compared with 8.5 % in 2005. By the same year, the greenhouse gas emissions must be reduced by at least 20 % compared with 1990. However, the ability to cut emissions by replacing fossil fuels with renewables varies within the EU. Therefore, the Commission of the European Communities has proposed differentiated targets for each EU member state and the national overall target for Sweden in final consumption of renewable energy is set to 49 % compared with 39.8 % in 2005 (COM, 2008).

Increased utilization of logging residues (above- and belowground) removes valuable nutrients and buffer capacity from the forest which could prevent or delay a recovery from acidification in forest soils and surface waters (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2007a). Hence, a new interim target for the acidifying effects of forestry has been proposed: "By 2015 the acidifying effects of forestry in acidified areas will not exceed what is compensated for by natural processes" concerning the national environmental objective "Natural Acidification Only" (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2007a).

The negative impact of forestry is also governed by the Water Framework Directive which states that all of the European member states are committed to achieve good qualitative and quantitative

status of all water bodies by 2015 (OJ L327, 2000). The goal is to "implement the necessary measures to prevent deterioration of the status of all bodies of surface water" and to "protect, enhance and restore all bodies of surface water" (op. cit.). Agricultural areas and forests are pointed out as two examples of land use patterns which could have a significant impact on surface waters, and if so, the Water Authorities have the means to take actions through the municipalities and the government authorities which carries out the necessary measures. In 2009, the Swedish Water Authorities presented for the first time plans for each of the five water districts. In the proposal from Västerhavets water district, forestry is discussed as a contributor to acidification of surface waters when base cations are removed from the forest through logging residue fuel (County Administration Board, 2009). Hence, if logging of residues has a negative impact on the pools of base cations in the soils, leading to surface water acidification, the loss must be compensated for by lime or wood ash. Alternatively, collecting logging residue fuels may be restricted in the most sensitive areas.

To summarize, the logging of forest residues will continue to increase according to binding energy policies. At the same time the water framework directive states that surface waters must be protected from acidification via the removal of base cations. As of today, the relationship between whole-tree harvesting and long-term surface water acidification is unclear.

The goal of this literature review is to:

- Describe short- and long-term acidification effects in forest soils, soil water groundwater and surface waters following conventional clear-cutting (CH) and clear-cutting together with above-ground biomass removal (WTH).
- Describe short- and long-term changes in water tables and runoff following CH and WTH.
- Describe short- and long-term treatment differences between CH and WTH when specified.
- Provide increased understanding of the causes and effects of logging harvest residues in forested catchments depending on catchment characteristics and hydrological flow paths.
- Assess the results in relation to previous reviews in order to improve our current understanding.

The review is mainly directed towards the forestry and energy sectors. It begins with an overview of the current acidification status in Sweden and a description of the potential effects of whole-tree harvesting. Next, acidification status is discussed followed by an examination of catchment characteristics and hydrology. This background information is necessary for understanding harvesting effects on forest soils and how it links to surface water quality. In the second part of this review, clear-cut effects with and without logging of residue fuel are reviewed beginning with treatment effects in forest soils, soil water, groundwater and surface waters. The results are assessed in relation to previous reviews ending with conclusions.

2 Background

2.1 Current acidification status in Sweden

Atmospheric deposition of sulfur (S) and nitrogen (N) during the last century has caused acidification of Swedish forest soils and surface waters, especially in the southwestern parts where the base cation soil storage has decreased considerably in the soils (Eriksson et al. 1992). For example, Falkengren-Grerup et al. (1987) observed a decrease in base saturation by 30-50 % and a decline in pH by more than one unit in deep soil horizons during 1949-1985. Changes in soil pH have also been reported by Tamm & Hallbäcken (1986; 1988). Documented acidification of surface water and lakes before 1980 is rare, but Renberg et al (1993) used paleolimnological data to link atmospheric deposition and acidification of clear water lakes from 1900 to present day.

The emissions of acidifying pollutants have been reduced and as a result the deposition of S and N has decreased (Figure 1). Today, the total S deposition is below 6 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, except for the south-western parts (Figure 2). The total N deposition has also decreased but not to the same extent. The N deposition pattern, however, follows that of S. Areas most affected by S and N deposition coincide with areas receiving relatively high deposition of sea salts (NaCl) due to the close proximity to the sea. Sodium (Na⁺) participates in exchange processes with hydrogen (H⁺) and aluminium ions (Alⁿ⁺) while chloride (Cl⁻) acts as a mobile anion and is believed to move through the soil relatively unaffected (Öberg, 1998). During heavy storm events, sea salt deposition can cause episodic acidification in streams and lakes (e.g. Wigington et al. 1996a; Wright et al. 1988) and in the most severe cases lead to fish death (Hindar et al. 1994).



Figure 1. Wet deposition of NH₄-N, NO₃-N, SO₄-S and H⁺ in the middle part of Sweden expressed on a yearly basis for the period 1955-2006. From MISU and IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute.



Figure 2. Total deposition of N and S in forests expressed as a mean during the period 2003-2005. The maps are based on MATCH ("Swedish model") with a resolution of 20*20 km. From IVL Swedish Environmental Institute.

2.1.1 Forest soils

Forest soil and surface water surveys in Sweden and elsewhere in Europe show clear signs of recovery from acidification as a result of the emission reductions (e.g. Fölster & Wilander, 2002; Wilander & Lundin 2000; Skjelkvåle et al., 2001ab; Stoddard et al., 1999). According to the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2007a) *"the trend towards increased acidification of forest soils"* has been reversed. The status and development of forest soil acidity is described using a combination of pH_{H2O}, effective base saturation (V_{eff}) and extractable aluminium (Al_{ex}) in the Bhorizon which groups forest soils into one of the following classes: 1-2 = low, 3 = moderate, 4 =high, and 5 = very high acidity. During the period 1985-87 to 1999-03 the percentage of forest soils belonging to class 4 and 5 decreased from 48 % to 21 % (Figure 3) (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2007b). The decrease is most pronounced in the southwestern parts of Sweden, which historically has received the highest deposition (Figure 4). Areas not as affected by anthropogenic deposition and/or with a good buffer capacity show a limited positive change (i.e. the northern parts of Sweden and calcium rich areas such as the island of Gotland).



Figure 3. The status and development of forest soil acidification during the period 1985-87, 1993-98 and 1999-03. The figure shows the percentage of soils that belong to acidification class 4 (=high acidity) and 5 (=very high acidity) based on pH, base saturation and extractable aluminium in the B-horizon. From the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2007a).



Figure 4. The percentage of forest soils in different parts of Sweden that belong to acidification class 4 (=high acidity) and 5 (=very high acidity) based on pH, base saturation and extractable aluminium in the B-horizon. From the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2007a).

2.1.2 Surface waters

The decrease in non-marine S concentrations has led to an increase in ANC and accompanying increases in pH and decreases in Al^{n+} (Evans et al. 2001). The increase in ANC has however been offset by a decrease in base cations, primarily Ca^{2+} (Löfgren et al. 2009a). Environmental monitoring data from 80 Swedish lakes show decreasing trends in sulfate (SO_4^{2-}) and base cations and increasing trends in ANC during 1990-2005 (Figure 5). This is accompanied by a small increase in pH, partly offset by the increasing TOC trend.





2.2 Potential effects of whole-tree harvesting

Model simulations indicate that it may take decades or even centuries for some forest areas to fully recover from acidification unless further S and N emission reductions are undertaken (Sverdrup et al., 2005). According to the simulations, the acidification status is made worse by extraction of biofuels from forests. Harvesting of logging residues may lower the use of fossil fuels but in return it removes base cations from the forest, unless wood ash is brought back.

There have been several attempts to quantify the long-term sustainability of forest soils following different intensities of forest harvesting using simple input-output budgets (steady-state models). The results from these budget calculations are interpreted as a non-sustainable system if the output of nutrients exceeds the input to the system. For example, Olsson et al. (1993) and Olsson (1996a) demonstrated in a *regional* comparison that weathering alone can support the loss of Mg²⁺ and K⁺ via plant uptake but not Ca²⁺ when stem-only harvest is practiced. In contrast, whole-tree harvesting leads to losses of all three cations, especially in the southwestern parts of Sweden. Input of nutrients via atmospheric deposition and output via leaching losses were not included in these regional budget calculations. A *national* mass balance budget calculation, including atmospheric deposition and leaching losses, suggests that the average total base cation difference between supply and loss was nearly twice as high following whole-tree harvesting compared with stem-only (-0.62 keq ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and -0.33 keq ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, respectively) and thereby "*risk depletion of the soil in less than one to two rotation periods almost anywhere in Sweden*" (Sverdrup & Rosén, 1998).

Akselsson & Westling (2005) and Akselsson et al. (2007) further developed the national mass balance model by using the same approach as above. The results from these studies showed that weathering and deposition alone cannot compensate for losses of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} for large parts of Sweden regardless of harvesting method (Figure 6 and Figure 7). The losses are less in Scots pine stands (*Pinus sylvestris*) compared with Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) stands. Potassium losses following stem-only harvesting in Scots pine stands are compensated for via weathering and deposition but not in Norway spruce stands following whole-tree harvesting (Figure 8).



Figure 6. Mass balance budget calculations for Ca²⁺ (kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) in Scots pine and Norway spruce stands following stem-only (STEM) and whole tree (WTH) harvesting. From the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2007b).



Figure 7. Mass balance budget calculations for Mg²⁺ (kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) in Scots pine and Norway spruce stands following stem-only (STEM) and whole tree (WTH) harvesting. From the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2007b).



Figure 8. Mass balance budget calculations for K⁺ (kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) in Scots pine and Norway spruce stands following stem-only (STEM) and whole tree (WTH) harvesting. From the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2007b).

The difference between tree species, regions and harvest intensities is further illustrated in Figure 9. Regardless of harvest method, stem-only or whole tree harvesting always leads to negative base cation balances. The losses are greater in Norway spruce forests compared with Scots pine, especially when whole-tree harvesting is practiced in southern part of Sweden (-0.26 keq ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹).



Figure 9. Base cation budgets (including Na) following whole-tree (WTH) or stem-only (STEM) harvesting in southern, middle and northern part of Sweden using potential harvesting volumes from SKA99. The WTH calculations are based on a 75 % removal of the branches and 56 % of the twigs. From the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2007b).

Similar results have been found in Finland and Germany using the same input-output approach for Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ . Depletion of base cations was simulated in 40-50 % of the area following whole-tree harvesting in southern, central and northeastern Finland (Joki-Heiskala et al. 2003). In comparison, when practicing stem-only harvest, 20 % of the area was affected in the southwestern, southeastern and northeastern Lapland. In northwest Germany, forest soils are already losing more Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} via leaching than is compensated for via deposition and weathering. In this system whole-tree harvesting would increase the deficit even further why Ca^{2+} -fertilization could become necessary (Rademacher et al., 2001).

In general, there are few studies describing nutrient removal via harvesting on a regional or national basis. One obvious reason for this is the lack of spatial data necessary for the calculations. Instead mass balances, based on the same methodology as above, are often used on a *local or plot scale*. For instance, Duchesne & Houle (2008) calculated base cation balances following harvest of a balsam fir forest in Quebec, Canada, using six different harvest intensity and weathering rate scenarios. The results showed that K^+ was lost in five out of the six scenarios. Considering the large accumulation of K^+ in tree biomass, whole-tree harvest could remove as much as 44% of easily accessible K^+ . In comparison Ca²⁺ was only lost in two out of six scenarios while Mg²⁺ accumulated in all six scenarios. A similar study was carried out in the Baltic region and Nordic countries using six different harvest scenarios (Raulund-Rasmunssen et al., 2008). Following harvesting and removal of logging residues, the loss of base cations (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺) were greater compared with weathering and deposition inputs on acids soils (pH=4.7-5.0 at 50 cm depth, characterized as sandy soils with poor mineralogy) (op. cit.). In southern Sweden, Sverdrup et al. (2006) predicted that stem-

only harvest is sustainable or in excess for Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ for different tree species on acid forest soils.

Mass balance budget models are robust and transparent allowing different scenarios to be easily applied. The magnitude of change can be used to assess the sustainability of a system and the rate of change (slow or rapid) in relative numbers before negative effects could occur. However, they do not consider feedback mechanisms such as increased weathering or less growth as a result of lower nutrient pools or describes the ecosystem effects. Also, the calculations are limited to the root depth, generally the upper 50 cm of the soil (from the soil surface) and do not link soil chemistry to effects in soil water, groundwater or surface waters. Considering the variability within a catchment, including hydrological pathways, extrapolation of chemical changes within forest soils in recharge areas to other parts of the ecosystem is not as straightforward and very uncertain.

In order to include feedback mechanisms and to provide information about temporally variable parameters, more complex dynamic modelling has been applied in addition to the mass balance models. Dynamic modelling is usually carried out for single sites since large amounts of data are required. Using the Model of Acidification of Ground water In Catchments (MAGIC), Aherne et al. (2008) modelled changes in lake chemistry following different deposition and harvest scenarios (stem-only and whole-tree harvest) in Finland. According to the results, whole-tree harvesting will lead to a long-term re-acidification of soils and lakes (with ANC<0) despite further emission reductions. In Canada, Watmough et al. (2003) used the steady-state water chemistry (SSWC) model to predict potential impact of harvest on lake chemistry using three different cutting scenarios (stem without bark, stem-only and whole-tree harvest). The results indicated that harvest "in south-central Ontario will potentially have a dramatic impact on lake chemistry", especially in the whole-tree harvest scenario. By combining the results from mass balance models with dynamic modelling a more accurate picture of the acidification effects of biomass removal is often assumed. However, the model assumptions and data used greatly affect the simulation results.

3 Important conclusions from previous literature reviews

3.1 Swedish reviews

Pioneering bioenergy research in Sweden begun during the 1960's, but it was not until the mid-70's when actual research programs begun in light of the oil crisis 1973 (Anonymous, 1977). Most of the early research paid attention to whether or not harvest of logging residues could be carried out without causing nutrient deficiencies in soils and reduced tree growth, primarily as a result of the N removal. Later research included effects on soil, soil water, ground water and biodiversity. The most important conclusions from previous national literature reviews are given below. The results are based on effects following final cutting unless otherwise stated. The reviews are in Swedish and have not been scientifically published.

Sinclair et al. (1992) evaluated the effects on plant survival and tree growth based on results from Swedish field experiments. Among other things they concluded that:

- Removal of logging residues after final felling will increase plant survival but reduce the short-term (10-25 years depending on site quality) tree growth of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*), but not Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*).
- Nutrient content and humus volume will decrease, but the tree growth effect is transitional. Compared with the amount of organic matter produced during a rotation period, the removal during logging is small.
- The pH increase is smaller following whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only.

Based on these results, Sinclair et al. (1992) did not "discourage whole-tree removal on Swedish mineral soil".

Rosén (1991) compiled results from both national and international studies on the ecological consequences of whole-tree harvesting. He concluded that:

- The loss of nutrients (N, Ca, Mg, K and P) following whole-tree harvesting is 1.5-5 times higher compared with stem-only, but relative small in relation to the soil total nutrient pools.
- The loss of Mg²⁺ and K⁺ (but not Ca²⁺) ions can be compensated for via weathering following stem-only harvesting. Increased removal via whole-tree harvesting will increase the negative balances for Ca²⁺ and also lead to negative balances of Mg²⁺ and K⁺ for many forest sites, especially in the southern part of Sweden. This conclusion was primarily based on nutrient budgets and model calculations mentioned in chapter 2.2 and to a lesser extent on empirical data.
- The risk of a significant decrease of soil organic matter following whole-tree harvesting cannot be verified.
- It is more important to maintain high tree productivity (and litter production) than keep from harvesting logging residues. Thus, low productivity sites are most susceptible to a long-term decrease in humus.
- Mineralization of nutrients (N, P, K and Mg) and nitrification in the forest floor decreases after whole-tree harvesting.
- Whole-tree harvesting will lead to a short-term increase in soil temperature, but will have a negligible effect on soil moisture.
- In terms of soil water nutrient leaching, whole-tree harvesting only have a minor effect. However, leaching below piles of slash may be substantial.
- The survival and growth of seedlings will increase but the nutrient loss following wholetree harvest may lead to a short-term reduction in forest growth (in Norway spruce but not Scots pine stands)
- The short-term effects are well described but the long-term effects are poorly understood because of the lack of data.

Egnell et al. (1998) have carried out one of the most comprehensive Swedish environmental impact assessments, including both national and international data. They concluded that:

• There is a temporary (10-20 years) increase in pH after clear-cutting, which is 0-0.4 units lower in the humus layer following whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only. There are no observed pH effects in the mineral soil.

- Soil base cation pools and base saturation decreases following whole-tree harvesting while the effect on N pools is not clear, although there are some reports of lower soil pools in the humus layer and mineral soil.
- Clear-cutting increases nutrient leaching. Compared with stem-only harvest, nutrient leaching is lower following whole-tree harvesting. The duration depends on how quickly the new forest stand establishes.
- There is no short-term (1-16 years) effect on soil C pools.
- Whole-tree harvesting increases soil temperatures during the growing season, while the effect on soil moisture is negligible except for the top soil layer.
- Whole-tree harvesting leads to increased plant survival and growth, while the effects on forest growth are negative for Norway spruce but not for Scots pine. There is no difference between high and low productivity sites. Leaving the twigs can counteract the negative effects.
- The long-term effects are unknown.

Based on these results, Egnell et al. (1998) concluded that whole-tree harvesting could be carried out in Sweden if the nutrient loss is compensated for via ash recycling. Also, the needles should be left on site in order to reduce the risk of negative effects, which is in accordance with the recommendations regarding forest fuel extraction issued by the Swedish Forest Agency (2008c).

Over the years, the Swedish Energy Agency has funded research regarding the effects of whole-tree harvesting and ash-recycling mainly in two research programs; sustainable production of bio-fuels from forest land (1997-99) and bio-fuels and the environment (2000-04). The results from these programs and other research were reviewed in 2006 and evaluated with respect to the national environmental quality objectives (Swedish Energy Agency, 2006). Just like the previous reviews, the Swedish Energy Agency (2006) review supported many of the conclusions previously drawn that harvest of logging residues can be utilized if the nutrient loss and acid neutralizing capacity is compensated for via ash-recycling. However, the long-term effects are still largely unknown. In terms of specific effects, it was concluded that:

- The numbers of new experimental field research sites since the last review by Egnell et al. (1998) are few. However, the time-series of already established field sites are longer allowing for more accurate conclusions to be drawn.
- Effects on soil chemistry in terms of increased exchangeable H⁺ in the humus layer and decreased amounts of exchangeable Ca²⁺ and base saturation both in the humus layer and mineral soil can still be distinguished 30 years following whole-tree harvesting. These results are entirely based on a single Swedish report by Olsson et al. (2004). Similar effects have been seen following whole-tree harvest in thinnings.
- Effects on soil water at 50 cm depth show increased concentrations of H⁺ and decreased concentrations of Ca²⁺ (and sometimes Mg²⁺ and K⁺) following whole-tree harvesting in southern Sweden. Again, these conclusions are primarily based on one study ("hy-ggesåldersförsöket").
- Whole-tree harvesting reduces the concentrations of NO_3^- in the humus layer and sometimes in the soil water, but the effects are not unequivocal.
- The negative effects on tree productivity can largely be avoided if plant establishment is carried out one year earlier than normal.

- Whole-tree harvesting could reduce carbon sequestration.
- Whole-tree harvest without compensatory measures can only be carried out in restricted areas (mainly northern parts of Sweden or low- to medium productivity sites) in order to achieve the environmental quality goal "Natural acidification only".
- There is a need to understand the discrepancy between theoretical and potentially occurring acidification effects as well as comparing empirical results with model calculations.

The objectives of these reviews have varied depending on the commissioning body and area of interest. As new causes of concern arose, the focus of research changed from tree productivity to soil acidification and eutrophication and more recently to climate change and greenhouse gas emissions. Effects on forest ecosystem are well-studied whereas effects on surface water have only briefly been addressed by interpolating soil water data or by applying experiences from stem-only harvest experiments. Today, the short-term effects in forest stands are well described but the effects on ground- and surface water are still largely lacking. Also, there is a need for long-term studies describing effects during one or more rotation periods.

3.2 International reviews

Internationally, the same environmental problems have been addressed in the scientific literature as in Sweden. For instant, increased nutrient removal via harvesting and risk of decreased soil fertility and tree productivity was addressed early in the UK by Rennie (1955) who warned that "the nutrient-uptakes of timber producing forest of either coniferous or hardwood species are so large compared with the nutrient-contents of moor soils that further overall soil-degradation and, sooner or later, diminished site-productivity are inevitable". Other often cited studies include those of Weetman & Webber (1972), Boyle et al. (1973) and White (1974). In Canada, Kimmins (1977) wrote "management of the site nutrient capital becomes increasingly important as the proportion of the capital that is removed increases, and as rates of removal approach or exceed natural rates of replacement". In a review by Adams et al. (2000), the effects of intensive forestry, increased harvesting, shorter rotations and acid deposition in eastern hardwood forests in the US were assessed with respect to long-term forest productivity. It was found that increased soil acidification and mobilization of base cations after cutting may affect in particular forest soils with low CEC and BS and forests with a large proportion of hickories (Carya), basswood (Tilia americana), oak (Quercus) and yellow-poplar (Liriodendron tulipifera) who store relatively large amounts of Ca²⁺ in their boles.

Kreutzweiser et al. (2008) reviewed logging impacts on the biogeochemistry of C, N, P and base cations in North America boreal forest soils as well as nutrient exports to streams and lakes. Stemonly or whole-tree harvest was the dominant clear-cutting methods. Some studies also included other silvicultural practices (e.g. site preparation and regeneration). It is also worth noticing that in this part of the world, fire is used as a principle method to aid regeneration. The studies included different kind of species (coniferous and broad-leaved) as well as different soils (podzols, cambisols etc.) and site quality classes (rich and poor sites). In general, it was found that soil effects are limited and site-specific. However, measurable effects in receiving waters frequently occur. In terms of specific treatment, the following effects were observed:

• The availability and mobility of base cations (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺) are likely to increase following harvest resulting in increased export to receiving waters.

- However, changes in soil content (both total and exchangeable) were not observed in 63-76 % of the cases for the forest floor and 71-100 % for the mineral soil.
- Out of the three cations, Ca²⁺ is most likely to be affected (59-69 % showed forest floor changes, both total and exchangeable). None of the studies showed any changes in the mineral soil. In case of a change, 66 % showed decreased concentration or storage while 33 % showed increases in the forest floor. Some studies suggested that whole-tree harvesting had greater effects compared with stem-only.
- The effect on soil C is limited with minimal impact on site productivity. Out of the 14 studies that were reviewed, 76 % showed neither change in concentration or in soil C pools (considering both the forest floor and mineral soil). In the remaining studies, both losses (attributed to decreased litter inputs) and gains were noted. In case of a change, the impact of stem-only harvest was less compared with whole-tree harvesting.
- Disrupting the carbon cycle usually leads to increased DOC-concentration both in soil water and surface waters attributed to leaching from slash, increased decomposition and a rise in groundwater tables.
- The effect on total soil N (pools and concentrations) is variable and difficult to predict and highly site-specific. With respect to the 13 studies reviewed, 73 % of the soils showed no change. Compared with the mineral soil, changes (both increases and decreases) are more likely to occur in the forest floor.
- Concentration increases in ammonium (NH₄⁺) and nitrate (NO₃⁻) are frequently noted usually attributed to decreased plant uptake and increased mineralization and nitrification. Increases have been noted both in soil water and streams.

While Kreutzweiser et al. (2008) offers useful insight into changes likely to occur following harvesting, the review does not quantify the changes in pools or concentrations. Also, the studies included in the review only report short-term changes, in most cases the first couple of years following cutting.

Feller (2005) summarized changes in stream water chemistry in the western US and Canada by considering harvesting effects on the five most important factors controlling stream water quality (1=weathering, 2=atmospheric deposition, 3=biological processes, 4=soil reactions and 5=within stream processes, Table 3). Catchment characteristics and hydrological flow paths are thus not considered in terms of stream water quality. Also, harvest intensity (stem-only or whole-tree) is not discussed in the review nor does it separate between short- and long-term effects. Also, site specific differences, such as tree species, soil type etc., are not specified. Still, the summary provides a good overview of cutting effects per se after final felling.

According to Feller (2005) harvesting leads to increased soil weathering rates thereby releasing inorganic ions, which can be leached to surrounding waters (Table 3, factor 1). Timber harvesting usually leads to increased acidity both in soil water and stream water in the order of magnitude of 0.2-0.5 pH-units as a result of nitrification and release of organic acids. This often results in increased export of base cations, aluminium and trace metals to receiving waters (Table 3, factor 2a). Initial increases in annual runoff are frequently reported followed by a decrease to pre-harvest levels or even below (Table 3, factor 2b. The effect on snow-pack is unclear. Removing the tree canopy leads to increased summer temperatures both on the soil surface as well as in the stream (Table 3, factor 2c).

In terms of terrestrial biological processes, Feller (2005) showed that lowered plant uptake could lead to increased concentration of inorganic nutrients in the stream (Table 3, factor 3a). Also, any processes affecting mycorrhizae negatively could lead to increases in NO₃⁻. Nitrogen increases could also be the result of N-fixation whereas a decrease could be due to denitrification. Decreased activity of S-oxidizing bacteria or increased S-adsorption in soil is often the case resulting in decreased SO₄²⁻-concentrations (Table 3, factor 3b). In addition, lower dry deposition, dilution, formation of sulfate-containing minerals via precipitation, increased decomposition and higher groundwater table leading to anoxic soil conditions contributes to lower SO₄²⁻-concentrations. The production of soluble substances via increased decomposition of residual material left on ground would increase following harvesting (Table 3, factor 3c).

Effects on physical and chemical reactions in the soil (Table 3, factor 4) include increased anion exchange capacity of the soil (e.g. through increased production of protons via nitrification), which could lower the concentration of anions (e.g. $SO_4^{2^-}$) in the stream and increased adsorption of P to Fe- and Al-hydroxides in the soil. Finally, effects on in-stream processes following harvest have not been reported but could lead to increased or decreased concentrations (Table 3, factor 5a-f). Feller (2005) concluded that at least four factors influence stream water concentration of inorganic ions and predicting stream-water response following harvesting is thus a challenge, especially considering the various catchment characteristics and harvesting methods.

	The stars	. 12.	C (CO ₃ ² -,	C . ²	Ch	n 9.		¥7.4	NF_94	Nr. 9.	N (NO ₃ -,	N- 1	P (PO ₄ ³ *, HPO ₄ ² *,	Si (Si-O	50 ⁹	Trace	
_	Factor	Alot	$HCO_3^{-})$	Ca27	CF	Fe24	НŦ	K*	Mg24	Mn24	NH4*)	Na*	$H_2PO_4^-$	forms)	S042	Metals	_
1.	Geological weathering	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	-	Ŷ	\downarrow	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	↑_	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	
2.	Atmospheric precipitation/climate																
	(a) Precipitation chemistry	\uparrow _	$\downarrow -$	↑_	-	\uparrow _	\uparrow_{-}	\uparrow_{-}	\uparrow_{-}	↑_	\uparrow_{-}	\uparrow_{-}	↑_	↑_	↑_	↑_	
	(b) Hydrologic influences	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	_	$\uparrow \downarrow$	-	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$					
	(c) Temperature	\uparrow	\uparrow	\uparrow	_^	\uparrow	$\uparrow \downarrow$	\uparrow	\uparrow	\uparrow	\uparrow	\uparrow	\uparrow	\uparrow	\uparrow	↑_	
3.	Terrestrial biological processes																
	(a) Chemical uptake	-	-	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	Ŷ	-	Ŷ	-	
	(b) Chemical transformations	-	$\uparrow \downarrow$	-	-	-	$\uparrow \downarrow$	-	-	-	$\uparrow \downarrow$	-	-	-	↑↓	-	
	(c) Production of soluble chemicals	-	↑_	↑_	Ŷ	^_	^_	↑_	↑_	↑_	↑_	↑_	↑_	-	^_	↑_	
4.	Physical/chemical reactions in the soil	-	\downarrow	-	↓_	-	\downarrow -	-	-	-	↓_	-	$\downarrow -$	-	↓_	-	
5.	Processes within aquatic ecosystems																
	(a) ion exchange reactions	$\uparrow \downarrow$	-	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	↑↓	-	↑↓	$\uparrow \downarrow$	
	(b) chemical redox reactions	$\uparrow \downarrow$	-	-	-	$\uparrow \downarrow$	-	-	-	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	-	-	-	↑↓	$\uparrow \downarrow$	
	(c) evaporation-crystallization																
	(d) pH-induced transformations	\uparrow _															
	(e) uptake by primary producers	$\downarrow -$	-	\downarrow _	-	\downarrow -	-	$\downarrow _$	$\downarrow -$	$\downarrow -$	$\downarrow -$	$\downarrow -$	$\downarrow -$	\downarrow _	$\downarrow -$	\downarrow _	
	(f) microbial transformations	_	-	-	-	-	_	_	-	-	$\uparrow \downarrow$	_	-	_	$\uparrow \downarrow$	_	

Table 1. Initial stream water response following final cutting on the five most important factors determining aquatic chemistry. From Feller (2005).

Notes: 1 Effects lead to an increase in concentration; 4 effects lead to a decrease in concentration; and – effects have little to no impact on concentration.

Martin et al. (1984) reported short-term (2-3 years) changes in stream water chemistry between clear-cuts and unharvested controls in New England, USA following final felling. They used a synoptic approach covering a wide range of forest types and soils but did not discuss harvest intensities. In general, only minor changes in major anion and cation concentrations occurred as a result of harvesting except for one area in New Hampshire where NO₃⁻ and Ca²⁺ concentrations were 4 respectively 2 times higher compared with a control forest. The largest stream water differences were found between areas that were completely clear-cut relative to uncut controls compared with only partially clear-cut areas. In another synoptic study by Neal et al. (1998b), the effects of conifer harvesting on stream water were examined. Using data from 67 sites (51 clear-cuts and 16 mature stands) across Wales they showed that the response following harvesting was very variable and site specific (catchment characteristics and water flow paths), but local short-term effects in terms of acidification (increased Al and decreased ANC) and increased NO₃⁻ concentrations can occur. However, due to the variable response, they concluded that the idea of "*there being 'representative catchments' with predictable runoff chemistry for particular combinations of geology, soil and land use may at best prove elusive and may not even exist*".

Many reviews have focused on NO_3^- leaching to groundwater, stream water and the coastal marine environment due to an increasing concern of the impact of forest operations (in particular clearcutting) on drinking water quality and eutrophication (e.g. Vitousek et al., 1979; Vitousek & Melillo, 1979; Binkley & Brown, 1993; Brown & Binkley, 1994; Gundersen et al., 2006). In addition, production of NO_3^- via nitrification and subsequent leaching leads to temporary acidification effects in soils and water. For example, during nitrification, hydrogen ions (H⁺) are produced which in turn lower soil pH. Via aluminium buffering some of the released H⁺ are neutralized, but in return, inorganic aluminium is produced. An increase in soil water anion concentration will be accompanied by an equal amount of base cations according to the electron neutrality principle, and vice versa (chapter 4). Thus, an increase in soil water anion concentration may lead to increased leaching to groundwater and surface waters, reinforced by increased groundwater tables and stream runoff as evapotranspiration temporally ceases.

Vitousek et al. (1979) described the mechanisms responsible for increased NO_3^- losses following disturbances such as clear-cutting for 19 sites in the US. They identified nine different processes in the N cycle, which could help to delay or prevent a stream water response (Figure 10). Accumulation of NH_4^+ in the soil could be prevented or delayed via N immobilization, NH_4^+ fixation, ammonia volatilization or plant uptake (1). A lag in nitrification and denitrification could delay or prevent an accumulation of NO_3^- (2) while factors such as lack of water, NO_3^- sorption and denitrification in deep soil horizons could affect the mobility of NO_3^- (3). The relative importance of these processes may vary but the net effect is often insufficient to prevent increased stream water concentrations of NO_3^- , perhaps with the exception of plant uptake as the stand grows older.



Figure 10. Processes delaying or preventing stream water NO₃⁻ response following clear-cutting. From Vitousek et al. (1979).

Out of these nine processes, N immobilization, plant uptake, lags in nitrification and a lack of water for mobility are the most important (Vitousek et al., 1979). From Figure 10 it should also be clear that even though the abiotic conditions (increased light, higher temperatures etc.) may favour mineralization and nitrification, but the stream water signal might still be absent due to the processes described. Based on the 19 study sites, Vitousek et al. (1979) could identify the following response types (with a dominance of type 1 and 2) ultimately resulting in NO₃⁻ losses of >100µeq per litre:

- no change in NH₄- or NO₃-concentration (type 1)
- significant increase in NH₄ in the soil but not NO₃ in the soil or soil solution (type 2)
- increase in NO₃ in the soil but not the soil water (type 3)

In another study by Vitousek & Melillo (1979) increased NO₃⁻ concentrations varying between 0.02 and 35 mg per liter (differences between clear-cut and reference) were observed during the first year after cutting for a range of states, quality sites and disturbances, mainly in the US. Elevated concentrations of P and N in streams as a result of different management practices, including timber harvesting in the US (and in some cases Canada) were reviewed by Brown & Binkley (1994) who stated that *"although forest practices may elevate the concentration of many chemicals in stream water, only the concentrations of phosphate and nitrate are of significant concern in forestry",* clearly demonstrating the environmental concern of that time (eutrophication and exceedance of drinking water standards). Based on the results from 18 studies, short-term increases (<0.5 mg per litre or 36 µeq per litre) of NO₃⁻ were observed in the 31 studies included with one important exception; results from the Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest where herbicides were used to retard revegetation. Also, elevated concentrations of NO₃⁻ were found in some areas including alder-rich sites and areas with high deposition of N (present and/or historically). The effects are normally short-termed and decreases with time as the new forest stands grow older.

Following the work of Vitousek & Melillo (1979), Gundersen et al. (2006) reviewed the leaching of NO_3^- from temperate forests (both coniferous and deciduous) as a result of forest management and air pollution. Based on 29 studies in Europe and the US, it was found that NO_3^- leaching in ground water, seepage water and stream water usually increase within 2-3 years followed by a decline after 3-5 years. Mechanisms, explaining these results include reduced uptake, accelerated decomposition and revegetation rates. The highest concentrations (5 mg per litre as a mean over the region) were found in areas receiving the highest atmospheric N-input (Figure 11). However, compared with pre-

harvest concentrations, N-saturated areas did not show higher concentrations compared with nonsaturated areas. In contrary to what is often believed, Gundersen et al. (2006) did not see a clear difference in harvest intensity (stem-only vs. whole-tree) in terms of NO_3^- leaching. Instead, the increase in NO_3^- leaching following clear-cutting is a result of pre-existing conditions.



Figure 11. Nitrogen leaching in Europe and the US following clear-cutting expressed as the difference between a clear-cut and a reference area within 1-2 years after harvesting. SW=southwest, NW=northwest, SE=southeast, NE=northeast, NC=north central, C=central. From Gundersen et al. (2006).

Harvest also has an impact on the carbon cycling in forest soils. Understanding short- and long-term changes in soil C (and N) are important not only in terms of forest productivity and forest ecosystem services (carbon sequestration), but also as a reduction in organic matter content and cation exchange capacity, it may decrease the buffering capacity of the soil and subsequently increase the sensitivity to acid inputs. Hope et al. (1994) reviewed processes regulating fluxes of organic carbon and how they are affected by land use. Based on studies from New Zeeland, Great Britain and the US, it was found that the carbon effects of harvest are much more variable compared with other nutrients. Hope et al. (1994) concluded that the differences in the export of DOC sometimes depend on hydrology, season and antecedent weather conditions and not the actual cutting. On the other hand, cutting per se may lead to changes in hydrology, which can increase the export via increased runoff or change the hydrological flow paths to more/less organic horizons leading to dilution/concentration. In addition, changing hydrological flow paths may alter oxidation/reduction processes in soils leading to accelerated/reduced decomposition rates. In a more recent review by Kreutzweiser et al. (2008), it was found that the export of DOC to streams usually increase after logging leading to increased lake concentrations.

Johnson & Curtis (2001) performed a meta-analysis on the literature describing forest management effects on soil N and C. In general, the effect was small but significant differences occurred between species and harvest intensity; following stem-only harvesting, soil C and N increased (only in coniferous forest) with 18 % in the A-horizon compared with whole-tree harvesting that caused decreases (-6 %). The O-horizon was not included in the analysis. In addition, Sanchez et al. (2006) used data from the Long-Term Soil Productivity (LTSP) study to evaluate the effect of organic matter removal (bole, whole-tree and whole-tree plus forest floor) on soil N and C pools and compaction after treatment for 19 sites across the US and Canada. Five years after treatment, no effects on the pools could be seen, not even in the most extreme treatment (whole-tree plus forest floor). Effects on survival and growth were examined by Fleming et al. (2006) in relation to organic matter removal, soil compaction and vegetation control using the same LSTP sites. In general, whole-tree harvesting usually led to a small increase in seedling survival, which was in part counteracted by decreased growth.

Following clear-cutting, evapotranspiration temporally ceases which often results in higher water tables and increased stream runoff. In turn, these changes can cause dilution and greater base cation leaching losses from the system. Also, decomposition and redox processes might be affected. Runoff changes following clear-cutting have been well documented since the 1960's and most often described as annual changes and within-year variation (seasons or months). In addition, the characteristics of storm flow events have been described (e.g. Guillemette et al. 2005). For example, in an early review by Hibbert (1967) annual increases between 34-450 mm were reported. In general, runoff decreased with the reestablishment of the new forest but in one case increases in runoff was still evident after 20 years. It was also found that stream flow increase was proportional to the reduction in forest cover. In the upper region (450 mm per year), expected increase in runoff was 4.5 mm per 1% reduction in forest cover. In another review by Bosch & Hewlett (1982) annual increases in runoff were found in all but one case (a burned Eucalyptus stand in Australia). In general, every 10% reduction in vegetation cover resulted in a 40 mm increase in annual runoff in pine and eucalyptus forests compared with 25 and 10 mm in deciduous hardwood and shrubs, respectively. A maximum of 660 mm per year was found for one site situated in North Carolina, USA. It was also shown that a reduction in vegetation cover below 15-20% would not lead to a stream flow response. During the first years following clear-cutting, the annual runoff also increased linearly with precipitation (Figure 12). Bosch & Hewlett (1982) concluded "Decreases in water yield following afforestation seem to be proportional to the growth rate of the stand while gains in water yield after clear-felling diminish in proportion to the rate of recovery of the vegetation". The reviews of Hibbert (1967) and Bosch & Hewlett (1982) do not include any European studies.



Figure 12. During the first year following clear-cutting, the increase in annual runoff is a function of the annual precipitation. From Bosch & Hewlett (1982).

In a more recent review by Brown et al. (2005) it was concluded that increases in runoff are usually observed only during the first five years. However, when the long-term changes were compared it was found that it might take decades before returning to pre-harvest conditions. Studying the within-year variation, it was found that the largest increase occurs during wet periods and vice versa. In areas with warm summers and cold winters with snow, the largest increase occurred during the summer months (i.e. during the vegetation period at base flow).

The reviews cited here are limited to describing short-term effects (often <5 years) and seldom separate differences between whole-tree and stem-only harvesting, species and site quality. Also, studies from the Nordic countries are seldom included. The main findings of these reviews show that the stream water response following final cutting varies across sites, regions and countries as a result of different catchment characteristics, species, and atmospheric deposition. The response also varies depending on harvest intensity (stem-only, whole-tree and partially cut), harvested area, use of buffer strips and silvicultural practices (site preparation, ditching etc.). Most reviews have focused on stream water response and seldom summarize soil chemical changes (except for soil N and C). Furthermore, most reviews have focused on the US and Canada and for that reason often use the same references. Concentration increases, decreases or lack of response cannot be explained by one single factor or mechanisms. In general, a number of mechanisms either reinforce or counterbalance the response. Given the large variability, describing the effects following final felling cannot be done using a universal model.

4 Some fundamentals regarding acidification

4.1 Acidification of soils

The acidity of soils depends on the relative amount of exchangeable cations (Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , Na^+ and K^+), H^+ and Al^{n+} -species. In alkaline and neutral soils the amount of exchangeable cations dominates whereas H^+ and Al^{n+} -species dominate in acid organic respectively mineral soils (Reuss & Johnson, 1986). Processes changing the total amount of cation exchange sites (e.g. via increased accumulation of organic matter or clay formation) or the concentration of base cations (e.g. via leaching or harvest removal) would alter soil acidity by changing the cations exchange capacity (CEC) and the relation between exchangeable acidity (EA) and base cations, affecting the base saturation (BS). Increased weathering or addition of lime and wood ash would make the soil more basic.

For example, atmospheric deposition of S and N introduce additional protons into the forest ecosystem, which can either participate in soil exchange processes or in weathering reactions whereby aluminium ions are released. Aluminium, in turn, replaces base cations on the exchange complex, which are then leached from the system accompanied by anions SO_4^- , NO_3^- , CI^- and organic anions according to the electron neutrality principle. The resulting change is an increase in EA (H⁺+Alⁿ⁺) and a decrease in BS (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, Na⁺ and K⁺). Biomass removal in forestry, either in precommercial thinning, thinning or final cutting, also removes base cations from the system, which

could lead to soil acidification. Obviously the response varies depending on factors such as the amount of nutrients removed and the pre-existing soil properties.

Useful parameters for describing forest soil acidity include pH, base saturation, exchangeable aluminium, cation exchange capacity, and exchangeable acidity. Currently, the Swedish Environmental Agency (2007a) uses a combination of the first three parameters to assess the acidifications status of soils.

4.2 Acidification of soil water, groundwater, stream water and lakes

pH is a direct way of measuring the acidity of waters whereas alkalinity and acid neutralizing capacity (ANC) measures the ability to neutralize acids (or the resilience against acidification) by considering different buffering systems. There are a number of soil reactions, which can lower or increase the pH (Table 2). For instance, plant respiration, dissociation of organic acids, vegetation uptake of cations, sulfide oxidation, and nitrification are examples of natural acidifying processes. In addition to these processes, anthropogenic acid deposition has caused soil and surface water acidification (chapter 2.1). Weathering of silicates, carbonates, aluminium hydroxides and iron hydroxides, cation exchange processes, SO_4^{2-} adsorption and vegetation uptake of anions are examples of buffering mechanisms preventing pH decreases.

The H⁺-concentration is affected by almost every biogeochemical reaction in the soil making it one of the most complex cycles to study (de Vries & Breeuwsma, 1987), which in turn makes it even more difficult to predict a certain response following harvest. However, some patterns are generally agreed upon. Trees naturally acidify the soil via nutrient uptake and via bacterial nitrification of NH_4^+ to NO_3^- . For example, Hallbäcken & Tamm (1986) found an age-related decline in soil water pH by almost one unit in the A-horizon of a spruce stand during a period of 55 years. Buffering processes, which neutralize the build-up acidity, include decomposition and weathering. If undisturbed, these processes will compensate for each other in the long-term. However, following clear-cutting in final felling the stems and sometimes the finer parts of the tree (i.e. logging residues) are removed, which decreases the ability to neutralize H⁺ via decomposition.

Table 2. Sources and sinks of H+ in soils. From de Vries & Breeuwsma (1987).					
Sources of H ⁺	Sinks of H ⁺				
Uptake of cations	Uptake of anions				
Mineralization of anions	Mineralization of cations				
Oxidation reactions	Reduction reactions				
Dissociation of weak acids (CO2, organic	Association of weak acids (CO2, organic acids)				
acids)					
Weathering, desorption of anions, precipita-	Weathering, desorption of cations, precipita-				
tion, adsorption of cations	tion, adsorption of anions				

Alkalinity takes into account one of the most important buffer systems in nature, namely the carbonate system whereby carbon dioxide (CO₂) dissolves in water (H₂0) and forms carbonic acid (H₂CO₃) which, depending on pH, dissolves into bicarbonate (HCO₃⁻) and carbonate (CO₃²⁻) releasing H⁺:

 $CO_2 + H_2 0 \leftrightarrow H_2 CO_3 \leftrightarrow H^+ + HCO_3^- \leftrightarrow 2H^+ + CO_3^{2-}$

(Equation 1)

Alkalinity is defined as the sum of bicarbonate, carbonate and hydroxyl ion (OH⁻) minus the H⁺ concentration (Stumm & Morgan, 1981):

$$Alkalinity = HCO_3^- + CO_3^{2-} + OH^- - H^+$$
 (Equation 2)

ANC includes buffer systems other than the carbonate system and can be defined both operationally and conceptually (op. cit.). Operationally, ANC is defined as the equivalent sum of all the bases, which can be titrated with a strong acid to a pre-determined equivalence point (i.e. how much acid must be added to change the pH from one value to a pre-determined reference value). Therefore, aquatic systems with a high concentration of bases have higher buffer capacity (ANC) against acidification compared with base-poor systems. Or, expressed in another way, the addition of an acid may cause a small or large pH-change depending on the buffer capacity (ANC) of a particular system. Conceptually, ANC measures the concentration of all the ions containing protons in deficiency minus the concentration of all the ions containing protons in excess (i.e. the net deficiency of protons).

ANC is derived using a charge balance model based on the electron neutrality principle. Hence, the number of negative charges must be balanced by an equal amount of positive charges per unit volume (op. cit.). For example, in an aqueous solution containing a strong base (NaOH) and a strong acid (HA), the base will react with the acid according to the reaction:

$$NaOH + HA \rightarrow Na^{+} + OH^{-} + H^{+} + A^{-}$$
 (Equation 3)

Following the electron neutrality principle this reaction rearranges to:

$$Na^+ + H^+ = A^- + OH^-$$
 (Equation 4)

or:

$$\sum nC^{n+} = \sum mC^{m-}$$
 (Equation

Thus, the difference between strong acids and strong bases (pH-independent definition) defines ANC:

$$ANC = \sum nC^{n+} - \sum mC^{m-}$$
 (Equation 6)

ANC is often expressed in equivalents per litre rather than moles per litre because of the presence of mono-, di- and trivalent ions in the solution. Alternatively, ANC can also be defined as the difference between weak acids and weak bases (pH-dependent definition). However, traditionally, the pH-independent definition is used since such parameters are much easier to correctly analyze.

on 5)

The dominant cations and anions in natural waters (Warfvinge, 1999) are listed in Table 3. They are grouped according to their autoprotolysis in water into weak bases and weak acids respective strong bases and strong acids. Weak acids only partially dissociate in water and do not release all of the H^+ , while weak bases do not completely protonate. Both dissociation and protonation are pH-dependent.

	Base	Cation	Acid	Anion
	Ca(OH) ₂	Ca ²⁺	H_2SO_4	SO4 ²⁻
U V	Mg(OH)₂	Mg ²⁺	HCI	Cl⁻
ROI	КОН	K ⁺	HNO ₃	NO ₃ ⁻
ST	NaOH	Na ⁺		
	NH₃	NH_4^+		
	H ₂ O	H ⁺	H₂O	OH
AK	AI(OH)₃	Al ³⁺ , Al(OH) ²⁺ ,	H ₂ CO ₃	HCO ₃ ⁻
N N		AI(OH) ₂ ⁺		CO ₃ ²⁻
	R⁻	H ⁺	R-H	R

Table 3. The chemical composition of natural waters consists of both strong and weak acids and bases. R denotes organic acids. From Warfvinge (1999).

By applying the pH-independent definition (equation 6), ANC (moles per litre) can be defined as:

$$ANC = 2Ca^{2+} + 2Mg^{2+} + K^{+} + Na^{+} + NH_{4}^{+} - 2SO_{4}^{2-} - Cl^{-} - NO_{3}^{-}$$
 (Equation 7)

Or, using the pH-dependent definition;

$$ANC = OH^{-} + HCO_{3}^{-} + 2CO_{3}^{2-} + R^{-} - H^{+} - (Al - species)$$
(Equation 8)

The charge balance for the total system is:

$$2Ca^{2+} + 2Mg^{2+} + K^{+} + Na^{+} + NH_{4}^{+} + H^{+} + (Al - species)$$

$$= 2SO_{4}^{2-} + Cl^{-} + NO_{3}^{-} + OH^{-} + HCO_{3}^{-} + 2CO_{3}^{2-} + R^{-}$$
(Equation 9)

which rearranges to:

$$2Ca^{2+} + 2Mg^{2+} + K^{+} + Na^{+} + NH_{4}^{+} - 2SO_{4}^{2-} - Cl^{-} - NO_{3}^{-}$$

= $H^{+} + (Al - species) - OH^{-} - HCO_{3}^{-} - 2CO_{3}^{2-} - R^{-}$ (Equation 10)

Thus, electron neutrality of the total aquatic system can only be achieved if the concentration of strong acids is balanced by the concentration of weak bases and the concentration of strong bases by weak acids. As can be seen from equation 10, and based on the previous discussion, it is more convenient to calculate ANC from the pH-independent using the easily measured and conservative major anions and cations (Equation 7).

Organic acidity (R^{-}) can be simulated as a function of total organic carbon and alkalinity (Köhler et al. 2000). Thus, there will be a relationship between DOC, pH and ANC. The relationship between

pH and ANC is illustrated in Figure 13 at different concentrations of CO₂ (P_{CO2}) and DOC. As can be seen, for a given value of ANC, there may be a large variation in pH depending on P_{CO2} and DOC. For example, at ANC=50 mmol_c per m³ the pH-value is approximately 6.5 at pCO₂=2*3.5*10⁻⁴ atm compared with 5.5 at P_{CO2} =20*3.5*10⁻⁴ atm. Also, at ANC=50 mmol_c per m³ the pH is approximately 6.5 in waters with a DOC-concentration of 2 mg per litre compared with circa 4.5 at DOC-concentrations of 20 mg per litre. Thus, increases in P_{CO2} and DOC-concentration lower the pH-value (Warfvinge, 1999). This is important to keep in mind since the concentration of DOC varies with soil depth as well as between soils and streams. So does P_{CO2} in soil water, ground water and open waters. Biological processes in the soil (decomposition, respiration etc.) increases P_{CO2} which degasses when the soil solution becomes surface water. The resulting pH-change can be more than 1.5 units.



Figure 13. Titration curves describing the relationship between pH and ANC during different partial pressures of carbon dioxide (right) and concentrations of DOC (left) according to the pH-dependent definition of ANC (equation 7). From Warfvinge (1999).

A loss of base cations via harvesting, especially during whole-tree harvesting, has a potential to cause acidification by decreased base cation leaching thereby decreasing the ANC (equation 7), which in turn lowers the pH (Figure 13). Decreases in pH increase the solubility of aluminium, especially below pH \leq 5.5 (Figure 14).



Figure 14. The relationship between pH and aluminium based on soil water data from 68 stations from the Swedish Throughfall Monitoring Network. The measurements are carried out 3 times a year; during spring, summer and autumn at a soil depth of 50 cm. From IVL Swedish Environmental Institute.

5 Catchment characteristics and hydrology

Just like soils, stream characteristics differ depending on the mosaic of biogeochemical environments and groundwater flow paths within a catchment. Understanding the temporal and spatial variation in stream water chemistry at a certain point is a challenge as it summarizes all of the physical, chemical and biological processes that take place upstream in the catchment as well as the reactions taking place within the stream.

Before discussing clear-cutting effects it is important to understand how soil water, groundwater and stream water concentrations and fluxes vary within a catchment depending on the distribution of recharge-, discharge- and peat land areas (catchment characteristics), groundwater flow paths (transport of solutes) and residence time (contact time with solids). For instance, the chemical composition of surface water may vary depending on flow situation (base flow or high flow), hydraulic connectivity between subareas within the catchment, presence of riparian zones etc. Changes in stream water chemistry will follow when either the hydrological flow paths or biogeochemical processes in the catchment are affected (Kreutzweiser et al., 2008).

An example of how stream water chemistry changes during a storm flow event is given in Figure 15. Depending on flow paths and catchment characteristics the concentration of DOC in the stream increases (green line, forest dominated stream water) or decreases (red line, mire dominated stream water) during increased runoff (blue line) as the groundwater moves through DOC-rich or DOC-poor soil layers.



Figure 15. During a storm flow event the groundwater table increases which generates increased runoff (blue line). If the groundwater moves through DOC-poor soil layers, the DOC concentration in the stream will decrease (red line) On the other hand, if the groundwater moves through DOC-rich soil layers the concentration will increase (green line). Redrawn from Kevin Bishop, SLU.

5.1 Stream flow generation

Water enters the catchment as precipitation (rain and/or snow) and is to a large extent stored in the unsaturated zone of the soil as soil water. Through gravitation, the water moves vertically deeper down the soil towards the saturated groundwater zone. As a result, the groundwater table moves closer to the soil surface and the groundwater flows laterally to lower lying areas (Lundin, 1990).

The input and output water balance of a catchment is described by equation 11:

$$P = E + Q + \Delta S \qquad (Equation 11)$$

where input of water via precipitation (P) is the sum of evapotranspiration (E), runoff (Q) and changes in soil water storage (S). From this it can be seen that runoff and soil storage will increase if evapotranspiration decreases given that precipitation is constant. Also, increases in runoff must be preceded by an increase in groundwater storage since stream water is dominated by groundwater. At an annual time scale, evapotranspiration is the main process leading to changes in soil water storage in the catchment as a result of vegetation changes (Zhang et al., 2001).

In the Nordic countries where the climate is characterized by warm summers and cold winters most of the precipitation falls as snow during winter and as rain during summer. Hence, runoff in the winter is low followed by a large increase during the snowmelt (spring flood) period (Lundin, 1999). For example, as much as 50% of the annual runoff takes place during snowmelt (e.g. Rosén, 1984). Runoff usually decreases in the growing season as a result of evapotranspiration followed by an increase during autumn storms. Also, the temperature decreases during autumn, which reduces evapotranspiration.

In general, the groundwater table lies within a couple of meters from the surface in rough terrain but gets closer to the soil surface as the terrain levels out. Wetlands, streams and lakes form where groundwater reaches the soil surface. The movement of groundwater depends on topography, which creates a mosaic in the catchment including areas where groundwater reaches the soil surface (discharge areas) and areas where groundwater is replenished (recharge areas). Discharge areas may be completely saturated with water (groundwater table=soil surface) or unsaturated if the hydraulic conductivity is high enough (groundwater table < soil surface). Some of the discharge areas are permanent (i.e. lakes, rivers and wetlands) even under dry periods of the year, whereas others only form during the wetter part of the year. In either case, discharge areas, including riparian zones, comprise a relatively small part of a catchment (Figure 16).



Figure 16. The topography in a catchment determines to what extent recharge and discharge areas occur. Some discharge areas are permanent (left) whereas others only form during periods of high groundwater levels. From Löfgren et al., 2008.

The water flow rate in a soil, or the hydraulic conductivity, is dependent on the soil texture. The flow rates are faster in coarse sediments than they are in fine clays. The hydraulic conductivity in sorted sediments is correlated to the grain size and porosity. In unsorted soils such as Nordic till, the hydraulic conductivity generally decreases with soil depth (Figure 17, lower) explained by differences in weathering, biological activity (earthworms, burrowing animals and penetrating roots), climate (freezing/thawing and drying/wetting) and compaction (Rodhe, 2003). During rainfall

events the groundwater table rises to layer with higher hydraulic conductivity leading to increased transmissivity (Lundin, 1982; Lundin, 1990; Rodhe, 1987; Bishop et al. 1990). The pores become saturated with water and the connectivity to the stream increases compared with periods of low flow (Figure 17, upper and Figure 16).



Figure 17. The hydraulic conductivity (K) increases with decreased soil depth. As a result, the groundwater contribution to the stream greatly increases during periods of high flows. Redrawn from Rodhe, 2003.

During periods of low flow, most of the stream water is dominated by groundwater (Figure 18). After a rainfall event, the water first entering the stream is usually generated from old groundwater (also called "pre-event water") stored in the soil (Rodhe, 1987). Precipitation that cannot infiltrate the soil may also enter the stream as "event water" via overland flow on saturated discharge areas (including the stream itself). Thus, the largest volumes of groundwater in the stream are generated during short periods of time when the groundwater moves through saturated subsurface layers.

In areas where the soil becomes frozen during winter and depending on the soil water content at the time of freezing, a large fraction of the precipitation may still infiltrate the soil. The spring-flood in the northern part of Sweden has been shown, using isotope hydrograph studies, to be dominated by old pre-event water and not new melt water (Laudon et al. 2002).



Figure 18. Most of the water reaching the stream after a rainfall event is old groundwater ("pre-event water") identified by isotope ¹⁸O-analysis. Only a smaller portion of the rainwater ("event water") enters the stream. From Rodhe, 1987.

Despite much research, connecting subsurface storm flow to the heterogeneous nature and complex responses of a hillslope after a storm event is still a challenge. Nevertheless, there seem to be at least two criteria which must be fulfilled 1) a minimum input of rain/snowmelt necessary to generate a flow response (Tromp-van Meerveld et al. 2006a) and 2) connectivity between different areas of varying hydrological saturation within the catchment to activate a lateral flow of groundwater (Tromp-van Meerveld et al. 2006b). This is referred to as "a threshold response" to a rainfall or snowmelt event and the "spilling and filling" of saturated areas in the hillslope.

5.2 Dominating soil types in Sweden

Depending on soil forming factors (i.e. parent material, topography, climate and organisms) different soil types have developed through time (Jenny, 1941). Soil acidification resulting from deposition of anthropogenic pollutants may also have changed the chemical properties of soils and hence the soil forming process.

According to the Swedish National Inventory of Forests and based on the World Reference Base for Soil Resources (IUSS Working Group WRB, 2007), eight major soil types can be found in Sweden; Podzols (45 %), Arenosols (20 %), Leptosols (11 %), Cambisols (10 %), Histosols (8 %) and Regosols (6 %) distributed across the country (Figure 19). In addition, Umbrisols and Gleysols are found in much smaller areas not shown on the map.


Figure 19. Dominating soil types in Sweden (left) according to the Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) and the World Reference Base for Soil Resources (WRB) and land use classes (right). The colour saturation indicates areas where the soil type is the most dominant. From Markinfo (www-markinfo.slu.se/).

Depending on the dominant soil-forming factor, soils can be identified/grouped according to the following principles: Histosols are organic soils, which separates them from all other mineral soils. Next are podzols where iron and/or aluminium are important in the soil-forming process. Leptosols belong to a group of soils with limited rooting and very shallow and extremely gravelly soils, whereas Gleysols are examples of soils affected by water (groundwater). Finally, Arenosols, Cambisols, Regosols and Umbrisols are young soils with very little profile development. Arenosols are sandy soils, Cambisols are moderately developed soils, Regosols have no significant profile development and Umbrisols have very dark and acidic topsoil.

5.3 Recharge areas

Recharge areas, where groundwaters are replenished, are typically in upland forest areas. Podzols are the dominating forest soil type in Sweden (Figure 19). They are acid with an organic A-horizon, an ash-grey E-horizon and a reddish-brown to black B-horizon and an unaffected C-horizon (Driessen & Dudal, 1991). Most podzols in Sweden has developed on glacial till consisting of gneisses and granites. The mineralogy of podzols is variable, but they always have a high content of quartz, which give them a sandy texture in the E-horizon. The clay content is usually low. Water moves freely but may be restricted in the B-horizon and below in the presence of hardpans, fragipans and/or an indurated layer. Decomposition of the organic debris is slow.

Variations in soil chemistry at three typical podzolic sites in northern Sweden and Finland are shown in Figure 20. In general, pH (0.01 M CaCl₂) varies between 2.8 to 5 and increases with depth as a result of weathering processes deeper down in the soil (Figure 20). The concentration of exchangeable Ca^{2+} (and Mg^{2+} , K^+ and Na^+ not shown in figure) is higher in the upper part of the soil and decreases with depth. The highest titrable exchangeable acidity (pH=8.2) is found in the upper part of the soil where exchangeable Al^{n+} and H^+ are high. In contrast, the highest amounts of oxalate-extractable aluminium (Al (ox)) and diothinite-extractable iron (Fe (dit)) are found in the B- horizon (Figure 20). As percolating water moves downwards (alternatively if groundwater tables rises) the soil solution changes. The highest cation exchange capacity (CEC) is normally found in the upper part of the mineral soil and forest floor, coinciding with the greatest amounts of organic matter.



Figure 20. Variation in soil pH (0.01 M CaCl₂), exchangeable Ca²⁺, Alⁿ⁺ and Feⁿ⁺(0.1 M BaCl₂, cmol_c per kg) and extractable Fe (diothinite) and Al (oxalate) ex with depth at three podzolic forest sites in Sweden (n=2) and Finland (n=1). From Ilvesniemi et al. (2000).

Podzols develop through the process of podzolization and different theories have been put forward to explain the genesis of a podzol (reviewed by Lundström et al. 2000a). Independent of the theories, podzols have a zonal appearance including one upper layer from which materiel is moved from (eluviated) and a lower layer where material is accumulated or immobilized (illuviated). This requires a downward movement of water. The major podzolization theories were reviewed by Lundström et al. (2000a) including *eluviation* processes such as the formation of organic acids metal complexes and weathering of silicates forming Al-Si hydroxides in a colloidal suspension of solid

particles (sols) and *illuviation* processes such as adsorption, precipitation and microbial degradation. A summary of the processes is given below.

Organic compounds in the soil solution can originate from leaching, decomposition and root exudates. Organic compounds include humic, fulvic and low molecular weight organic acids. The organic acids dissociate in water and bind with polyvalent ions such as Al³⁺ and Fe³⁺ on their carboxyl (R-COOH) and phenol (R-OH) groups (Figure 21). The unsaturated organic metal complex is leached from the upper layers of the soil together with organic substances and dissolved ions. This is the first step of the podzolization process whereby soluble organic metal complexes are transported (eluviated) to greater depths leaving a greyish E-horizon.



Figure 21. The formation of an organic metal complex.

The second step involves the accumulation (illuviation) of the metal complexes in the spodic B-horizon. Precipitation of the complexes can be brought about by a number of factors.

One important mechanism has to do with Al and Fe solubility. As the metal/carbon (Me/C) complex moves down with the percolating water, more and more of the reaction sites will be occupied by AI^{3+} and Fe³⁺ and as a result the solubility of the complex decreases. At some point, enough reaction sites will be occupied and the complex will precipitate. Alternatively, the complex can be adsorbed to other minerals e.g. Al- and Fe-oxides. Other factors such as the concentration of AI^{3+} and Fe³⁺ in the soil solution, changes in acidity, ionic strength and desiccation are also important. For example, saturation of the organic metal complex can be caused by evaporation (desiccation) or if complexes with a low Me/C-ration absorbs to complexes with a high Me/C-ratio already precipitated. The distance by which the complex moves depends on the number of acid groups per mass unit C and their acid strength and complexing ability (Lundström et al. 2000a). Normally, the complex moves a couple of decimetres in the soil before precipitation. The process by which the organic matter moves and precipitates is mainly attributed to fulvic and humic acids (Lundström et al. 2000a).

Another mechanism, which could explain the formation of a B-horizon, is through microbial action. It has been seen that the organic part of an organic metal complex is subject to microbial degradation by fungi and bacteria. In the process, Al^{3+} and Fe^{3+} are released leaving them free to precipitate as oxides or hydroxides. This process is mainly attributed to easily degradable low molecular weight organic acids.

Organic metal complexes may not always be necessary in the podzolization process. Instead mineral weathering of aluminosilicates (i.e. feldspar and plagioclases) in the upper soil horizon produce Al^{3+} and silicic acid (H₄SiO₄) which react with each other to form a soluble inorganic positively charged hydroxy-aluminium silicate complex (also known as a proto-imogolite complex) in the Ehorizon. This product is stable at low pH (<5). The complex is transported down in the soil and as the pH rises it becomes more and more insoluble and accumulates in the B-horizon. Eventually Al^{3+} turns into imogolite and/or allophane. Fe³⁺ is supposed to react in a similar way as Al^{3+} forming the oxide ferrihydrite. The presence of organic matter in the B-horizon is then explained by the downward transport of soluble negatively charged organic matter, which precipitates on the imogolite, allophane and/or ferrihydrite surfaces. Lundström et al. (2000b) showed that microbial degradation of the organic part of the organic metal complex (see above) releasing $A1^{3+}$ and Fe^{3+} , which in turn forms imogolite-type material (Al) and ferrihydrite (Fe), is the most probable explanation for the immobilization of Al and Fe in the B-horizon.

5.4 Discharge areas

Peatlands, wetlands, mires, bogs and riparian areas are examples of ecosystems found in discharge areas. The general characteristics of these systems are that they are completely or partially saturated with water, leading to reduced conditions and a build-up of organic materials. These areas act as sinks and sources for many elements as well as serving other important ecological functions. The hydrology in these systems is the most characteristic feature. Bishop et al. (2004) has pointed out the importance of discharge areas, in particular the riparian zone, for affecting stream water chemistry.

Common soil types found in discharge areas are Histosols and Gleysols. Histosols are identified as soils with at least 40 cm or more of organic materials extending down from the soil surface (Driessen & Dudal, 1991). The organic material consists mainly of partially decomposed plant material (i.e. sphagnum and other mosses), which may or may not be mixed with mineral soil. They form in lowland areas in the boreal regions with a high groundwater level, which leads to oxygen-depleted conditions and a slow decomposition. The soils are permanently wet with the groundwater level close to the soil surface. The bulk density is low. Most Histosols are acid with a very low inorganic mineral content. Humic substances form in the organic soil, which bind with metal ions (i.e. micro-and macronutrients) and are leached out of the system. The amount of nutrients is always higher in the uppermost surface layers and is a reflection of the nutrient cycling of the vegetation. Tradition-ally, Histosols are nutrient-poor and not suitable for farming or forestry.

Gleysols are mineral soils with a high groundwater level in some period of the year or throughout the year. As a result, they are found in lowland areas, in depressions or at the foot of slopes. Gleysols have a grey, blue or olive coloured matrix brought about by the reduction of Fe^{3+} to Fe^{2+} , which is easily leached from the system or forms FeS (which gives the soil its colour) (Driessen & Dudal, 1991). In systems with a fluctuating groundwater level, Fe^{2+} can be oxidized back to Fe^{3+} , which precipitates as red mottles in former root channels and cracks in the soil. Organic matter content, cation exchange capacity and base saturation are all high in Gleysols.

The chemical composition of water moving out from a discharge area is different from the water moving into the area. In general, the water becomes enriched with DOC and the Al chemistry is largely affected partly due to pH increases (Löfgren and Cory, 2010).

5.5 Catchment level

The way in which groundwater is mobilized to the stream and how the chemical characteristics changes have been the subject of much research. It is fair to say that stream water chemistry does not equal soil and soil water chemistry. As described above, old "pre-event" water reaches the stream shortly after a rainfall input but the response of the chemical constituent varies. Some constituents increase (e.g. DOC), some decrease (e.g. Ca^{2+}) and some remain fairly constant (e.g. Cl^{-}). The chemical signal of different constitutes in the stream varies strongly depending on the ground-

water level and thereby the rate of flow. At the same time most of the water found in a stream after a storm-event is old pre-event water (e.g. Kirchner, 2003).

Bishop et al. (2004) and Seibert et al. (2009), give a plausible explanation, stressing the importance of the riparian zone (the area that connects the mineral soil to the stream) for stream water chemistry. The RIM-model, which was developed based on hillslope studies in the northern part of Sweden, describes how the riparian zone control stream water chemistry, especially the short-term dynamics, as the groundwater passes the riparian soil solution (Figure 22). The model explains how variations in stream water chemistry depend on the variation of solutes and water with depth in the riparian zone. It is a simple model using a flow-concentration model based on soil-water chemistry and lateral water flux. Löfgren & Cory (2010) showed the importance of the near stream zone for stream water concentrations of Al.



Figure 22. The riparian convolution model where water moves in a lateral manner through the riparian soils. The hydraulic conductivity in the soil increases with decreased depth (left). During a rainfall event, the groundwater table rises to soil horizons with higher concentrations of TOC and lower concentrations of Ca^{2+} (middle), which gives an increase of TOC in runoff and a dilution of Ca^{2+} (right). Figure from Bishop et al. 2004.

Hillslopes are fundamental landscape units in a catchment. Most catchments also have a riparian zone, which transforms the water coming from the hillslope before it enters the stream. Separating and quantifying sources of solutes coming from a hillslope during different flow situations still remain a problem.

Thus, in successfully describing headwater stream chemistry using dynamic models one must first identify the spatial variation of terrestrial landscape units (e.g. forest soil, wetlands, peat lands and riparian zones). Secondly, differences in soil types and vertical and lateral chemistry should be recognized in order to understand how rainfall turns into soil water, groundwater and ultimately surface water. Finally, interactions between land cover and hydrological connectivity (vertical and horizontally) must be defined in order to correctly describe the volume and chemical composition of water depending on residence time of water and temporal variation. Considering the large variability within catchments, lumping and other simplifications are necessary. Recent research have shown

the importance of the riparian zone in determining stream water chemistry (Bishop et al., 2004; Burt & Pinay, 2005; Seibert et al., 2009; Löfgren & Cory, 2010) why special attention should be given these areas in modelling efforts.

6 Material and methods

The main focus of this literature report is to describe clear-cutting effects on soil, soil water, groundwater and stream water following final felling and biomass removal. In addition, clear-cutting effects on hydrology are discussed. The mechanisms responsible for the results are explained and discussed in terms of site-specific conditions (catchment characteristics and hydrology). When possible, treatment differences between whole-tree and stem-only harvest are discussed.

The review describes research carried out mainly in Europe, the US and Canada but studies from New Zeeland and southern Australia have been considered although climate, soil types and forest practices may differ. Unfortunately, older studies (mainly Swedish) have not been published in the scientific literature but have been included as they are regarded too valuable to be omitted (e.g. Wiklander, 1974, Wiklander 1983; Tamm & Wiklander, 1972; Nykvist 1974a, b; Nykvist 1999; Örlander et al., 1997; Westling et al., 2004; Haveraaen, 1981 and Zetterberg et al., 2008). A majority of the studies describe short-term (<5 years) clear-cutting effects since this is usually the period during which quantitatively important changes occur. Long-term effects (>15 years) are scarce and there are no studies describing treatment effects later than 31 years (Zetterberg et al., 1998). The Swedish database Silvaboreal for forest research (www.silvaboreal.com), the Northern European database NOLTFOX for long-term field trials (http://noltfox.metla.fi/) and the LTSP study (http://www.for.gov.bc.ca/hre/ltsp/ or http://www.ncrs.fs.fed.us/ltsp/network/) has provided useful information in the search for studies along with traditional literature search via the databases Web of Knowledge and Google.

There are many articles describing short-term effects of clear-cutting (especially on NO₃⁻ concentrations) already well described in the literature. Therefore, only some of them have been included in this report. Instead, focus has been on articles describing effects on concentrations, pools and fluxes of base cations. In the literature, the terminology for logging residue fuels (hereby referred as logging residues) has varied through time (e.g. slash, brash, logging debris etc.) but with the same meaning, namely the above ground material left on ground following harvesting. Stump removal, which has gained a renewed interest recently, is also a logging residue fuel but a distinction is usually made between above- and belowground residues when referred to in the literature. Compared with the removal of aboveground material, logging of both above- and belowground material is believed to cause relatively large effects due to mechanical disturbances. Hence stump removal studies have been omitted. Logging residues in thinnings are not discussed since the effects are less pronounced compared with final felling (e.g. Egnell & Leijon, 1997; Olsson, 1999; Rosenberg & Jacobson, 2004). Statistically significant differences are not always reported, but yet these studies are included.

Depending on country, tradition and time, a range of different forest management practices have been used including various methods for harvest and for regeneration. For example, in a final felling study by Simard et al. (2001) cutting with protection of regeneration and soils (CPRS) was used. CPRS resembles clear-cutting but great care is taken to ensure that the natural regeneration of the new stand is successful without the need to replant. Sometimes the entire catchment has been harvested (e.g. Briggs et al., 2000) or only parts of it, referred to as partial cutting by Feller (2000) or patch cut by Tiedemann et al. (1988). In other experiments measures have been taken to limit erosion, nutrient leaching and a rise in groundwater table including progressive strip-cutting (alternating uncut and cut strips, e.g. Martin et al., 2000) or shelterwood-cutting (where trees are left, e.g. Lundin, 1999; Wang et al., 2006). In some studies, diameter-limit cutting (or single tree selection) is practiced where only trees above a certain diameter are logged (e.g. Patric & Aubertin, 1977: Rothe & Mellert, 2004). Finally, in some cases the effect of progressive harvesting on stream water response has been studied (Rusanen et al., 2004; Neal et al., 2004).

In some studies buffer zones varying between 10-30 meters (e.g. Hornbeck & Kropelin, 1982) up to 50-75 meter (Tiedemann et al., 1988) on each side of the stream have been left uncut. In other studies herbicides and pesticides have been used to control competing vegetation (e.g. Bormann et al., 1968; McLaughlin & Phillips, 2006; Smethurst & Nambiar, 1990). In conclusion, the difference between the techniques lies in the areal extent of the catchment being harvested (0-100%) and if trees are left in the catchment to reduce nutrient leaching and a rise in groundwater table. Following harvest, the logging residues are either left on ground or removed. When the logging debris is left on ground to decompose it may be evenly spread on the ground (e.g. Olsson et al., 1996a), concentrated in piles (e.g. Rosén & Lundmark-Thelin, 1987) or placed in rows (Brais et al., 1995). In a few instances the logging debris has been burned (e.g. Harr & Fredriksen, 1988; Belleau et al., 2006)

In some soil and soil water studies it has not always been easy to determine logging techniques. Therefore, measurements carried out between piles have been termed WTH and measurements below piles CH (e.g. Wall, 2008; Rosén & Lundmark-Thelin, 1987; Hornbeck & Kropelin, 1982). Sometimes the vocabulary for logging technique varies but in all cases it has been possible to determine whether or not logging residues have been left on ground or not. For instance Ranger et al. (2008) studied the effect of clear cutting on soil water chemistry, which could easily have been interpreted as stem-only harvesting. However, in the material and method section it was stated "*slashes were manually windrowed outside the measurement area*". Hence, it is the effect of whole-tree harvesting that is described.

Silvicultural methods used for regeneration include soil scarification, fire, protective ditching or ditch maintenance, planting, application of pesticides or herbicides, pre-commercial thinning, thinning, fertilization, liming, ash recycling etc. These operations are not always specified in the literature making it difficult to separate the effect of felling from other measures. As a result, it is many times the combined effect of forest harvesting (with or without logging residues) and silvicultural measures that is described (e.g. Rosén, 1996). Sometimes the differences are too great to allow for comparisons to be fully made. For example, Ring et al. (2001) studied the effects of clear-felling of a previously fertilized forest (doses ranging between 0 and 2400 kg per hectare) with and without logging residues. In spite of the last dose being applied thirteen years before clear-felling, residual effects were still measurable in the soil. Hence, only data from the sub-plots where no fertilization were applied is included in this study. In another example, soil scarification including ploughing, hummocking and drainage was carried out in the Nurmes-project in Finland, three years after harvesting and drainage (Ahtiainen, 1992; Ahtiainen & Huttunen, 1999). In order to reduce the number of factors, data between the third and fifth year was not considered in this report. Other treatments have also been omitted. For example, Smethurst and Nambiar (1990) studied the effects of slash and litter management using four different treatments; slash and litter retained (SL), only litter retained (L), litter ploughed (LP) and slash and litter removed (SLR). The LP and SLR treatments have been omitted and although the authors did not use the terminology usually associated with biofuel research, the SL and L treatments have been regarded as the equivalent to CH and WTH. Other treatments such as winter windrowing following whole-tree harvest (see Brais et al., 1995) have been also been omitted.

Besides the use of different forest management practices, other challenges were presented when compiling the data. For example, the studies cover a broad range of tree species, ages, soil types, soil horizons, site quality classes adding to the difficulty to evaluate treatment effects. Hence, some simplifications were necessary. Different tree species have been categorized into two groups: hard-wood and softwood species. Sometimes mixed softwood/hardwood stands occur in the studies. Note that as a result of geographical segmentation and active forest management decisions, different tree types naturally dominate in different parts of the world. Example of common tree species in the US and Canada are Sugar maple, Yellow birch and American beech often found in the Northern hard-wood forests. In Europe, Scots pine, Norway spruce and Sitka spruce are example of traditional softwood species used primarily in forest whereas Radiata pine is used in New Zeeland and Austral-ia. Special attention is made to studies including alder species because of their N fixing ability, which fertilizes soils (e.g. Johnson et al., 1988; Robertson et al., 2000; Titus et al., 1997; Mann et al., 1988).

Most countries have some system for classifying soils, which means that different names are applied for soils with the same characteristics. In this review the World Reference Base (WRB) system is used and the corresponding name according to other classification system is given in Table 4. Note that suborders of the order Inceptisols can be either Cambisols or Gleysols, which is problematic when the soils are only defined as "Inceptisols" (e.g. Mann et al., 1998).

World Reference Base for Soil Resources (WRB)	USDA Soil Taxonomy	Référentiel pédologique (RP)
Acrisols	Ultisols (all suborders)	-
Cambisols	Inceptisols (Ochrepts, Umbrepts)	Alocrisol
Podzols	Spodsols (Aquods, Orthods, Humods)	-
Leptosols	Lithosols and lithic subgroups	-
Andosols	Andisols	-
Gleysols	Entosols (Aquents) and Inceptisols (Aquepts, Aquolls)	-
Histosols	Histosols (all suborders)	-
Luvisols	Alfisols (Udalfs, Xeralfs, Ustalfs, Aqualfs, Boralfs)	-

Table 4. The soil types included in this review according to WRB and the corresponding name at the order level (sub-order in parenthesis) in the USDA Soil Taxonomy system according to Chesworth (2008) and in the Référentiel pédologique according to Baize & Girard (2009).

Considering the different horizons from which soil and soil water data have been collected, it is necessary to find a way to rearrange the results into a few categories only. First a distinction is made between the forest floor (all varieties of L, F, H, forest floor, O, Oa, Oi, Oe, humus etc.) and the mineral soil (A, E, B and C-horizons). Secondly, the mineral soil is further divided into horizons were materials are leached (eluviated) or accumulated (illuviated). Obviously, this is much easier when the name of the horizon has been specified (e.g. A, E, B or C) compared with when the soil depth is defined in centimetres.

Podzols have been used for guidance when categorizing mineral soil data. The depth of the A-, Eand B-horizon in Swedish forest soils usually reaches 4-8 cm (Eriksson et al., 2005). In the new WRB classification systems, podzols are merely defined as soils with a spodic horizon within 200 cm of the soil surface. However, in previous systems, podzols were defined as having a spodic Bhorizon below 12.5 cm depth from the soil surface or below an A- or E-horizon (being more than 2.5 cm thick) (FAO-UNESCO, 1997). Although not in use anymore, this definition still provides information on how to separate the eluviated horizon from the illuviated, using an arbitrary boundary of circa 10-15 cm. Hence, data from 0-5, 5-10, 0-10, 0-15 cm is grouped into soils ≤ 10 cm and soils from 10-15, 10-20, 10-30, 15-20, 15-30, 20-C, 30-45 and 45-60 cm are grouped into soils ≥10 cm. This boundary has been used regardless of soil type. Similarly, data from the A, Ap, E, E/Bhorizon is compared with soil data from ≤ 10 cm and Bh, Bs, Bs1, Bs2, Bt, BC, and C with soils ≥ 10 cm. However, this approach made it difficult when mineral soil data is treated as a single unit (e.g. mineral, 0-100, 0-C or Σ FH 0-20, total solumn etc.). For simplicity, data from the "mineral", 0-100, 0-C and total solumn were grouped into soils ≥ 10 cm. Summarized data from the forest floor and mineral soil (e.g. Σ FH 0-20 and forest floor+mineral soil) has not been included, but are referred to in the discussion when necessary.

In terms of soil water data, plant uptake of water and nutrients generally take place in the upper 50 cm of the soil (including the A, E- and B-horizons of the soil) why this has been considered an appropriate limit to separate upper from lower horizons. Changes in the soil percolates below 50 cm will eventually reach the groundwater and possibly stream water and is thus an indicator on whether or not to expect any changes further down the system.

Effects on soil, soil water, groundwater and stream water are described separately with respect to concentrations (cmol_c per kg, mg per g and µeq per l), pools (kmol_c or kg per hectare and year) and fluxes (kmol_c or kg per hectare and year). In some cases, data is only reported in the form of figures (e.g. Staaf & Olsson, 1994). When this is the case, data from the figures are used to express the treatment effect as higher/lower of increase/decrease. Sometimes only the sum of NO_3^- and NH_4^+ (inorganic N) is reported (Martin et al., 1984; Stevens et al., 1995). However, inorganic N is often dominated by NO_3^- why these results have been interpreted as NO_3^- .

Treatment effects on soil chemical properties have been measured at ambient soil pH (using unbuffered extraction solutions) or at pH=7 using a buffered extraction solution. A direct comparison between CEC and cation concentrations measured at different pH is not recommended since a buffered extraction solution will results in an overestimation of CEC due to an increase in pHdependable charges (Borge, 1997; Skinner et al., 2001). In two Swedish studies (Nykvist, 1977b; Nykvist, 1990) ammonium lactate extract were used in determining K and P concentrations (according to Egner et al., 1960). It is unclear how this affects the results. pH is usually determined using different salt solutions (KCl, BaCl₂, CaCl₂) or deionized water (H₂O). When measuring pH in soils using these methods, the latter produces a higher pH-value compared with the salt method. Also, using monovalent salt solutions of the same molality results in higher pH-values compared with divalent solutions. Thus, $pH(H_2O) > pH(KCl) > pH(BaCl_2) = pH(CaCl_2)$.

Soil water has been collected using ceramic suction cups (Jewett et al., 1995) or zero-tension lysimeters (e.g. Ranger et al., 2007; Wall, 2008) while groundwater has been collected using piezometers (e.g. Parfitt et al., 2002), wells (Kubin, 1998) and boreholes (Neal et al., 2004), spring water (Tamm et al., 1974) and large aquifers (Rusanen et al., 2004). Stream water is collected from stream weirs allowing for water discharge measurements to be made (e.g. Rosén, 1984). Sometimes changes in discharge have been calculated using models such as BROOK (Hornbeck et al., 1990; Briggs et al., 2000) and PULSE (Brandt et al., 1988). Effects are usually measured in first order streams since studies describing downstream effects are scarce.

The studies also differ with respect to experimental design (plot, catchment and chronosequence). The most common experimental design in measuring treatment differences in surface waters is the paired catchment approach in which one of two adjacent catchments is treated and the other is untreated and thus used as a control (e.g. Bormann et al., 1968). Alternatively, the single catchment approach can be used in which the upper part of the area remains as a control and the lower part are used for various treatments (e.g. Löfgren et al., 2009; Neal et al., 1992). In the latter case, the same stream drains both the upper and the lower part of the catchment. The two types of experimental designs are illustrated in Table 5. The treatment can either be carried out in the entire catchment or only parts of it. In addition, chronosequences have been used (Katzensteiner, 2003; Snyder & Harter, 1984) as well as transect studies (Parfitt et al., 2002). In soil- and groundwater experiments, block experiments are traditionally used where some of the plots are treated and others left untreated (control) at each site. However, in some groundwater studies the wells are located below the clear-felled area (e.g. Mannerkoski et al., 2005).



Table 5. Examples of experimental designs for measuring treatment differences in surface water. Water is collected at the catchment outlet indicated by a black dot.

Treatment effects are calculated by subtracting data from the treated plot/catchment with a control plot/catchment or by comparisons with statistical models between the treated and control site before and after treatment (e.g. Löfgren et al., 2009b). That is, differences *between* plots/catchments are described (Table 6, pairwise comparisons). However, on rare occasions, data for the control catchment is reported as a mean for the whole study period while the data for the treated catchment is divided into a pre- and post-treated period (e.g. Neal et al., 2004). Thus, the pre-treatment or post-treatment period for the treated catchment is compared with the data from the whole study period for the control catchment. Another way to calculate the treatment effect is to calculate the ratio between stream water chemistry from the control and treated catchment *before* harvest and used this ratio to multiply with data from the control catchment *after* the post-treatment period. This data are assumed to represent what the stream chemistry of the treated catchment would have been if it not had been harvested ("if uncut"). The difference between the actual data and this estimate is attributed to harvest effects (e. g. Hornbeck et al., 1990; Lundin, 1999). Comparisons can also be made *within* a treated catchment describing the combined effect of time and treatment (Table 6, time series). This can be made either for the pre- and post-treatment period or, if the pre-treatment period is lacking, between the post- and post treatment period. For the control catchment, only changes over time are described using this approach. Finally, comparison can be made in different stands of varying ages using a chronosequence approach (Table 6 chronosequence).

The results are thus presented as increases or decreases between the pre- and postharvest period or as differences (higher or lower) between treatments postharvest. In some experiment pre-harvest values are missing (e.g. Wiklander, 1983; Lundin, 1999; Stevens & Hornung, 1988; Westling et al., 2004; Örlander et al., 1997; Nykvist, 1977b; Smethurst & Nambiar, 1990; Ranger et al., 2008). This is usually the case when the studies begun in conjunction with harvesting, i.e. year 0 (e.g. Ranger et al., 2008). The different treatments include control stands (CTR), logged stands using conventional methods for final felling (CH) and various methods for logging above- and belowground residue fuel including conventional harvest plus branches (BSH) and whole-tree harvest where conventional harvest plus branches and needles was used (WTH) (Table 7). In terms of biomass removal; WTH > BSH > CH > CTR.

Table 6. Changes in soil, soil water, groundwater or stream water is usually described as differences over time or between treatments using the following combinations. t=0; time for treatment, -t and +t are time before and after treatment, respectively.



Table 7. Different logging techniques and their abbreviations used in this review.

Treatment	Abbreviation	Note
Control	CTR	Uncut often mature forest.
Conventional harvest	СН	Only stems are removed leaving the logging residues left on ground. Also known as stem- only harvest.
Conventional harvest + branches and needles	WTH	Removal of stems, branches and needles except for stumps. Also known as whole-tree harvest.

7 Results

7.1 Hydrology

In the short-term, stream runoff usually increases following final felling ranging between 4-450 mm per year as a result of decreased evapotranspiration, causing increased soil water content and groundwater tables (Table 8). In general, the greater the fraction of the catchment being cut, the larger the stream water response is. Most studies report short-term effects but changes up to 27 years have been measured (Table 8). During the first 7 years following stem-only cutting (CH) stream runoff increased between 46-117 mm per year but in the subsequent years (7-27 years) run-off decreased (Martin et al., 2000). In long-term (0-14 years) whole-tree harvesting (WTH) studies, stream runoff has been found to increase ranging between 51-152 mm.

Studies comparing differences between CH and WTH are largely lacking. However, according to Rosén (1984) no differences in stream runoff could be measured during the first two years after cutting (not shown in Table 8). Changes in soil water content and groundwater tables are only reported following CH in the range of -52 to +103 mm and -3 to +96 cm, respectively (Table 8).

Table 8. Hydrological changes following stem-only (CH) or whole-tree harvest (WTH). Pre-harvest regression analysis between a "cut" and uncut control area are often used to simulate post-harvest stream runoff if cutting had not occurred. Post-harvest difference between the "for-ested" and non-forested runoff is then calculated and reported as a mean cutting effect. This can be done for the whole study period or for individual years. Changes in soil water content and groundwater tables are reported as means. NS=non-significant changes.

Reference	Harvest intensity	Annual increases in runoff	Soil water	Groundwater	Years after
		(Δ mm)	(Δ mm)	(Δ cm)	(yrs)
Hibbert (1967)	СН	+34-450			
		+40 per 10% cut (conifer)			
Bosch & Hewlett (1982)	СН	+25 per 10% cut (hardwood)			
		+10 per 10% cut (shrubs)			
Desta (1004)		+215 (CH)			0.2
Rosen (1984)	CH; WIH	+371 (WTH)			0-2
		+220 (CH)			0.0
Rosen et al. (1996)	CH; WIH	+274 (WTH)			0-8
Grip (1982)	СН	+184			0-2
Lundin (1979)	СН		+5-46	+14-96	0-3
Brandt at al (1088)		+165 (CH)			0.2
Dialiut et al. (1966)		+220 (WTH)			0-3
Haveraaen (1981)	СН	+200-250			0-2
Bormann et al. (1968)	СН	+40%			0-1
Likens et al. (1970)	СН	+270-330			0-2
		+40-260 mm (4-28%)			0-5
		NS			0-14
Swapk at al. (2001)	CH	+6.6 (7%)			15
	CIT	NS			16
		-67 (-7.2%)			17
		NS			18-20
		+46-114 (CH)			0-7
Martin et al. (2000)	CH; WTH	-21 to -66 (CH)			8-27
		+51-152 (WTH)			1, 7, 8 & 13
Hornbeck et al. (1990)	WTH	+220-310			0-1
Mannerkoski et al. (2005)	СН			NS	0-5
Briggs et al. (2000)	WTH	+310			0-1
Patric & Aubertin (1977)	СН	+34-64			0-2

Reference	Harvest intensity	Annual increases in runoff	Soil water	Groundwater	Years after
		(Δ mm)	(Δ mm)	(Δ cm)	(yrs)
Robinson & Dupeyrat (2005)	СН	+60-200			0-10
Sørensen et al. (2009)	СН	+253-254			0-2
Heikurainen & Päivänen	СН	+186		+5 -14	0-2
Jewett et al. (1995)	СН	+9.2%			0-12
Adamson et al. (1987)	СН	100%			0-2
Wang et al. (2006)	СН	NS			0-1
Kilhberg (1958)	СН	+85			0-5
Caissie et al. (2002)	СН	NS			0-2
Pyatt et al. (1985)	СН			+5, 20 and 35*	4
Lundin (1999)	СН	+4-125		+5-11	0-4
Rusanen et al. (2004)	СН			NS	0-22
Keppeler et al. (1994)	СН	increase			0-4
	СН	0-3	+10-103		
Adams et al. (1991)		4-20	-52 to -10		
	СН			+7-52	0-1
Dube et al. (1995)	СН			-3	0-1
Min-max		-66 to +450	-52 to +103	-3 to +96	

Table 8. Continued.

*average increases during period 1-3 corresponding to week 1-12, 13-24 and 25-36 respectively.

7.2 Soil chemistry

In this chapter, short- and long-term treatment effects on soil chemistry after clear-cutting are compared with pre-harvest conditions (Δ time*treatment) at two harvest intensities. The results are presented in four different tables with a distinction made between exchangeable and total concentrations (Table 9 and Table 10) and exchangeable and total pools (Table 11 and Table 13) at three soil depths (forest floor, 0-10 cm and \geq 10 cm mineral soil). Postharvest effects (Δ treatment) between different treatments are described in a similar way in Tab le 13 and Table 14 (exchangeable and total concentrations) and Table 15 and Table 16 (exchangeable and total pools). First, differences between clear-cut areas and growing forests (i.e. CH \leftrightarrow CTR and WTH \leftrightarrow CTR) are presented followed by a comparison between different harvest intensities (WTH \leftrightarrow CH).

7.2.1 pH and H⁺

Most sites showed no short- or long-term changes in pH after cutting compared with pre-harvest conditions or non-harvested control forests, independent of harvest intensity (Table 9 and Table 13). However, short-term (\leq 5 years) increases in mineral soil pH have been observed following whole-tree harvest compared with pre-harvest values and controls (n=7, Table 9 and Table 13). When comparing stem-only harvested plots with control plots, higher pH was found in the 0-10 cm soil layer (n=2, Table 13). These increases are of short duration and have largely disappeared after six years. In comparison, whole-tree harvest has also been shown to cause decreased soil pH. For example, Johnson et al. (1991b) observed a short-term decrease in forest floor pH in the range of -0.2 to -0.3 pH-units after whole-tree harvest (Table 9). Similarly, Brais et al. (1995) observed lower pH values in the forest floor and mineral soil after cutting (WTH) compared with mature forest (Table 13).

Studies describing changes in exchangeable H⁺ pools are only available after a whole-tree harvest study by Johnson et al. (1997) (Table 11). Following WTH, no short- or medium term changes could be found in the forest floor and the mineral soil (0-10 and \geq 10 cm). The long-term effects are unknown. There are no studies describing differences in pools between clear-cut areas and control forests (Table 15).

The difference between harvest intensities (WTH \leftrightarrow CH) is usually non-significant except for the forest floor where lower pH-values (and higher exchangeable pools of H⁺) have been reported after whole-tree compared with stem-only harvest (Table 13 and Table 15).

7.2.2 Carbon (C) and CEC

Harvest effects on total soil C concentrations and pools have been reviewed by several other authors such as Johnson & Curtis (2001), Sanchez et al. (2006) and Kreutzweiser et al. (2008) why emphasis in this report has been on cutting effects on base cations. This explains the low number of observations in Table 10, Table 12, Table 14 and Table 16). Still, some distinct trends can be seen regarding the pool changes. The total soil C concentration references (Table 10 and Table 14) are too few for making any statements.

In terms of total C pools, short- and long-term decreases in the forest floor and increases in the mineral soil have been documented after CH and WTH (Table 12). However, compared with uncut

control plots, the long-term effects on soil C pools following CH and WTH are primarily non-significant (Table 16).

Generally, comparisons between different harvest intensities (WTH \leftrightarrow CH) show that there is no difference in total C pools (Table 16), with the exception of Johnson et al. (2002) who reported smaller forest floor C pools but higher C pools in the mineral soil following whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only (Table 16).

Short- and long-term treatment effects on CEC are generally non-significant when comparing clearcut areas with pre-harvest conditions, regardless of whether or not logging residues have been collected (Table 9). Similar results were found when comparing data from whole-tree and stem-only harvested plots with uncut control plots (Table 13). However, individual observations of increases and decreases in CEC have been documented following cutting. For example, there is a short- and long-term tendency of decreased CEC-concentrations in the forest floor and increased CEC in the mineral soil, regardless of harvest method (Table 9). These results are similar to the findings for soil C and soil N. But, when comparing whole-tree harvested plots with control plots short- to mediumterm decreases have also been observed in the mineral soil (Table 13). Treatment differences between CH and CTR are largely missing why no conclusions can be drawn whether or not this is also true between stem-only and unharvested control plots (Table 13).

When CEC is expressed as exchangeable mass per hectare, statistically significant effects are rare and have only been observed in one case as a short-term increase in the forest floor after whole-tree harvest compared with pre-harvest conditions (Table 11). Comparisons with uncut control forests are missing (Table 15).

Short- and long-term differences in CEC as a function of harvest intensity (WTH \leftrightarrow CH) are usually non-significant but there are some reports of lower concentrations and pools of CEC following whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only, both in the forest floor and in the mineral soil (Table 13 and Table 15). Data describing short- and medium-term changes in CEC pools are missing.

7.2.3 Nitrogen (N)

Changes in soil N pools following clear-cutting are similar to those in soil C (i.e. primarily a decrease in the forest floor and an increase in the mineral soil) but there are also differences where soil N has been shown to increase in the forest floor and decrease in the mineral soil. Thus, the effect of clear-cutting on soil N is highly variable and appears to be site-specific.

Following clear-cutting, there have been reports of short-term decreases in soil N concentrations in the forest floor after WTH (n=3, Table 10 and Table 14) and short- and long-term decreases in soil N pools (Table 12 and Table 16) following both CH (n=5) and WTH (n=9). In addition, long-term increases in mineral soil N concentrations and pools have frequently been observed after WTH and CH (Table 10, Table 12, Table 14 and Table 16).

In contrast to this pattern, increased forest floor concentrations and pools have been reported after CH and WTH during the first five years and for more than 15 years. Also, short-term decreases in mineral soil concentrations (0-10 cm, n=3 and \geq 10 cm, n=5) and pools (\geq 10 cm, n=4) are often observed following WTH.

Short-and long-term treatment differences in total N concentrations between WTH and CH in the forest floor and mineral soil are usually non-significant (Table 14). Similarly, short- and long-term differences in mineral soil N pools are non-significant (Table 16). However, short-term decreases (n=6) in forest floor pools have been observed.

7.2.4 Base cations (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺)

Short-term (\leq 5 years) treatment effects on base cation (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺) concentrations and pools are well described in the literature, especially in the mineral soil, while medium- (6-14 years) to long-term (\geq 15 years) effects are less well known. To start with, short-term cutting effects on exchangeable base cation concentrations are described beginning with the forest floor before moving into the mineral soil. The results are compared with pre-harvest conditions (Table 9) and uncut controls (Table 13). Next, total concentrations are discussed but the results have not been included in Table 10 or Table 14 due to too few data. Changes in soil exchangeable pools are described in Table 11 and Table 15. Finally, treatment differences between whole-tree and stem-only harvest are presented in terms of concentrations and pools.

There is no clear pattern regarding the short-term treatment effects on exchangeable base cation concentrations in the forest floor after cutting (WTH and CH) compared with pre-harvest conditions (Table 9) or uncut control plots (CTR) (Table 13). There are records of increases, decreases or no treatment effects at all. In contrast, and based on few observations, short-term increases of the exchangeable BC concentrations have been observed in the mineral soil (0-10 and ≥ 10 cm) after stemonly harvest compared with pre-harvest values (Table 9) and uncut controls (Table 13). Treatment effects of whole-tree harvesting in the mineral soil (0-10 and ≥ 10 cm) are frequently shown as decreasing exchangeable concentrations of Mg²⁺ and K⁺, while Ca²⁺ shows no change or increased exchangeable concentrations during the first five years.

A chronosequence study by Katzensteiner (2003) is the only investigation reporting treatment effects on the total BC concentrations compared with pre-harvest conditions. Higher total concentrations of Ca, Mg and K were found in the forest floor of a regenerating stand (10 years old) compared with a conventional clear-cut stand (0 year). The lowest total K concentration was found in the clear-cut, attributed to harvest losses. Belleau et al. (2006) did not find any differences between stem-only and control plots (CH and CTR) in the forest floor or mineral soil during the first two vears following cutting, except for a small decrease in total K concentration (0.1 mg per gram) in the forest floor, an effect which was gone the following year. Simard et al. (2001) discovered higher total Ca (1-1.8 mg per gram) and Mg (0.12 mg per gram) concentrations in the forest floor more than 15 years after stem-only and whole-tree harvest compared with control plots. No effect was seen on the total K concentrations. Finally, Hendrickson et al. (1989) measured significantly higher concentrations of total Ca in the forest floor (only WTH) and upper mineral soil (0-5 cm, WTH and CH) compared with a control forest, three years after harvest. No effects were found further down in the mineral soil (down to 20 cm). Increases in total Mg were observed in the forest floor but not the mineral soil after stem-only cutting. Whole-tree harvest did not lead to any significant Mg effects. Total K showed a decrease in the forest floor after whole-tree harvest and an increase in the mineral soil (10-20 cm) after stem-only harvest. No other soil layers showed any treatment effects.

In general, the short-term cutting effects on the exchangeable base cation pools in the forest floor and mineral soil are usually non-significant compared with pre-harvest conditions (Table 11). However, short-term significant decreases in the forest floor BC pools have been observed, especially after whole-tree harvest and it appears that the pools of exchangeable K^+ is most affected. Lower pools of exchangeable Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ in the forest floor were also found up to 14 years after treatment, when comparing whole-tree harvested plots (but not stem-only harvested plots) with control plots (Table 15).

Treatment effects in the upper mineral soil (0-10 cm) are not well described in the literature (Table 11 and Table 15). Based on few observations, no short- or medium-term changes in exchangeable pools of Ca^{2+} , Mg ²⁺ or K⁺ have been found after WTH compared with pre-cutting data (Table 11). Long-term data and comparisons between WTH and control plots are missing (Table 15). Similar results were found following CH with the exception of a medium- to long-term increase in exchangeable pools of Mg²⁺ compared with pre-harvest conditions (Table 11).

Short- and long-term treatment effects on exchangeable BC pools deeper down in the mineral soil (≥ 10 cm) are usually non-significant compared with pre-harvest conditions (Table 11) and control plots (Table 15) regardless of harvest method. However, short- and medium-term increases in exchangeable K⁺ pools have been registered following stem-only compared with pre-harvest conditions (Table 11). The effect of whole-tree harvest is not as clear. Similar to stem-only harvest, there have been records of increased or higher pools of exchangeable K⁺ compared with pre-harvest conditions (Table 11) and control forests (Table 15). In contrast, lower BC pools have also been registered following whole-tree harvest during the first 15 years. The effect is most notably for the divalent ions (Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺) but can no longer be detectable after 15 years (Table 11 and Table 15).

Significant short-term (\leq 5 years) decreases in total pools of base cations have been observed in the forest floor and mineral soil (\leq 60 cm) after whole-tree harvest compared with pre-cutting data (Ranger et al., 2008). In contrast, Nykvist (1977a) found that the total Ca-pools in the forest floor increased regardless of harvest method, while total K-pools generally decreased. The effects on total pools of Mg were not conclusive. The Mg pools decreased at one site and increased at another one. Medium- to long-term effects were not described. Simard et al. (2001) reported post treatment differences with higher total pools of Ca (+270 kg per hectare) and Mg (+35 kg per hectare) (but not K) in the forest floor, five years after stem-only harvest compared with a control forest in St. Pére, Canada. At two other sites (Dieppe and Mathieu), higher total pools of Ca (but not Mg and K), varying between 280-500 kg per hectare, were found in whole-tree harvested plots compared with control plots up to 22 years after cutting.

There are few significant short- or long-term differences in exchangeable base cation concentrations between different harvest intensities (WTH and CH) in the forest floor or in the mineral soil (0-10 and ≥ 10 cm). Lower exchangeable Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺ concentrations have been observed both in the forest floor and mineral soil lasting more than fifteen years after WTH compared with CH (Table 13). Lower soil exchangeable pools of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺ have been found as well (Table 15). For example, lower pools of K⁺ have frequently been observed in the forest floor (n=7) and mineral soil (0-10 cm, n=2 and ≥ 10 cm, n=3) during the first five years after harvest. Sometimes, this difference can still be observed after 15 years. However, at most sites the differences are non-significant.

Treatment differences in total soil BC pools have been observed in a few studies. Wall (2008) measured lower pools of Ca (-387 to -64 kg per hectare), Mg (-35 to -6 kg per hectare) and K (-34 to -6 kg per hectare) in the forest floor (litter layer) after WTH compared with CH, four years after harvest. No differences were found in the humus layer (F+H) or mineral soil (0-10 cm). Nykvist (1977a) also reported lower total BC pools in the forest floor. During the first year after harvest the pools of Ca, Mg and K were lower following WTH compared with CH ranging between -213 to -207 (Ca), -25 to -16 (Mg) and -52 to -32 (K) kg per hectare. During the fourth year the differences were less; -150 to -37 (Ca), -7 to -1 (Mg) and -13 to 0 (K) kg per hectare. In general, the largest losses seem to occur for Ca.

The number of observations describing medium- to long-term treatment effects is limited. Single studies indicate either positive or negative trends and no clear patterns emerge.

Table 9. The number of observations* (n=tot, nd=no data) showing increasing (n=pos), decreasing (n=neg) or no (n=0) trend in **soil exchangeable concentrations** (cmol_c per kg = meq 100 per gram) following clear-cutting. CH = conventional harvest, WTH = whole tree harvest. **Pre- and post-treatment differences**.

Comparison	Variable	Soil depth	h Short-term (≤5) n=tot n=pos n=neg n=				M	edium-te	rm (6-14)	Long-term (≥15)			
		(cm)	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0
СН	pН	forest floor	nd				2	1		1	2			2
WTH	рН	forest floor	1			1	1			1	1			1
CH	pН	0-10	1			1	1			1	1			1
WTH	pН	0-10	4	1	1	2	2			2	nd			
CH	pН	≥10	3			3	3			3	3			3
WTH	pН	≥10	8	4	1	3	4	3		1	1	1		
CH	CEC	forest floor	nd				1	1			1		1	
WTH	CEC	forest floor	1			1	1			1	1			1
CH	CEC	0-10	nd				nd				2	1		1
WTH	CEC	0-10	4		1	3	2			2	2	2		
CH	CEC	≥10	nd				nd				1			1
WTH	CEC	≥10	8	2	1	5	4	3		1	1	1		1
CH	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	nd				1	1			1			1
WTH	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	4	3	1		1			1	1			1
CH	Ca ²⁺	0-10	1	1			1			1	3	2		1
WTH	Ca ²⁺	0-10	4			4	1			1	2			2
CH	Ca ²⁺	≥10	1			1	1			1	2			2
WTH	Ca ²⁺	≥10	8	2	1	5	3	2		1	2	1		2
CH	Mg ²⁺	forest floor	nd				1		1		1		1	
WTH	Mg ²⁺	forest floor	4	3	1		1			1	1			1
CH	Mg ²⁺	0-10	1	1			1			1	3	2		1
WTH	Mg ²⁺	0-10	4	1	2	1	1			1	2			2
CH	Mg ²⁺	≥10	1	1			1			1	2	1		1
WTH	Mg ²⁺	≥10	8	1	4	3	3	2		1	2			2
CH	K ⁺	forest floor	nd				1		1		1			1
WTH	K ⁺	forest floor	4	3	1		1			1	1			1
CH	K ⁺	0-10	1	1			1			1	2	1		1
WTH	K ⁺	0-10	7	1	4	2	1			1	2			2
CH	K ⁺	≥10	1	1			1	1			2	1		1
WTH	K ⁺	≥10	17	1	13	3	3	2		1	2	1		1

*Katzensteiner (2003), McLaughlin & Phillips (2006), Mroz et al. (1985), Johnson et al. (1991b), Johnson et al. (1997), Johnson & Todd (1998), Knoepp & Swank (1997), Ranger et al. (2008) and Snyder & Harter (1984).

	er grann) ren	ennig elear ea												
Comparison	Variable	Soil depth		Short-te	rm (≤5)		M	edium-te	rm (6-14)	1	Long-teri	m (≥15)	
		(cm)	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0
CH	С	forest floor	nd				2			2	2			2
WTH	С	forest floor	nd				nd				1			1
CH	С	0-10	nd				nd				2	1		1
WTH	С	0-10	nd				nd				2	1		1
CH	С	≥10	nd				nd				1			1
WTH	С	≥10	nd				nd				2			2
СН	Ν	forest floor	nd				2			2	2			2
WTH	Ν	forest floor	3	1	2		nd				1			1
СН	Ν	0-10	nd				nd				2	2		
WTH	Ν	0-10	3		3		nd				2	1		1
СН	Ν	≥10	nd				nd				1	1		
WTH	Ν	≥10	9	3	4	1	nd				2	1		1

Table 10. The number of observations* (n=tot, nd=no data) showing increasing (n=pos), decreasing (n=neg) or no (n=0) trend in **soil total concentrations** (mg per gram) following clear-cutting. CH = conventional harvest, WTH = whole tree harvest. **Pre- and post treatment differences**.

*Johnson & Todd (1998), Mroz et al. (1985), McLaughlin & Phillips (2006) and Katzensteiner (2003).

Comparison	Variable	Soil depth		Short-te	rm (≤5)		M	edium-te	rm (6-14)	I	Long-teri	n (≥15)	
		(cm)	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0
WTH	H ⁺	forest floor	2			2	2			2	nd			
WTH	H ⁺	0-10	1			1	1			1	nd			
WTH	H+	≥10	4			4	4			4	nd			
WTH	CEC	forest floor	2	1		1	2			2	nd			
WTH	CEC	0-10	1			1	1			1	nd			
WTH	CEC	≥10	4			4	4			4	nd			
WTH	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	5	2	1	2	2			2	1			1
CH	Ca ²⁺	0-10	1			1	1			1	1			1
WTH	Ca ²⁺	0-10	1			1	1			1	nd			
CH	Ca ²⁺	≥10	3			3	3			3	3			3
WTH	Ca ²⁺	≥10	7		3	4	4			4	1	1		
WTH	Mg ²⁺	forest floor	5		1	4	2			2	1		1	
CH	Mg ²⁺	0-10	1			1	1	1			1	1		
WTH	Mg ²⁺	0-10	1			1	1			1	nd			
CH	Mg ²⁺	≥10	3			3	3			3	3			3
WTH	Mg ²⁺	≥10	4		2	5	4			4	1			1
CH	K^+	forest floor	2		2		nd				nd			
WTH	K^+	forest floor	10	1	3	6	5		1	4	nd			
CH	K^+	0-10	1			1	1			1	1			1
WTH	K ⁺	0-10	1			1	1			1	nd			
CH	K ⁺	≥10	5	1	1	3	3	3			3			3
WTH	K ⁺	≥10	12	4	5	3	7	1		6	nd			

Table 11. The number of observations* (n=tot, nd=no data) showing increasing (n=pos), decreasing (n=neg) or no (n=0) trend in **soil exchangeable pools** (kg per hectare) following clear-cutting. CH = conventional harvest, WTH = whole tree harvest. **Pre- and post-treatment differences**. In some cases flux-data is missing entirely. Consequently, these rows have been excluded from the table.

* Mroz et al. (1985), Johnson et al. (1997), Romanowicz et al. (1996), McLaughlin & Phillips (2006), Nykvist (1977b) and Snyder & Harter (1984).

needare) ronom	ng cical cat	angi en con												
Comparison	Variable	Soil depth		Short-te	erm (≤5)		Me	dium-terr	n (6-14)			Long-terr	m (≥15)	
		(cm)	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0
CH	С	forest floor	nd				nd				4		4	
WTH	С	forest floor	1		1		nd				5		4	1
CH	С	≥10	nd				nd				4	3		1
WTH	С	≥10	1	1			nd				5	3		2
CH	N	forest floor	2	1	1		nd				4		4	
WTH	N	forest floor	6	1	5		nd				5	1	4	
CH	N	0-10	1			1	nd				nd			
WTH	N	0-10	1			1	nd				nd			
CH	N	≥10	nd				nd				4	2		2
WTH	Ν	≥10	4		4		nd				4	2		2

Table 12. Number of observations* (n=tot, nd=no data) showing increasing (n=pos), decreasing (n=neg) or no (n=0) trend **in soil total pools** (kg per hectare) following clear-cutting. CH = conventional harvest, WTH = whole tree harvest. **Pre- and post-treatment differences**.

*Mroz et al. (1985), McLaughlin & Phillips (2006), Ranger et al. (2008), Smethurst & Nambiar (1990), Olsson et al. (1996b) and Nykvist (1977a).

Comparison	Variable	Soil depth		Short-ter	rm (≤5)		Μ	edium-te	rm (6-14)		Long-terr	n (≥15)	
-		(cm)	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0
CH↔CTR	pН	forest floor	3	2		1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	рН	forest floor	3	1	1	1	3	1	1	1	3	1		2
WTH↔CH	рН	forest floor	7			7	12		8	4	21		4	16
CH↔CTR	рН	0-10	4	2		2	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	рН	0-10	4	2	1	1	3		1	2	2			2
WTH↔CH	рН	0-10	5			5	7			7	18			18
CH↔CTR	рН	≥10	1			1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	рН	≥10	3		2	1	2		2		1	1		
WTH↔CH	рН	≥10	2			2	nd				17			17
CH↔CTR	CEC	forest floor	1	1			nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	CEC	forest floor	2		1	1	2		1	1	1			1
WTH↔CH	CEC	forest floor	2			2	1			1	13		2	11
CH↔CTR	CEC	0-10	1			1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	CEC	0-10	2		1	1	2		1	1	nd			
WTH↔CH	CEC	0-10	1			1	nd				10			10
WTH↔CTR	CEC	≥10	2		1	1	2		1	1	1	1		
WTH↔CH	CEC	≥10	1			1	nd				8		3	5
CH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	2	2			nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	2		1	1	3	1	1	1	3	2		1
WTH↔CH	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	2			2	1		1		4		4	
CH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	0-10	2	1		1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	0-10	2		1	1	3		1	2	2			2
WTH↔CH	Ca ²⁺	0-10	1			1	nd				2		2	
WTH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	≥10	2		1	1	2		1	1	1	1		
WTH↔CH	Ca ²⁺	≥10	1			1	nd				4			4
CH↔CTR	Ma ²⁺	forest floor	2	1		1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	Ma ²⁺	forest floor	2		1	1	3	1	1	1	3	1	1	1
WTH↔CH	Ma ²⁺	forest floor	2		2		1		1		4		1	3
CH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	0-10	2	1		1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	Ma ²⁺	0-10	2		1	1	3	1	1	1	2	1		1
WTH↔CH	Ma ²⁺	0-10	1			1	nd				2		1	1
WTH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	≥10	2		1	1	2		1	1	1	1		
WTH↔CH	Mg ²⁺	≥10	1			1	nd				4			4
CH↔CTR	K ⁺	forest floor	2			2	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	K+	forest floor	2			2	3			3	3		2	1
WTH↔CH	K^+	forest floor	2			2	1			1	4			4
CH↔CTR	K^+	0-10	2	1		1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	K^+	0-10	2			2	3			3	2			2
WTH↔CH	K^+	0-10	1			1	nd				2		1	1
WTH↔CTR	K ⁺	≥10	2			2	2			2	1			1
WTH↔CH	K^+	≥10	1		1		nd				4		2	2

Table 13. Number of observations* (n=tot, nd=no data) showing higher (n=pos), lower (n=neg) or no (n=0) trend in **soil exchangeable concentra-tions** following clear-cutting. CH=conventional harvest, WTH=whole tree harvest, CTR=control. **Post-treatment differences**. In some cases concentration data is missing entirely. Consequently, these rows have been excluded from the table.

*Wall (2008), Hendrickson et al. (1989), Johnson & Todd (1998), McLaughlin & Phillips (2006), Simard et al. (2001), Bélanger et al. (2003), Thiffault et al. (2006), Olsson et al. (1996b), Olsson et al. (2004), Staaf & Olsson (1991), Nykvist & Rosén (1985), Brais et al. (1995) and Belleau et al. (2006).

Table 14. Number of observations* (n=tot, nd=no data) showing higher (n=pos), lower (n=neg) or no (n=0) trend in **soil total concentrations** following clear-cutting. CH = conventional harvest, WTH = whole tree harvest, CTR = control. **Post-treatment differences**. In some cases concentration data is missing entirely. Consequently, these rows have been excluded from the table.

Comparison	Variable	Soil depth	Short-term (≤5)				Medium-term (6-14)				l	ong-terr	n (≥15)	
		(cm)	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0
WTH↔CTR	С	forest floor	nd				nd				1		1	
WTH↔CH	С	forest floor	nd				nd				2			2
WTH↔CTR	С	0-10	nd				nd				1			1
WTH↔CH	С	0-10	nd				nd				1			1
CH↔CTR	Ν	forest floor	3	1		2	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	Ν	forest floor	1		1		1			1	3	1		2
WTH↔CH	Ν	forest floor	2	1		1	nd				nd			
CH↔CTR	Ν	0-10	3			3	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	Ν	0-10	2			2	nd				nd			
WTH↔CH	Ν	0-10	3			3	nd				2			2
CH↔CTR	Ν	≥10	1			1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	Ν	≥10	1			1	nd				1			1
WTH↔CH	Ν	≥10	1			1	nd				1			1

*Johnson & Todd (1998), McLaughlin & Phillips (2006), Simard et al. (2001), Hendrickson et al. (1989) and Belleau et al. (2006).

Comparison	Variable	Soil depth	th Short-term (≤5)			Me	edium-te	rm (6-14)	l	Long-terr	n (≥15)		
		(cm)	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0
WTH↔CH	H ⁺	forest floor	nd				nd				8	3		5
WTH↔CH	H^+	0-10	nd				nd				8			8
WTH↔CH	H ⁺	≥10	nd				nd				4			4
WTH↔CH	CEC	forest floor	nd				nd				8		2	6
WTH↔CH	CEC	0-10	nd				nd				8			8
WTH↔CH	CEC	≥10	nd				nd				4			4
CH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	1			1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	2		2		2		2		1			1
WTH↔CH	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	5		2	3	nd				8		3	5
CH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	0-10	1			1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CH	Ca ²⁺	0-10	3			3	nd				8		3	5
WTH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	≥10	4		2	2	4		2	2	1	1		
WTH↔CH	Ca ²⁺	≥10	nd				nd				4		1	3
CH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	forest floor	1			1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	forest floor	2		1	1	2		1	1	1			1
WTH↔CH	Mg ²⁺	forest floor	5		2	3	nd				8	1	1	6
CH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	0-10	1			1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CH	Mg ²⁺	0-10	3			3	nd				8		2	6
CH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	≥10	4		2	2	4		2	2	nd			
WTH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	≥10	nd				nd				1			1
WTH↔CH	Mg ²⁺	≥10	nd				nd				4		1	3
CH↔CTR	K ⁺	forest floor	1			1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	K ⁺	forest floor	2		1	1	2		1	1	nd			
WTH↔CH	K ⁺	forest floor	9	1	7	1	2		2		10	1	3	6
CH↔CTR	K ⁺	0-10	1			1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CH	K ⁺	0-10	3		2	1	nd				8			8
WTH↔CTR	K ⁺	≥10	4	1		3	4	1		3	nd			
WTH↔CH	K ⁺	≥10	4	1	3		2	1	1		6	1	1	6

Table 15. Number of observations* (n=tot, nd=no data) showing higher (n=pos), lower (n=neg) or no (n=0) trend in **soil exchangeable pools** (kmol_c per hectare) following clear-cutting. CH = conventional harvest, WTH = whole tree harvest, CTR = control. **Post-treatment differences**. In some cases flux-data is missing entirely. Consequently, these rows have been excluded from the table.

* McLaughlin & Phillips (2006), Wall (2008), Olsson et al. (1996b), Nykvist (1977b), Nykvist (1990), Brais et al. (1995), and Belleau et al. (2006).

Table 16. Number of observations* (n=tot, nd=no data) showing higher (n=pos), lower (n=neg) or no (n=0) trend in **soil total pools** following clear-cutting. CH = conventional harvest, WTH = whole tree harvest, CTR = control. **Post-treatment differences**. In some cases flux-data is missing entirely. Consequently, these rows have been excluded from the table.

Comparison	Variable	Soil depth		Short-te	rm (≤5)		Me	edium-te	rm (6-14)		ong-teri	n (≥15)	
		(cm)	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0
WTH↔CTR	С	forest floor	nd				nd				1			1
WTH↔CH	С	forest floor	nd				nd				10	1		9
WTH↔CH	С	0-10	nd				nd				8			8
WTH↔CTR	С	≥10	nd				nd				1			1
WTH↔CH	С	≥10	nd				nd				15	1		14
CH↔CTR	Ν	forest floor	1			1	nd				nd			
WTH↔CTR	N	forest floor	nd				1			1	3	1		2
WTH↔CH	N	forest floor	8		6	2	nd				8	1	1	6
WTH↔CH	N	0-10	2			2	nd				8			8
WTH↔CTR	Ν	≥10	nd				nd				1			1
WTH↔CH	Ν	≥10	nd				nd				12			12

*Wall (2008), Simard et al. (2001), Olsson et al. (1996a), Olsson et al. (2004), Nykvist (1977a), Johnson et al. (2002) and McLaughlin & Phillips (2006).

7.3 Soil water, groundwater and stream water

In this chapter, short- and long-term clear-cutting effects on soil water, groundwater and stream water are compared with pre-harvest conditions and uncut control forests after two different harvest intensities (CH and WTH). The results are presented in four different tables with a distinction made between *concentrations* (Table 17 and Table 19) and *fluxes* (Table 18 and Table 20).

7.3.1 pH

There are few studies describing changes in pH after harvest compared with pre-harvest conditions. Regarding groundwater and stream water, observations after whole-tree harvest is missing entirely (Table 17). In addition, the medium- to long-term effects are largely unknown while the short-term (\leq 5 years) effects are better described.

In general, the short-term (\leq 5 years) cutting effects of stem-only harvest on forest floor soil water pH is non-significant in contrast to the mineral soil where decreased pH frequently has been reported in soil water (0-50 cm and \geq 50 cm), groundwater and stream water after stem-only harvest compared with pre-harvest conditions (Table 17). In contrast, following whole-tree harvest, soil water pH has been shown to increase during the first five years (Table 17). Ground-and stream water data describing treatment effects of whole-tree harvest is missing (Table 17).

Short- and medium-term decreases in soil water, groundwater and stream water pH are also observed when clear-cut areas (CH and WTH) are compared with uncut control plots (Table 19). Occasionally, statistically higher pH-values have been registered in soil water and stream water in harvested plots (CH and WTH) during the first five years (Table 19). Based on a few observations, the increase in pH may persist for more than 15 years following whole-tree harvest.

Short-term differences in harvest intensity (WTH and CH) are only available for soil water data (Table 19) Long-term data is missing entirely. Based on the data, no clear pattern is observed.

Studies comparing hydrogen ion fluxes with pre-harvest conditions are only available for stream water and based on a single Swedish study by Rosén et al. (1996) (Table 18). Following stemonly harvest, the H⁺ flux did not change but decreased after whole-tree harvest. Compared with uncut controls, short-term increases in stream water hydrogen fluxes have been found following stem-only harvest (Table 20). Compared with stem-only harvest, the flux of H+ seems to be lower after whole-tree harvest (Table 20).

7.3.2 Base cations (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺)

Short-term treatment effects on base cation concentrations and fluxes in soil water, and stream water are well described in the literature while groundwater data is largely lacking. In general, the concentration of base cations (Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+) increases following clear-cutting (whole-tree or stem-only) compared with pre-harvest conditions and non-harvested controls (Table 17 and Table 19). These increases are usually observed both in the soil water (throughout the soil profile), groundwater and stream water linked to mineralization and increased anion mobility, mostly NO_3^- . However, decreasing concentrations are frequently observed in soil water and groundwater indicating retention of these ions. In contrast, decreasing concentrations are seldom observed in stream water.

Data describing post-treatment concentration differences between harvest intensities (WTH and CH) are only available for soil water data. Lower concentrations of base cations, especially K⁺, following WTH compared with CH have been registered for more than 15 years (Table 19). This often coincides with lower concentrations of NO₃⁻ (chapter 7.3.3). However, there are also reports of short-term higher base cation leaching in soil water following whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only, both in the forest floor and mineral soil (\geq 50 cm, Table 19).

Soil water and stream water fluxes of base cations usually increase after cutting due to increased runoff (Table 18 and Table 20). These increases occur regardless of harvest intensity and may last more than 15 years according to stream water data (Table 20).

7.3.3 Anions $(NO_3^-, SO_4^{2-}, CI^- and DOC)$

There is a large number of observations in soil water, groundwater and stream water of cutting effects on NO₃⁻ concentrations and fluxes following clear- felling. In general, the NO₃⁻ concentrations increase compared with pre-harvest conditions and uncut control forests (Table 17 and Table 19). These increases are of short duration and have largely disappeared within five years although there are a few reports of medium- to long-term leaching to groundwater and stream water. In contrast to these results, clear-cutting has also been shown to cause decreased NO₃⁻ concentrations during the first five years, regardless of harvest methods (Table 17 and Table 19). Generally, these decreases take place in soil water, both in the forest floor and the mineral soil (\leq 50 cm and \geq 50 cm). Medium-term decreases are rare and there are no reports of long-term decreases (Table 17 and Table 19). In accordance to the observed NO₃⁻ concentration trends, short-term increases and decreases in NO₃⁻ fluxes have been observed in soil water and stream water following harvest (Table 18 and Table 20).

The data also show that the effect of cutting is more important for NO_3^- -concentrations than differences in harvest intensity (WTH and CH). However, whole-tree harvesting does not always show the same magnitude of increase as stem-only harvest. Compared with stem-only, whole-tree harvest exhibited lower NO_3^- concentrations in the forest floor (n=3) and mineral soil (n=6) (Table 19). No treatment differences have been observed in groundwater while stream water studies are lacking. There are reports of lower fluxes from the forest floor soil water (n=2) within 5 years after whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only, but in general there are no statistical significant differences (Figure 20).

Following clear-cutting, there is generally a short-term decrease in $SO_4^{2^2}$ -concentration in soil water, groundwater and stream water, regardless of harvest method (Table 17 and Table 19). Short-term increases in $SO_4^{2^2}$ -concentration have occasionally been found in soil water and stream water after whole-tree harvest compared with pre-harvest conditions and control forest. Based on a few observations, the medium- to long-term effects appear to be similar to the short-term (i.e. decreasing or lower $SO_4^{2^2}$ -concentrations). Treatment differences between WTH and CH indicate lower $SO_4^{2^2}$ -concentration following whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only (Table 19). In terms of $SO_4^{2^2}$ fluxes, they generally increase after cutting (Table 18 and Table 20).

Based on a few observations, the concentrations of Cl⁻ seem to decrease in soil water following stem-only and whole-tree harvest, while the trends in groundwater and stream water are more variable showing either up- or downward trends (Table 17 and Table 19). The long-term effects are poorly studied, although there are some reports of long-term Cl⁻ concentration decreases (Table 19). Generally, the soil- and stream water Cl⁻-fluxes increase following harvest (Table 18 and Table 20). The treatment effects between WTH and CH on the Cl⁻ concentrations and fluxes

are not well described in the literature. However, based on a few observations it appears that the differences are small and insignificant (Table 19 and Table 20).

Following stem-only harvest, the concentrations of DOC increase in soil water, groundwater and stream water during the first five years compared with pre-harvest data and uncut controls (Table 17 and Table 19). Similar results were found when comparing whole-tree harvested areas with uncut mature forests but not with the pre-harvest conditions (Table 17 and Table 19). Instead, there are a few reports of short-and long-term decreases in DOC-concentrations after WTH compared with the pre-cutting data (Table 17 and Table 19). Medium- to long-term harvest effects are largely unknown, but there are a few observations indicating increased concentrations, which may last up to fourteen years (Table 17 and Table 19). Based on few observations, the DOC fluxes in soil water (forest floor, 0-50 and \geq 50 cm) and stream water appear to increase after stem-only harvest compared with uncut controls (Table 20). Too few data are available for making meaningful comparisons with pre-harvest conditions (Table 18).

Comparisons between WTH and CH are seldom reported but according to a soil water (≥50 cm) study by Zetterberg et al. (2008), lower concentrations of DOC were found in the WTH plots after more than 15 years. However, the differences are generally non-significant (Table 19). There are too few observations to draw any conclusions on DOC flux differences between WTH and CH (Table 20).

	Comparison	Variable	Soil depth	Short-term (≤5)			M	edium-te	rm (6-14))	Long-term (≥15)				
	-		(cm)	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0
Soil water	СН	pН	forest floor	1			1	1	1			nd			
Soil water	CH	рН	0-50	2		2		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	рН	0-50	4	1		3	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	pН	≥50	2		2		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	pН	≥50	4	2		2	nd				nd			
Groundwater	CH	pН	-	3		2	1	2		2		nd			
Stream water	CH	pН	-	4	1	2	1	1		1		nd			
Soil water	CH	DOC	forest floor	1	1			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	DOC	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	DOC	0-50	1	1			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	DOC	0-50	2		1	1	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	DOC	≥50	1	1			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	DOC	≥50	2		2		nd				nd			
Groundwater	CH	DOC	-	3	2		1	2	2			nd			
Stream water	CH	DOC	-	11	11			1	1			nd			
Soil water	CH	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	Ca ²⁺	0-50	3	2	1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	Ca ²⁺	0-50	5	1	4		nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	Ca ²⁺	≥50	4	3	1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	Ca ²⁺	≥50	11	5	4	2	nd				nd			
Groundwater	CH	Ca ²⁺	-	4	1	2	1	2		2		nd			
Stream water	CH	Ca ²⁺	-	9	5		4	1		1		nd			
Stream water	WTH	Ca ²⁺	-	5	4		1	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	Mg ²⁺	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	Mg ²⁺	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	Mg ²⁺	0-50	3		3		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	Mg ²⁺	0-50	4		3	1	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	Mg ²⁺	≥50	3		3		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	Mg ²⁺	≥50	4		3	1	nd				nd			
Groundwater	CH	Mg ²⁺	-	4	2	1	1	2	1	1		nd			
Stream water	CH	Mg ²⁺	-	8	4		4	1		1		nd			
Stream water	WTH	Mg ²⁺	-	1			1	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	K ⁺	forest floor	1	1			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	K ⁺	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	K ⁺	0-50	3	1	2		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	K ⁺	0-50	4		2	2	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	K ⁺	≥50	4	2	2		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	K ⁺	≥50	9	2	5	2	nd				nd			
Groundwater	CH	K ⁺	-	4	2		2	2	2			nd			
Stream water	CH	K ⁺	-	8	4		4	1	1			nd			
Stream water	WTH	K+	-	5	5			nd				nd			

Table 17. Number of observations* (n=tot, nd=no data) showing increasing (n=pos), decreasing (n=neg) or no (n=0) trend in soil water, groundwater and stream water **concentration** following clear-cutting. CH = conventional harvest, WTH = whole tree harvest. **Pre- and post-treatment differences**. In some cases concentration data is missing entirely. Consequently, these rows have been excluded from the table.

Table 17. Continu	ued.														
	Comparison	Variable	Soil depth	Short-term (≤5)			Medium-term (6-14)				L	Long-teri	m (≥15)		
			(cm)	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0
Soil water	СН	SO42-	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	SO42-	0-50	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	SO42-	0-50	4		2	2	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	SO42-	≥50	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	SO42-	≥50	4	2	1	1	nd				nd			
Groundwater	CH	SO42-	-	4		3	1	2		2		nd			
Stream water	CH	SO42-	-	4		2	2	1		1		nd			
Stream water	WTH	SO42-	-	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	СН	Cl	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	Cl⁻	forest floor	1			1	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	Cl⁻	0-50	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	Cl⁻	≥50	1		1		nd				nd			
Groundwater	CH	Cl⁻	-	7	4	2	1	2		2		nd			
Stream water	CH	Cl⁻	-	4	1	2	1	1		1		nd			
Soil water	СН	NO ₃ ⁻	forest floor	2	2			1		1		nd			
Soil water	WTH	NO ₃ ⁻	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	NO₃ ⁻	0-50	3	3			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	NO ₃ ⁻	0-50	5	1	2	2	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	NO ₃ ⁻	≥50	5	5			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	NO ₃ ⁻	≥50	13	7	4	2	nd				nd			
Groundwater	CH	NO ₃ ⁻	-	13	10	2	1	4	4			nd			
Stream water	CH	NO ₃ ⁻	-	11	9	1	1	1	1			nd			
Stream water	WTH	NO ₃ ⁻	-	5	4		1	nd				nd			

*Soil water: Örlander et al. (1997), Westling et al. (2004), Stevens & Hornung (1988), Briggs et al. (2000), Katzensteiner (2003), Neal et al. (1992), Ranger et al. (2007), Parfitt et al. (2002), Mann et al. (1988), Jewett et al. (1995), Robertson et al. (2000); Welsch et al. (2004) and Rothe & Mellert (2004). Groundwater: Neal et al. (2004), Mannerkoski et al. (2005), Parfitt et al. (2002), Tamm et al. (1974), Wiklander (1974), Wiklander (1983), Tamm & Wiklander (1972), Welsch et al. (2004) and Rusanen et al. (2004). Stream water: Neal et al. (2004), Ahtiainen & Huttunen (1999), Parfitt et al. (2002), Wiklander (1974), Likens et al. (1970), Mann et al. (1988), Tiedemann et al. (1988), Welsch et al. (2004), Wang et al. (2006) and Jewett et al. (1995).

	Comparison	Variable	Soil depth		ʻm (≤5)		Medium-term (6-14))	Long-term (≥15)				
			(cm)	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0
Stream water	СН	H ⁺	-	1			1	1			1	nd			
Stream water	WTH	H ⁺	-	1		1		1		1		nd			
Soil water	CH	DOC	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	DOC	≥50	2	1	1		nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	Ca ²⁺	≥50	2	1	1		nd				nd			
Stream water	CH	Ca ²⁺	-	9	9			2	2			nd			
Stream water	WTH	Ca ²⁺	-	1	1			1	1			nd			
Soil water	CH	Mg ²⁺	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	Mg ²⁺	≥50	2	1	1		nd				nd			
Stream water	CH	Mg ²⁺	-	9	9			2	2			nd			
Stream water	WTH	Mg ²⁺	-	1	1			1	1			nd			
Soil water	CH	K ⁺	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	K ⁺	≥50	2	2			nd				nd			
Stream water	CH	K ⁺	-	9	9			2	2			nd			
Stream water	WTH	K ⁺	-	1	1			1	1			nd			
Soil water	CH	SO42-	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	SO42-	≥50	2	2			nd				nd			
Stream water	CH	SO42-	-	9	9			2	2			nd			
Stream water	WTH	SO42-	-	1	1			1	1			nd			
Soil water	WTH	Cl	≥50	2	2			nd				nd			
Stream water	CH	Cl	-	9	9			2	2			nd			
Stream water	WTH	Cl	-	1	1			1	1			nd			
Soil water	CH	NO₃ ⁻	0-50	4	4			nd				nd			
Soil water	CH	NO ₃ ⁻	≥50	2	2			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH	NO ₃ ⁻	≥50	2	1	1		nd	_			nd			
Stream water	CH	NO ₃ ⁻	-	11	11			2	2			nd			
Stream water	WTH	NO ₂ ⁻	-	1 1	1			1	1			l nd			

Table 18. Number of observations* (n=tot, nd=no data) showing increasing (n=pos), decreasing (n=neg) or no (n=0) trend in soil water, groundwater and stream water **fluxes** following clear-cutting. CH = conventional harvest, WTH = whole tree harvest. **Pre- and post-treatment differences**. Groundwater fluxes are missing entirely compared with soil water and stream water fluxes which occasionally are missing for some variables and treatment. Consequently, these rows have been excluded from the table.

*Soil water: Stevens & Hornung (1988), Katzensteiner (2003) and Ranger et al. (2007). Stream water: Rosén et al. (1996). Ahtiainen (1992), Ahtiainen & Huttunen (1999), Likens et al. (1970), Swank et al. (2001) and Welsch et al. (2004).

	Comparison	Variable	Soil depth	Short-term (≤5)			Medium-term (6-14)				Long-term (≥15)				
			(cm)	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0
Soil water	CH↔CTR	pН	forest floor	3		1	2	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	pН	forest floor	4		3	1	2		1	1	nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	pН	forest floor	2		1	1	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	pН	0-50	4	2		2	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	рН	0-50	6	2	4		1		1		1	1		
Soil water	WTH↔CH	рН	0-50	1	1			nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	рН	≥50	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	рН	≥50	1	1			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	рН	≥50	2	1	1		nd				5		1	4
Groundwater	CH↔CTR	рН	-	2		1	1	1		1		nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	pH	-	20	3	9	8	1		1		nd			
Stream water	WTH↔CTR	рН	-	8		8		5	2	3		1	1		
Soil water	CH↔CTR	DOC	forest floor	3	3			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	DOC	forest floor	3	2		1	1			1	nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	DOC	0-50	7	5		2	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	DOC	0-50	6	4	1	1	2	1		1	1		1	
Soil water	CH↔CTR	DOC	≥50	1			1	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	DOC	≥50	nd				2		1	1	5		1	4
Groundwater	CH↔CTR	DOC	-	2	1		1	1	1			nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	DOC	-	6	3		3	1	1			nd			
Stream water	WTH↔CTR	DOC	-	3	3			3	3			nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	3	1		2	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	4	3		1	2	1		1	nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	3	1	1	1	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	0-50	4			4	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	0-50	7	7			2	2			1		1	
Soil water	CH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	≥50	4	3		1	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	≥50	4	3	1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	Ca ²⁺	≥50	5	1	3	1	2		2		5		3	2
Groundwater	CH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	-	2		1	1	1		1		nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	-	21	11	2	8	3	2	1		2	2		
Stream water	WTH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	-	4	4			3	2		1	1	1		
Soil water	CH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	forest floor	3	2		1	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	forest floor	4	3		1	2	1		1	nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	Mg ²⁺	forest floor	2			2	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	0-50	4	3		1	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	0-50	7	6		1	2	2			1		1	
Soil water	CH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	≥50	4	3		1	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	≥50	4	4			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	Mg ²⁺	≥50	4	2	1	1	2		1	1	5		2	3
Groundwater	CH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	-	2		1	1	1		1		nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	-	16	7	2	7	1		1		nd			
Stream water	WTH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	-	3	2		1	1	1			1	1		

Table 19. Number of observations* (n=tot, nd=no data) showing higher (n=pos), lower (n=neg) or no (n=0) trend in soil water, groundwater and stream water **concentrations** following clear-cutting. CH=conventional harvest, WTH=whole tree harvest, CTR=control. **Post-treatment differences**. In some cases concentration data is missing entirely. Consequently, these rows have been excluded from the table.

	Comparison	Variable	Soil depth	Short-term (≤5)			Medium-term (6-14)				Long-term (≥15)				
			(cm)	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0
Soil water	CH↔CTR	K ⁺	forest floor	3	2		1	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	K ⁺	forest floor	7	6		1	2	1		1	nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	K ⁺	forest floor	3	1	1	1	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	K ⁺	0-50	4	4			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	K ⁺	0-50	14	12		2	10	9		1	1		1	
Soil water	WTH↔CH	K ⁺	0-50	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	K ⁺	≥50	4	4			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	K ⁺	≥50	4	3	1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	K ⁺	≥50	5	2	3		2		2		5		1	4
Groundwater	CH↔CTR	K ⁺	-	2	1		1	1	1			nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	K ⁺	-	22	21		1	2	2			1	1		
Stream water	WTH↔CTR	K+	-	7	7			5	5			1			1
Soil water	CH↔CTR	SO42-	forest floor	2		2		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	SO42-	forest floor	4	3		1	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	SO42-	0-50	4		2	2	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	SO42-	0-50	8	2	3	3	4	1		3	1		1	
Soil water	WTH↔CH	SO42-	≥50	nd				nd		1	1	5		3	2
Groundwater	CH↔CTR	SO42-	-	2		1	1	1		1		nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	SO42-	-	11		8	3	1		1		nd			
Stream water	WTH↔CTR	SO42-	-	8	3	5		3	3			1		1	
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	Cl⁻	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	Cl	0-50	1			1	nd				1		1	
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	Cl	≥50	nd				nd		1	1	nd			
Groundwater	CH↔CTR	Cl	-	3	2	1		1		1		nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	Cl	-	8	4	2	2	1		1		nd			
Stream water	WTH↔CTR	Cl⁻	-	2	1		1	nd				1			1
Soil water	CH↔CTR	NO₃ ⁻	forest floor	3	3			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	NO₃ ⁻	forest floor	5	4		1	3	3			nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	NO₃ [−]	forest floor	5		3	2	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	NO ₃ ⁻	0-50	4	4			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	NO₃ ⁻	0-50	11	11			1	1			1			1
Soil water	WTH↔CH	NO₃ ⁻	0-50	5		2	3	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	NO₃ ⁻	≥50	4	3	1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CTR	NO₃ [−]	≥50	4	2	1	1	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	NO₃ [−]	≥50	6	1	4	1	2				nd			
Groundwater	CH↔CTR	NO₃ [−]	-	6	5		1	4	4			nd			
Groundwater	WTH↔CTR	NO₃ [−]	-	2	2			2	2			nd			
Groundwater	WTH↔CH	NO₃⁻	-	2			2	2			2	nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	NO₃ [−]	-	29	26		3	4	4			2	2		
Stream water	WTH↔CTR	NO ₃ ⁻	-	8	8			2		1	1	1			1

Table 19. Continued.

*Soli water: Stata & Olsson (1994), Westling et al. (2004), Ring et al. (2001), Dahlgren & Driscoll (1994), Romanowicz et al. (1996), Hendrickson et al. (1987), Stevens et al. (1995), Tituts et al. (1997), Piirainen et al. (2002), Piirainen et al. (2004), McLauglin & Phillips (2006), Wall (2008), Rosén & Lundmark-Thelin (1987), Hornbeck & Kropelin (1982), Högbom et al. (manuscript), Mitchell et al. (1989), McClurkin et al. (1987), Zetterberg et al., (2008), Katzensteiner (2003) and Qualls et al. (2000). Groundwater: Neal et al. (2004), Mannerkoski et al. (2005), Kubin (1988) and Wiklander (1974). Stream water: Bormann et al. (1968), Dahlgren & Driscoll (1994), Romanowicz et al. (2009), Briggs et al. (2000), McLauglin & Phillips (2006), Harr & Fredriksen (1988), Dahlgren & Driscoll (1994), Romanowicz et al. (2009), Martin et al. (2009), Neal et al. (2004), Stevens et al. (1995), Tremblay et al. (2009), Briggs et al. (2000), McLauglin & Phillips (2006), Harr & Fredriksen (1988), Adamson et al (1987), Adamson & Hornung (1990), Martin et al. (2000), Hornbeck & Kropelin (1982), Mitchell et al. (1987), Lawrence et al. (1987), Martin & Pierce (1980), Patric & Aubertin (1977), Swank et al. (2001), Löfgren et al (2009), Grip (1982) and Kubin (1995).
Table 20. Number of observations* (n=tot, nd=no data) showing higher (n=pos), lower (n=neg) or no (n=0) trend in soil water, groundwater and stream water								
fluxes following clear-cutting. CH=conventional harvest, WTH=whole tree harvest, CTR=control. Post- treatment differences. Groundwater fluxes are missing								
entirely compared with soil water and stream water fluxes which occasionally are missing for some variables and treatment. Consequently, these rows have been								
excluded from the table.								

	Comparison	Variable	Soil depth	Short-term (≤5)			Medium-term (6-14)				Long-term (≥15)				
			(cm)	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0	n=tot	n=pos	n=neg	n=0
Soil water	WTH↔CH	H ⁺	forest floor	1		1		nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	H ⁺	≥50	2		1	1	2		1	1	nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	H ⁺	-	1	1			nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	DOC	forest floor	3	3			nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	DOC	0-50	7	6		1	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	DOC	≥50	2		1	1	2		1	1	nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	5	2		3	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	Ca ²⁺	forest floor	3		2	1	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	0-50	7	1	3	3	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	Ca ²⁺	≥50	2			2	2			2	nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	-	5	3		2	1	1			nd			
Stream water	WTH↔CTR	Ca ²⁺	-	9	9			1	1			1	1		
Soil water	CH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	forest floor	5	2		3	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	Mg ²⁺	forest floor	1			1	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	0-50	7	1	3	3	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	Mg ²⁺	≥50	2			2	2			2	nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	-	5	3		2	1	1			nd			
Stream water	WTH↔CTR	Mg ²⁺	-	9	9			1	1			1	1		
Soil water	CH↔CTR	K ⁺	forest floor	5	3		2	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	K ⁺	forest floor	3		2	1	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	K ⁺	0-50	7	2	3	2	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	K ⁺	≥50	2		1	1	2		1	1	nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	K ⁺	-	7	7			1	1			nd			
Stream water	WTH↔CTR	K ⁺	-	9	9			1	1			1			1
Soil water	CH↔CTR	SO42-	forest floor	5	3		2	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	SO42-	0-50	4	4			nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	SO42-	≥50	2			2	2			2	nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	SO42-	-	5	4		1	1	1			nd			_
Stream water	WTH↔CTR	SO4 ²⁻	-	9	8	1		1	1			1		1	
Soil water	WTH↔CH	Cl	≥50	2			2	2			2	nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	Cl	-	5	5			1	1			nd			
Stream water	WTH↔CTR	Cl	-	8	5	3		1	1			1			1
Soil water	CH↔CTR	NO₃ ⁻	forest floor	5		2	3	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	NO₃ ⁻	forest floor	4		2	2	nd				nd			
Soil water	CH↔CTR	NO₃ ⁻	0-50	7	1		6	nd				nd			
Soil water	WTH↔CH	NO₃ ⁻	≥50	2			2	2			2	nd			
Stream water	CH↔CTR	NO ₃ ⁻	-	7	7			1	1			nd			
Stream water	WTH↔CTR	NO₃ ⁻	-	9	8	1		1	1			1			1

*Soil water: Örlander et al. (1997), Stevens et al. (1995), Emmett et al. (1991), Piirainen et al. (2002), Piirainen et al. (2004), Wall (2008), Feller (2000) and Qualls et al. (2000). Stream water: Hornbeck et al. (1990), Stevens et al. (1995), McLaughlin & Phillips (2006), Adamson et al (1987), Adamson & Hornung (1990), Haveraaen (1981), Lawrence et al. (1987), Rosén et al. (1996) and Löfgren et al (2009b).

8 Discussion

8.1 Hydrology

Following harvest in final felling the total leaf area of the catchment is drastically reduced affecting abiotic factors such as light, temperature, moisture and wind. In addition, the dry deposition of nutrient and pollutants decreases. A decrease in evapotranspiration and/or aerodynamic resistance (the movement of evaporating water from the forest floor to the air) will lead to an increase in runoff (Grip, 1982) in accordance with the water balance equation (Equation 11).

In Swedish forest till soils, an increase in soil- and groundwater tables will lead to an increase in runoff as the soil water reaches horizons with higher hydraulic conductivity (Figure 22). This will in turn change the chemical composition of stream water leading to an increase of TOC and a decrease in Ca²⁺ (Bishop et al., 2004). In addition, an increase in soil water table may lead to reduced conditions affecting the redox processes and consequently, ion concentrations. For example, increasing the anaerobic zone may lead to denitrification and prevent a build-up of NO_3^- (e.g. Vitousek et al., 1979).

8.1.1 Soil water and groundwater tables

There are few documented effects on soil water and groundwater levels following harvest. Most of them come from the Nordic countries. For example, Lundin (1979) studied short-term changes (0-3 years) in soil water and groundwater following stem-only harvest in Sweden. During this period soil water levels increased between 5-46 mm and ground water between 14-96 cm depending on site and terrain. In general, the largest increase occurred immediately following clear-cut and in sites located at the bottom or middle part of the terrain. The study was carried out during the growing season (May to September). Heikurainen & Päivänen (1970) observed increased groundwater tables in mires immediately following clear-cutting during a two-year study period in Finland. Based on a large number of measurements, a relationship between runoff and groundwater tables could be established (Figure 23). According to the empirical results, the groundwater table rise ranged between 5.3 cm and 13.7 cm at a depth of 25 and 55 cm. In a drainage experiment in UK, Pyatt et al (1985) observed a small increase in groundwater level four years after harvesting (growing season) ranging between 4.7 cm to 34.7 cm.



Figure 23. The relationship between runoff (cm³ per min) and groundwater table (cm). From Heikurainen & Päivänen, 1970.

In contrast to these results, Mannerkoski et al. (2005) could not detect any significant short-term (0-5 years) changes in groundwater level following stem-only harvest at five research sites in Finland, regardless of the location of the wells (mineral soil, peat land and till under peat). Individual changes were only noted for one well where the groundwater level decreased with 5 cm. The absence of groundwater response could be explained by firstly; the wells were located below the harvested area and secondly; only 10-30% of the catchments were harvested. Rusanen et al. (2004) investigated long-term (15-22 years) effects on groundwater tables and did not find any changes in groundwater tables of large aquifers after progressive felling covering 35-66 % of the recharge area. The non-saturated volumes of these aquifers were probably too large to allow for detection of small changes in groundwater recharge.

Up to this point, changes in soil water and groundwater following harvest in upland mineral soils have been discussed. However, harvest may also take place on forested wetland areas. Lundin (1999) described the hydrological changes in discharge areas (wet mineral soils or peat lands). Following harvest of five catchments, the groundwater levels rose by 0-17 cm during the first four years at one research site and by 0-13 cm during the first two years at the other site. As a result of increased groundwater tables, the annual stream runoff from the catchments increased by 4 to 125 mm or by 16-36%. No differences could be detected between harvest intensity (traditional clear-cutting or with saved shelter wood).

8.1.2 Stream runoff

Short-term stream runoff changes following clear-cutting have frequently been reported. In the Nordic countries, Kilhberg (1958) reported an increase in runoff of 90 mm per year but the validity of these results have been questioned by Grip (1987) since leakage took place at the weir. However, this would lead to an underestimation of the harvest effects. In comparison, Rosén (1984) reported increases in runoff during the first two years varying between 215-371 mm per year following clear-cutting. No difference could be seen with respect to harvest intensity (WTH \leftrightarrow CH) even though it was speculated that interception would be higher on sites with slash resulting in increased runoff. One reason for this could be due to differences in areal extent of the cutting. In the stem-only harvested area only 70% were logged compared with the whole-tree harvested catchment where all the trees were taken down (100%). Eight years later, increases were still noticed in the same areas varying between 220-274 mm per year as a mean over the eight year post-harvesting period (Rosén et al., 1996). Grip (1982) measured an increase in annual stream flow of 184 mm per year two years after stem-only harvest while Brandt et al. (1988) modelled increases varying between 165-220 mm per year using the PULSEmodel. Sørensen et al. (2009) observed an initial increase in runoff following stem-only harvesting. Compared with an uncut control area, the runoff increased by 253 and 254 mm during the first and second year after harvest. This was caused in part by greater snow accumulation on the clear-cut sites. These Swedish results are in line with a Norwegian study by Haveraaen (1981) who documented increases between 200-250 mm per year two years after stem-only harvesting.

There are numerous studies describing short-term increases in runoff after cutting in Europe (e.g. Robinson & Dupeyrat, 2005; Adamson et al., 1987) and USA (e.g. Patric & Aubertin, 1977; Hornbeck et al., 1990; Briggs et al., 2000). For example, in the USA, Bormann et al. (1968) observed an increase in runoff by 40% one year after whole-tree harvest and herbicide treatment in the Hubbard Brook Experimental Area. Two years later the increase in runoff had decreased from 330 to 270 mm per year but was still elevated (Likens et al., 1970). In the same area Martin et al. (2000) found evidence of increased runoff in two harvested areas (strip cut and whole-tree harvesting). In the strip-cut catchment, the annual runoff increased significantly

between 46-114 mm during the first seven years, followed by a decrease the next 8-27 years. The effects of whole-tree harvesting were not as clear. Significant increases of 51-152 mm were observed in the first, seventh, eight and thirteenth year after harvest. In the fourteenth year, no differences could be found.

Swank et al. (2001) reported long-term changes in annual stream runoff (31 years). Immediately following harvesting, the annual stream flow increased as a result of reduced evapotranspiration and thereafter decreased exponentially with time due to revegetation. During year 12-14 a number of trees died resulting in a temporary increase in runoff. In general, monthly increases occurred throughout the year but were not as high during spring flood (when soil water storage is high) compared with summer months where the largest increases were observed. Based on 250 catchment studies worldwide, Zhang et al. (2001) used a hydrological model to assess the long-term effect on water yield both in forests and grasslands.

Increases in runoff following cutting are not always observed. For example, Wang et al. (2006) could not find any significant increases in stream runoff (although there were strong indications) in spite of the fact that the lower two-thirds of the catchment were harvested and no efforts were made to keep a buffer zone. However, harvesting was carried out using a shelter wood technique, keeping up the transpiration rates. In Canada, Jewett et al. (1995) only saw minor changes (<10% for the first 12 years) following stem-only harvesting. The lack of response was attributed to a reduction in snow catch efficiency, reduced vegetation efficiency of fog and cloud water, decreased albedo affecting evaporation and soil disturbances (e.g. road tracks) which could have diverted water from the weir. In addition, Caissie et al. (2002) could not detect any changes in annual runoff two years after 2.3% of the catchment was harvested, but found increases in summer peak flows when 23.4% of an adjacent catchment was clear-cut.

Harvesting effects on annual runoff have been shown to vary according to season. For example, Rosén (1984) found that the largest increase took place during the snowmelt and snow-free period (i.e. spring and summer). Larger snow accumulation during winter and reduced transpiration and aerodynamic resistance during summer are suggested mechanisms. During winter, no differences in runoff were noticed. These results are partly in agreement with those of Grip (1982) who observed the largest increases during summer (74 mm) and snowmelt (44 mm) but also a small increase during winter (19 mm). In addition, Brandt et al. (1988) modelled that the largest increase would occur during spring flood (50-120 mm) compared with the summer period (75-95 mm). Sørensen et al. (2009) did not find any statistical differences during base flow (except for spring-flood), which means that the increase in runoff took place during base flow (39 and 51 mm during year 1 and 2, respectively) and intermediate flow (58 and 51 mm during year 1 and 2, respectively). As a consequence, the largest increase was observed during the growing season with a successive decrease as summer turned into autumn. During the winter, small increases of 12 mm and 26 mm were recorded. Likens et al., (1970) also observed increases in base flow during summer and earlier snowmelt.

Harvesting effects may also change the peak (storm) flow magnitude and duration. For example, Guillemette et al. (2005) compared the results from a clear-felling experiment in Canada on rainfall generated peak flows with the results from 50 experiments across the world. Harvesting covering over 85% of a conifer-dominating catchment resulted in an increase in max peak flow of 57% and a mean peak flow increase of 54% and 36% for the smaller storm flows during a five-year period. These increases were noted even before the felling was fully completed. Compared with the 50 worldwide experiments these increases were in the upper end (average 49%, 70-100% clear felled area) probably owing to a modification of flow paths via skid trails and

ditches. Martin et al (2000) also found moderate peak flow increases, which had disappeared within 4-6 years as new vegetation had established. The increase in runoff occurred as an increase in base flow during the growing season. However, Robinson & Dupeyrat (2005) found a general increase in low flows (Q_{95}) between 5 to 15 mm and no change in peak flow. Also, in a study by Patric and Aubertin (1977), runoff changes occurred mainly during the growing season and no change in peak-flow was observed. Swank et al. (2001) found significant changes in the flow prior to a storm, quick flow volume, peak flow rate, storm duration and recession time were higher following harvesting. The only parameter unaffected was the peak flow timing.

To summarize, one of the most noticeable effects following harvest is an increase in soil- and groundwater tables leading to increased runoff. However, the top-most soil usually becomes drier as a result from increased soil temperatures (e.g. Yanai et al., 2003). In most studies, short-term (usually less than five years) increases in annual runoff were reported ranging between 10 and 450 mm (Table 8). In the Nordic countries increases between 90-371 mm (average 212 mm) have been observed. However, in some studies no harvesting effects were observed (e.g. Jewett et al., 1995; Wang et al., 2006; Caissie et al., 2005) and in one case (Martin et al., 2000), stream runoff decreased compared with pre-harvest conditions most likely due to a rapid-growing young forest stand. The runoff increases are usually attributed to larger snow packs during winter, decreased evapotranspiration during summer and decreased aerodynamic resistance. There are also seasonal variations and reports of changes in peak flow (e.g. Guillemette et al., 2005; Martin et al., 2000; Swank et al., 2001) while other report no change (e.g. Patric & Aubertin, 1977; Sørensen et al., 2009; Robinson & Dupeyrat, 2005).

The largest runoff increase seems to take place during base flow conditions (i.e. during the growing season) when the evapotranspiration in growing forests peak (Swank et al., 1988). The effect magnitude depends on a number of factors and the most important seems to be the proportion of the catchment being harvested (Brown et al., 2005). No differences could, however, be seen between stem-only and whole-tree harvesting (Rosén, 1984) although shelter wood harvesting seems to cause only minor effects (Caissie et al., 2002). With time, the runoff returns to pre-harvest conditions as new vegetation is established, although long-term effects (>20 years) have been observed (e.g. Hibbert, 1967).

8.2 pH and H^+

There are a number of natural soil reactions that can lower or increase the pH. For instant, plant respiration, dissociation of organic acids, vegetation uptake of cations, sulfide oxidation, and nitrification are examples of natural acidifying processes (Brady & Weil, 1996). In addition to these processes, anthropogenic acid deposition has caused soil and surface water acidification. Weathering of silicates, carbonates, Al- and Fe-hydroxides, cation exchange processes, SO_4^{2-} adsorption and vegetation uptake of anions are examples of buffering mechanisms acting to prevent the pH to decrease (Brady & Weil, 1996).

In a review by Binkley and Högberg (1997) it was shown that the pH of Swedish forest soils have decreased over a period of decades, often related to increasing stand age. The decrease corresponds to increased ionic strength of the soil solution (e.g. via deposition of sulfate), reduced base saturation (via plant uptake and leaching losses) and soil organic matter increases (acting as an acid, increases the acid strength and providing more exchange sites). Thus, a decrease in pH may result from a number of factors acting independently or together.

8.2.1 Soils

The data suggests that harvest effects on soil exchangeable pools (H⁺) are generally small and mostly non-significant. However, the short-term effect on soil pH can be high. Statistically significant treatment differences between clear-cut and mature forests (pre- and postharvest or cut with uncut) are most frequently reported during the first five years when soil pH usually increases, both in the forest floor and in the mineral soil. For example, Hendrickson et al. (1989) measured significantly higher pH-values in the forest floor (+0.3 to +0.4 units) and mineral soil (+0.3 to +0.4 units) three years after harvesting (both stem-only and whole-tree) compared with an adjacent growing control forest. They discussed the possibility of increased concentrations of Ca²⁺, which could have replaced H⁺ on the soil exchangeable complex. Belleau et al. (2006) observed a temporary increase in forest floor pH of +0.9 units two years after stem-only harvest which coincided with higher base cation concentrations, base saturation and CEC_{eff}. However, by the third year statistical differences could no longer be found (which has been used in this review in order to avoid duplicates). According to the reviewed material, short-term increases in forest floor pH vary between +0.3 to +0.9 units (n=3, CH and WTH).

Medium- to long-term increases was reported by Simard et al. (2001) who measured an increase in forest floor pH of circa +0.2 units up to sixteen years after whole-tree harvest compared with an uncut mature forest as a result of increased concentrations of Ca²⁺ and lower nitrification rates. Katzensteiner (2003) observed a medium-term increase in the forest floor by more than one unit after stem-only harvest compared with preharvest conditions. This was attributed to a liming effect caused by the mixing of the forest floor with Ca-rich surface debris and increased bioturbation.

Ranger et al. (2008) and Johnson et al. (1991b) reported short-term pH increases in the mineral soil. Ranger et al. (2008) observed increases (down to 45 cm) varying between +0.1 and +0.2 pH-units (H₂O) three years after whole-tree harvesting of an acid forest soil. Significant shortterm increases were also observed when measuring pH in a salt solution (KCl) but after three years no difference could be detected compared with pre-harvest conditions. No reasons were given for the observed increase. However, before cutting the nitrification rate was high and decreased significantly after cutting. Ceased nitrification could have caused the increased pH. In comparison, Johnson et al. (1991b) observed a small increase of +0.1 units in the Bs-horizon of a Podzol, three years after whole-tree harvest of a northern hardwood forest. They explained the results by a mixing of the forest floor with the mineral soil, which lead to an accelerated decomposition. In a later study by Johnson et al. (1997) in the same study area, the pH had increased further by +0.2 to +0.3 units compared with pre-harvest conditions. Long-term changes in the mineral soil is reported by McLaughlin & Phillips (2006) who observed an increase in pH of +0.6 units in the mineral soil, 16-17 years after WTH resulting from higher CEC_{eff} and higher cation adsorption. Based on the reviewed material the observed mineral soil short-term increases vary between +0.1 to +0.4 pH-units (n=9, CH and WTH).

Short- and long-term decreases in soil pH after harvest (both in the forest floor and in the mineral soil) have been reported in a small number of studies. With time, the pH starts to decrease in the forest floor as a result of natural biological acidification. For example, in a chronosequence studied by Katzensteiner (2003) the pH in the LF- and H-horizon of a 140-year old forest stand was -0.6 and -1.1 units lower, respectively, compared with a 10-year old stand which was cut using conventional harvest methods. Johnson et al. (1991b) measured short-term (<3 years) decreases in the mineral soil pH (E- and Bh-horizon) varying between -0.2 and -0.3 units. Decreases in mineral soil pH appeared to be linked to nitrification during which time H⁺ is produced and partly consumed via aluminium buffering (see references in Johnson et al., 1991b to Lawrence et al, 1987 and Fuller et al., 1987). Brais et al. (1995) reported short- and mediumterm decreases in the forest floor and mineral soil (down to 20 cm) after whole-tree harvest of a mixed softwood/hardwood forest. The effects were most pronounced on moist soils where pH decreased between -0.6 and -0.8 units in all soil layers. On dry to fresh sites, pH decreased significantly in the 10-20 cm soil layer. An increased water table after clear-cutting on the moist sites could have slowed down mineralization and the release of base cations. The pH decrease on dry to fresh sites was more difficult to explain since no differences in nitrification rates could be found between treatments.

Generally, the differences between whole-tree and stem-only harvest (WTH \leftrightarrow CH) are insignificant both in the short- and the long-term (Hendrickson et al., 1989; Wall, 2008; Bélanger et al., 2003; Thiffault et al., 2006; Belleu et al., 2006 and Hendrickson et al., 1989). However, there have been some medium- to long-term observations of lower forest floor pH after WTH. For example, Staaf & Olsson (1991) found a decrease in pH varying between -0.2 to -0.4 units in the humus layer 7-9 years after whole-tree harvest. No treatment differences were found in the mineral soil (0-5 and 5-10 cm). Considering that the sites were already quite acidic (pH ca. 4.0 at three out of four sites) the small change in pH was likely to be of minor importance (Staaf & Olsson, 1991), however, corresponding to large amounts of H^+ . Resampling of the same sites after 15-16 and 30 years (Olsson et al., 1996b; 2004) did not show any significant treatment differences. Thus, the initial decrease in pH was only temporary. Nykvist & Rosén (1985) got similar results. Following WTH, the pH in the humus layer was significantly lower (-0.1 to -0.3 units in the pH-interval 4.2 to 4.7) in 4 out of 9 sites 6-21 years after final cutting. The same trend was observed at two other research sites although not statistically significant (Nykvist & Rosén, 1985 and Nykvist, 1990). No effect could be found in the mineral soil. In terms of pools, Olsson et al. (1996b) found significantly higher accumulation of exchangeable H^+ in the forest floor (but not the mineral soil) 15-16 years after whole-tree compared with stem-only harvesting.

8.2.2 Soil water, groundwater and stream water

After cutting, the pH in soil water, groundwater and stream water often decreases as a result of increased nitrification during the clear-cut phase. For example, Jewett et al. (1995) measured a short-term (5 years) decrease in soil water pH at 15-90 cm depth after stem-only cutting compared with pre-harvest conditions. The drop in pH was consistent with an increase in NO_3^- concentrations, especially below hardwood and mixed forests. Hendrickson et al. (1989) reported a significant short-term (3 years) pH decrease after stem-only and whole-tree harvest in forest floor leachate and mineral soil water (100 cm) compared with a control forest. The pH drop coincided with increased NO_3^- concentrations. Dahlgren & Driscoll (1994) and Ring et al. (2001) observed similar results following whole-tree harvest.

In contrast to these results, Ranger et al. (2007) observed a short-term increase in soil water pH of +0.2 to +0.8 units following whole-tree harvest compared with pre-harvest conditions. The limited effects on other elements were unexpected and it was hypothesized that the presence of Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii F.*) stimulated nitrifiers and by removing the trees their activity decreased. In Finland, Piirainen et al. (2004) measured a short-term increase in soil water pH in the E- and B-horizon following stem-only harvest compared with an uncut forest. In this area, nitrification is small after cutting (Piirainen et al., 2002) and probably not significantly affecting pH. Mineralization and decomposition releasing base cations could be the reason for the observed pH increase.

A long-term change in soil water pH is reported by McLaughlin & Phillips (2006). Following whole-tree harvest, the pH increased in a regenerating stand compared with a control forest, 16-18 years after harvest. After such a long time, nitrification was of a minor importance. Instead, increased weathering, changes in soil organic matter chemistry and a mixing of the organic horizon with the mineral soil acting to increase the soil exchangeable pool of Ca²⁺ was suggested to be responsible for the higher pH.

Changes in groundwater pH after cutting are not well described in the literature and only available for stem-only harvest. In Finland, Rusanen et al. (2004) did not find any changes in spring water from large aquifers after stem-only cutting compared with pre-harvest conditions. Neal et al. (2004) observed a decrease in pH in the groundwater six years after stem-only harvest compared with pre-harvest conditions and a control forest. This decrease was consistent with the results from stream water measurements in the same area where pH dropped by 0.3 and 0.4 units up to six years after harvest as a result of increased NO_3^- concentrations. However, compared with stream water, the pH in groundwater was lower due to higher levels of carbon dioxide. As the groundwater discharge into the streambed, carbon dioxide degasses and stream water pH increases. In contrast, Mannerkoski et al. (2006) did not find any significant pH differences after cutting compared with a control forest.

Short-term decreases in stream water pH have been reported in many parts of the world. For example, Likens et al. (1970) observed a decrease by 0.7 units two years after stem-only harvest compared with pre-harvest conditions. Neal et al. (1992) got similar results. During the first two years after stem-only cutting, stream pH dropped by 0.7 units before it returning to preharvest levels. The stream water pH decrease only occurred during base flow conditions when pH normally is at its highest. Tremblay et al. (2009) measured a decrease in pH varying between 0.1 and 0.4 units compared with a control stream. The small change in pH did not indicate any substantial nitrification although NO₃⁻ concentrations increased slightly (mean increase of 0.4 mg per litre) compared with pre-harvest values. Nitrification and/or a release of organic acids from logging debris were considered to have caused the drop in pH. Neal et al. (2004), Lawrence et al. (1987) and Romanowicz et al. (1996) have also reported decreased pH and increased NO₃⁻ concentrations in stream water after stem-only and whole-tree harvesting.

In contrast to these results, Parfitt et al. (2002) did not observe any change in soil water pH (at soil depths of 10 and 60 cm) over a four-year study period after stem-only cutting, while stream water pH in the same study area increased compared with pre-harvest conditions. This increase was consistent with an increase in bicarbonate concentration resulting from an invasion of weed and grass. Grip (1982) and Kubin (1998) also reported small short-term increases in stream water pH after stem-only cutting, while McLaughlin & Phillips (2006) have recorded a long-term (16-18 years) increase. Compared with a control stream, the stream water pH was circa one unit higher after whole-tree harvesting. The lower pH (6.1) of the reference stand (77-85 years old) was associated with lower base cations pools and water fluxes most likely the result of long-term DOC- and SO₄-leaching. Additionally, the CEC_{eff} increases of the regenerating stand offer more exchange sites to which base cations can adsorb (J. McLaughlin, written communication).

Changes in soil water, groundwater and stream water pH following differences in harvest intensities (WTH and CH) are not well described and do not include medium- to long-term effects. No clear pattern has been found. For example, Wall (2008) did not find any significant soil water pH differences in forest floor leachates between whole-tree and stem-only harvest plots, while Staaf & Olsson (1994) measured higher pH after whole-tree harvesting compared with stem-only during a five year post-cutting period. In contrast, Högbom et al. (manuscript) found that the pH in soil water at 50 cm depths was lower when comparing whole-tree harvest with stem-only. Hendrickson et al. (1989) reported both lower and higher pH values in the leachate from the forest floor and mineral soil, respectively, after whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only.

There are few studies describing changes in H⁺ flux and they only report short- to medium-term changes in soil water and stream water. Lower hydrogen fluxes from soil water in the forest floor (Emmett et al., 1991) and in the mineral soil below 50 cm (Örlander et al., 1997) have been reported after whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only. Due to the short duration of these studies the long-term effect is unknown. By removing logging residues, the potential for nitrification decreases which lowers the production of H⁺. At the same time, stream runoff generally increases. For example, Rosén et al. (1996) reported a runoff increase by 274 mm and decreased H⁺ and NO₃⁻ concentrations. This caused a short- to medium-term decrease of 0.2 kg H⁺ per hectare in stream water following whole-tree harvest, but not stem-only, compared with pre-harvest conditions.

There is no clear pattern regarding stand characteristics between sites responding with a change in soil pH after harvest. Increases, decreases or no change in pH have been observed both in hardwood (Johnson et al., 1991b; Belleau et al., 2006), softwood (Nykvist & Rosén, 1985; Staaf & Olsson, 1991; Simard et al., 2001; Katzensteiner, 2003; McLaughlin & Phillips, 2006; Ranger et al., 2008) and mixed hardwood/softwood (Hendrickson et al., 1989; Brais et al., 1995) forests as well as in various soil types such as Leptosols (Katzensteiner, 2003), Podzols (Nykvist & Rosén, 1985; Johnson et al., 1991b; Staaf & Olsson, 1991; McLaughlin & Phillips, 2006; Hendrickson et al., 1989; Simard et al., 2001), Luvisols (Belleau et al., 2006; Brais et al., 1995) and Cambisols (Ranger et al., 2008).

Instead, the likelihood of significant changes in soil pH taking place in acid forest soils depends to a large extent on whether or not nitrification occurs (releasing H⁺) or if the release of base cations (primarily Ca²⁺) via decomposition and weathering is large enough to consume the produced H⁺. Decomposition and nutrients release from various logging debris after cutting is well described in the literature (e.g. Romell, 1957; Tamm, 1964; Kimmins 1977). However, higher mineral weathering after harvest is less well documented. McLaughlin & Phillips (2006) discussed the possibility of increased weathering rates of silicate minerals following whole-tree harvest due to increased carbon dioxide concentrations as an explanation for the near doubling in exchangeable Ca²⁺ concentrations. Thus, higher weathering rates after harvest could increase soil exchangeable pools leading to an increase in soil pH. Increases in water table may in turn affect decomposition rates by slowing down the process. In less acidic forest soils, such as the Northern Limestone Alps, mixing of Ca²⁺-rich surface debris has been suggested as a pH increasing process, a situation not likely to occur for most forest soils in Sweden.

Similarly, the results from soil, soil water, groundwater and stream water studies suggest that short-term increases or decreases in soil water pH after cutting is closely related to changes in NO_3^- production. This is in agreement with the reviews of Feller (2005) and Martin et al. (2000). Other processes, shown to affect pH after harvest, include decomposition (releasing base cations), aluminium buffering, changes in the quality of soil organic matter (affecting CEC) and the release of organic acids from logging debris.

In summary, mechanisms that can help explain the observed pH changes include:

- Nitrification (release of H⁺)
- DOC-leaching (release of H⁺ and ANC)
- Changes in CEC (affects acidity and base saturation)
- Changes in base cation concentrations (affects base saturation and ANC)
- Carbon dioxide production (increased weathering)
- Weathering (consuming H⁺ and releasing base cations)

Regarding pH effects in aquatic environments, the occurrence of nitrification seems to be the most significant factor. It also seems that the effects of cutting per se are more important than differences in harvest intensity in terms of nitrification activity. Therefore, it is probably more crucial to limit excess NO₃⁻ production in forest soils compared with reducing the harvest intensity (base cation removal), to limit short-term pH declines in the aquatic environment. Unfortunately, the long-term effects of harvest intensity are largely unknown, but available results indicate that the pH-effects either level out and return to preharvest conditions or are small.

8.3 Carbon (C) and CEC

Organic matter plays a major role in the global carbon cycle and is important for soil fertility (cation-exchange properties, structure, bulk density, N, P, S and water status) and forest productivity (e.g. Johnson & Curtis, 2001; Kreutzweiser et al., 2008; Yanai et al., 2003). Soil organic carbon generally makes up circa 50% of organic matter content measured by weight loss on ignition (e.g. Bélanger et al., 1993; McLaughlin & Phillips, 2006; Thiffault et al., 2006; Brais et al., 1995). The relationship between cation exchange capacity (CEC =

 $H^++Al^{n+}+Na^++K^++Mg^{2+}+Ca^{2+}$, measured in 1M NH₄OAc, pH=7.0) and soil organic matter content in B-horizon podzols in central Sweden is illustrated in Figure 24. According to the strong positive relation, a change in organic matter content will lead to a change in CEC. In clay-rich soils, the relationship between CEC and OM is not as linear due to the exchange sites available on clay surfaces. According to Helling et al. (1964), CEC of organic matter increases by 30 meq per kg per unit increase in pH, which is 6.7 times higher than for clay (4.4 meq per kg).



Figure 24. The relationship between cation exchange capacity (µeq per g = meq per kg) and soil organic matter content (KOL2 in %). Data: Swedish Soil Survey 1991-2003, n=108.

Forest harvesting could have a potential impact on the carbon dynamics in forest soils. Factors to consider are mechanical disturbances affecting the structure and function of the forest floor, biomass input if logging residues are left on the ground, biomass removal if logging residues are harvested, litter production in the regenerating stand and understory vegetation, abiotic changes in temperature and moisture, leaching of DOC, etc. A decline in organic matter content and

CEC may decrease the buffering capacity of the soil and subsequently increase the sensitivity to acid inputs.

Several authors such as Johnson & Curtis (2001), Sanchez et al. (2006) and Kreutzweiser et al. (2008) have recently reviewed harvest effects on the carbon dynamics. Therefore, only a few studies are included in this review describing cutting effects on soil carbon concentrations and pools over time.

In general, the results suggest that there is no short- or long-term cutting effect on total carbon concentrations compared with pre-harvest conditions and uncut forests regardless of harvest method (stem-only and whole-tree). For example, Katzensteiner (2003) used a chronosequence approach including a clear-cut stand (0 years), a regenerating forest (10 years) and an old mature forest (140 years old). No treatment effects could be found in the forest floor between the clear-cut and the regenerating stand or mature forest. However, when comparing the regenerating stand with the mature forest, a significant increase of 37.7 mg per gram (or 8%) in total C concentration was found in the humus layer after stem-only harvest. This increase is likely to be the result of litter input from dead leaves/needles, branches and roots with time as the forest grow old. In addition, McLaughlin & Phillips (2006) examined the long-term (16-18 years) effects of whole-tree harvest with pre-cutting values but could not find any significant treatment effects in the forest floor or mineral soil. However, when comparing the results with an uncut control forest a long-term decrease of -63 mg per gram was found in the forest floor but not in the mineral soil. Despite this change in total C concentration, no significant change was observed in soil carbon pools (see below) and it was concluded that whole-tree harvest does not lead to depletion in C. No reason was given for the decrease in total C concentration.

The few studies showing statistically significant harvest effects indicate that the total soil C concentrations decrease in the forest floor but increase in the mineral soil, which is in agreement with the observed soil C pool changes (see below). For example, pre- and postharvest differences following stem-only and whole-tree harvest, respectively, were studied by Johnson & Todd (1998) up to 15 years after harvest. Significant C concentration increases were found in the A-horizon (0-10 cm) but not deeper down in the soil, regardless of cutting method. Since logging residues were removed during whole-tree harvest, differences in litter could not explain the increase in total carbon concentration. Instead it is believed that an invasion of weeds and/or C losses during sample storage could be responsible for the increase.

Based on a low number of studies it appears as if the total C pools decrease in the forest floor and increase in the mineral soil. For example, Ranger et al. (2008) measured a short-term decrease in the forest floor C pools and an increase in the mineral soil (down to 60 cm) after whole-tree harvest compared with pre-cutting values. These results are in agreement with Olsson et al. (1996a) who measured long-term treatment effects on soil C pools at four sites in Sweden after stem-only and whole-tree harvest. In the humus layer, soil C decreased significantly at all sites regardless of harvest intensity, explained by accelerated decomposition rate (measured as a change in C/N over time). In contrast, C increased significantly in the mineral soil at three out of four sites explained by a downward transport of organic matter with low concentrations of N. The process was enhanced by the sandy texture facilitating transport and root decay in the mineral soil adding to the carbon pool. Mechanical mixing as an explanation was ruled out due to the gradual decrease. Regardless of harvest intensity, Olsson et al. (1996b) did not measure any change in soil C pools between the treatments (WTH \leftrightarrow CH). Slow decomposition of logging residues (still visible on the ground) and the fact that they were excluded in the analysis is one possible explanation. Resampling of the same sites, thirty years after final felling, demonstrated an increase in the soil C pools since the last sampling (1990/91) in the humus layer (Olsson et al., 2004). However, compared with pre-cutting values, the pools were still lower. In contrast to these results, McLaughlin & Phillips (2006) could not find any treatment effects in the forest floor or mineral soil following whole-tree harvest 16-18 years after harvest compared with pre-harvest conditions and an uncut forest.

Short- and long-term post treatment differences in total C concentrations and pools between whole-tree and stem-only harvest are summarized in Table 14 and Table 16, respectively. Following harvest of a northern hardwood forest no treatment difference could be found in mineral soil C concentrations (A-, E-, and Bt-horizon) fifteen years after harvest (Johnson & Todd, 1989). Similarly, no long-term treatment differences in soil C pools in the forest floor and mineral soil could be found in a Swedish study (Olsson et al., 1996a; Olsson et al., 2004). In contrast, Johnson et al. (2002) observed lower forest floor (litter + residues) in Oak Ridge, Tennessee and higher mineral soil C pools in Coweeta, North Carolina, after 15 and 17 years, respectively. The lower soil C pools in the forest floor at the WTH sites were explained by the removal of logging residues. No differences were found in the mineral soil in Oak Ridge. The C pool decrease in the mineral soil in Coweeta was not discussed. Despite individual differences between the sites (n=4), Johnson et al. (2002) concluded that *"in general, harvesting had no lasting effects on soil C"* despite initial increases compared with pre-harvest conditions. Also, *"the long-term effects of forest residues on ecosystem C pools, when they occur, will be manifested primarily as differences in biomass rather than soil or litter C"*.

The result of this study describe a pattern of decreasing and increasing concentration and pools in the forest floor and mineral soil, respectively, compared with pre-harvest conditions or uncut control forests. However, this approach does not pick-up temporal changes that might occur between a young forest stand and a mature forest. For example, Olsson et al. (2004) described an overall trend with decreasing pools in the forest floor during the first 15 years followed by a gradual build-up during the next 15 years. However, when comparing data from the 30-year old stand with pre-harvest data, soil pools were still lower. Thus, the temporal trend is not accurately described.

The results by Olsson et al. (2004) are in agreement with the temporal pattern observed by Covington (1981) and Katzensteiner (2003). Using a chronosequence design, Covington (1981) measured a decrease in soil organic C pools by 50% (or 30.7 Mg per hectare) in the forest floor during the first fifteen years following stem-only harvest. This decrease was followed by a sharp increase as the stands grew older. Suggested mechanisms, which could explain these results, include accelerated decomposition rates (resulting from increased temperature and moisture content) and changes in litter input. The initial sharp decline in organic matter immediately following cutting was explained by biomass removal whereas the rapid increase 15-20 years later was attributed to a delayed decomposition of woody debris and litter from the new forest stand. However, decomposition studies by e.g. Prescott et al. (2000) are not in agreement with this explanation since increased temperatures led to a drying out of the top most layer of the forest floor leading to decreased and not increased decomposition rates. The accuracy of the "Covington curve" have thus been questioned (Yanai et al., 2003) and replication of the Covington study supported some but not all of the previous results (Federer, 1984). Alternative explanations for the Covington (1981) results have been mechanical disturbances leading to a mixing and movement of the forest floor and mineral soil and changes in logging techniques over time.

The short- and long-term effects of harvest on CEC are usually small and non-significant compared with controls and pre-harvest conditions, regardless of harvest method. These results are in agreement with those discussed for soil C. However, just like soil C, individual observations of increases and decreases in CEC have been documented.

For example, Johnson et al. (1991b) measured a short-term (<3 years) CEC *decrease* in the Oaand the E-horizon and a CEC *increase* in the Bh- and Bs1-horizon following whole-tree harvest compared with pre-harvest conditions. Similar trends were observed for the base cation concentrations (Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+) and exchangeable acidity (H^+ and Al^{n+}). Several explanations were given to the observed changes in CEC affecting either the quantity and/or quality of soil organic matter. The organic matter content e.g. decreased significantly by 37% in the E-horizon (and by 17% in the Oa-horizon). Decomposition and leaching to lower lying horizons could have explained the decrease in organic matter. The latter would have explained the increase in CEC in the B-horizon (Johnson et al., 1991a), but this horizon showed no change in organic matter content. Hence, increases in CEC further down in the mineral soil must have occurred due to insitu processes affecting the organic matter quality. Increased negative charges on the soil organic matter due to increased humification is a plausible explanation. Measurements of the cation exchange capacity of the organic matter only (CEC_o) showed an increase in the Bh- and Bs1horizon compared with pre-harvest conditions supporting this explanation. No such change occurred in the E-horizon.

In a follow-up study five years later (i.e. eight years after whole-tree harvest) the CEC were still elevated in the Bh-, Bs1- and Bs2-horizon (Johnson et al., 1997) compared with pre-harvest conditions. However, the observed differences in the Oa- and E-horizon after three years (see above) were not present any longer. During the eight years study period the ratio between CEC and organic matter increased by 25%, which together with changes in pH could explain the observed changes.

Short- and medium-term increases in mineral soil CEC were also found up to fifteen years after stem-only and whole-tree harvest of a mixed oak forest growing on an Acrisol (Johnson and Todd, 1998). Compared with pre-harvest conditions, the CEC had increased significantly after both stem-only (A- horizon) and whole-tree harvest (A- and E- horizons). The Bt-horizon was unaffected by harvest in contrast to Johnson et al. (1991b) and Johnson et al. (1997). The increases in CEC were not explained, but losses during storage could have been responsible for the results. When comparing treatment differences (WTH \leftrightarrow CH) no differences were found for the A-, E- or Bt-horizons.

Similar results were found by Ranger et al. (2008) who studied changes in CEC following whole-tree harvest of a Douglas-fir stand growing on a Cambisol in France. No change in CEC was found the first year after cutting. However, during the second year a small increase in effective cation exchange capacity (CEC_{eff}) in the upper mineral soil layers (0-5 cm) was observed. Changes further down in the mineral soil (down to 60 cm) were observed the third year after harvest in the 30-45 cm soil layer. No changes were observed for the middle or bottom soil layers compared with pre-harvest conditions. CEC and organic carbon exhibited similar patterns of variation. Despite these changes, Ranger et al. (2008) concluded that CEC was not affected by harvesting.

Opposite to this, Belleau et al. (2006) found a significant short-term (2 years) CEC increase in the forest floor, but not the mineral soil (0-10 cm), compared with a control forest following stem-only harvest of an Aspen stand growing on a Luvisol. The forest floor CEC increase and vegetation increment led to nutrient immobilization, partly explaining the lack of CEC effects in the mineral soil.

In contrast, Brais et al. (1995) did not measure any short- to medium term (5-12 years) changes in CEC in the forest floor or mineral soil (0-10 and 10-20 cm) after whole-tree harvest of a dry to fresh site in Canada compared with a growing uncut forest. However, decreases in CEC and base saturation were found on a moist site, both in the forest floor and the mineral soil while the acidity increased. These results are in agreement with McLaughlin & Phillips who could not find any significant long-term (16-18 years) treatment effects on CEC in the forest floor following whole-tree harvest compared with control and pre-harvest conditions. However, just like Johnson et al. (1991b) and Johnson et al. (1997) an increase was observed in the mineral soil where CEC_{eff} doubled compared to pre-harvest conditions and control forest. The increase in CEC_{eff} may have increased the retention of Mg thus counterbalancing increased leaching losses. The increase in base cation retention also increased pH, Ca²⁺ and decreased the solubility of inorganic aluminium. Using a chronosequence approach, Katzensteiner (2003) did not find any significant changes in CEC_{eff} after stem-only harvest in the H-layer compared with an uncut 140 years old forest. In the regeneration stand, which was 10 years old, CEC_{eff} were significantly higher. Katzensteiner (2003) believed that the input of base cations from decomposed logging residues and/or changes in chemical composition might be responsible for the high CEC_{eff} in the forest floor.

Post-harvest effects on CEC between different treatments (WTH↔CH) are often nonsignificant. For example, Bélanger et al. (2003) did not find any significant short-term effects in the forest floor (F & H) and mineral soil (0-20 cm) three years after whole-tree harvest of a black spruce forest in Canada. Belleau et al. (2003) got similar results. Medium to long-term (6-21) differences is described by Nykvist & Rosén (1985) who could not find any differences in CEC in the humus layer between WTH and CH after harvest of nine Swedish coniferous sites. These results are in agreement with Johnson & Todd (1998). Olsson et al. (1996b) did not measure any long-term (15-16 years) significant effects between WTH and CH at four different coniferous sites in Sweden. However, when the results from all four sites were combined lower CEC_{eff} per unit area were found after whole-tree harvest compared with CH. Lower base cation pools were given as an explanation. In a single study by Thiffault et al. (2006) treatment differences between WTH and CH have been found. They report long-term lower CEC both in the forest floor and the mineral soil (0-20 cm) fifteen to twenty years after whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only (Table 13). The lower CEC following whole-tree harvest at one of the three sites were attributed to lower input of soil organic matter resulting in lower organic C concentration in the mineral soil. In addition, changes in the quality of soil organic matter as explained by Johnson et al. (1991b) could have been responsible.

Johnson et al. (1997) reported effects on the CEC pools. A short-term (3 years) decrease in the forest floor CEC pool, but not mineral soil, was observed after whole-tree harvest compared with pre-cutting values. The effect had disappeared eight years later. Olsson et al. (1996b) observed lower forest floor CEC following WTH compared with CH 15-16 years after final felling. However, for most sites no treatment differences could be found.

In summary, most sites show no change in C and CEC concentrations and pools following harvest. However, when measurable, the concentrations and pools of soil C appear to decrease in the forest floor and increase in the mineral soil. These changes occur regardless of cutting method, indicating that the effect of harvest per se is more important than differences in harvest intensities since most difference between WTH and CH were non-significant. However, a larger dataset should be considered since the review of Johnson & Curtis (2001) suggest otherwise. In soils where organic matter is the major source of CEC, changes in decomposition rates (via increased water tables, mechanical mixing, and differences in litter input) could affect the amount of CEC. In addition, pH changes affect CEC. However, the effect of harvest on pH is considered small and insignificant (chapter 8.2). An increase in pH following cutting (or due to reduced acid deposition) would increase CEC and limit the base cation leaching after harvest. With time, CEC (and soil C) is expected to increase due to litter input from the new stand and understory vegetation. The results by Johnson et al., (1991b) and Johnson et al. (1997) suggests that harvesting may lead to a long-term increase in CEC in the spodic B-horizon of Podzols, which also may reduce the base cation leaching from the soil. No clear pattern between soil type, climate, tree species and treatment has been found.

Processes responsible for the observed trends in total C include:

- Decomposition
- Leaching
- Litter input
- Weed invasion
- Retention

And in CEC:

- Decrease in the amount of organic matter
- Increase or decrease in pH
- Increased humification
- Weathering (increasing the amount of clay minerals)
- Fewer water bridges between clay and organic matter

8.4 Nitrogen (N)

Clear-cutting effects on total N concentrations and pools show similarities with those observed for soil C; i.e. forest floor decreases due to decomposition and mineral soil increases due to retention. Other N effects include forest floor increases due to e.g. plant uptake from deeper soil horizons, which accumulates in the forest floor via litter input, as well as decreases in the mineral soil as a result of leaching losses. Thus, the soil N effects of clear-cutting appear to be much more site-specific compared with the effects on soil C.

For example, Mroz et al. (1985) measured short-term (2.5 years) changes following whole-tree harvest of three hardwood forests of varying site quality in the US. Compared with pre-harvest, the total N concentrations decreased in the forest floor at the two rich sites, while it increased at the poor site. However, the forest floor N pools decreased at all three sites between -846 to -87 kg per hectare. Large decreases in total N concentrations and pools also occurred in the mineral soil (E, Bs and BC) varying between -0.1 to -0.4 mg per gram (-484 to -1255 kg per hectare) at all three sites except for the Bh-horizon where total N concentrations increased between +0.1 and +0.2 mg per gram. Thus, some of the leached N was retained in the Bh-horizon. The decreased concentrations were most likely due to increased leaching of total N (Mroz et al., 1985). These large losses of up to 1300 kg N per hectare was later questioned by Binkley (1987) as being unrealistically high for this area and commented on by Mroz et al. (1987).

Similar results were found Ranger et al. (2008) who measured decreases in total N pools in the forest floor and mineral soil three years after whole-tree harvest compared with pre-harvest conditions attributed to decomposition and leaching losses. In Sweden, Nykvist (1977a) documented a short-term (4 years) decrease in total N pools in the humus layer after stem-only (-560 kg per hectare) and whole-tree harvest (-346 kg per hectare) at a site situated in the southern

part of Sweden. However, at the northern site, forest floor N pools increased by +116 (CH) and +2 (WTH) kg per hectare. No explanation was given, but factors such as nitrogen deposition, leaching from logging residues, symbiotic N-fixation and/or redistribution of soil N from the mineral soil to the forest floor via vegetation may be of importance for the observed changes.

These results are partly in agreement with Hendrickson et al. (1989) who did not find any shortterm (3 years) treatment effects on total N concentration in the forest floor or mineral soil after stem-only harvest compared with a control forest. However, in the whole-tree harvested plots, significantly lower concentrations (-1.9 mg per gram) were observed in the forest floor (but not the mineral soil) compared with the control. Reasons for this were not discussed but decomposition is likely to be responsible for the lower N concentrations.

Long-term (15-16 years) changes were studied by Olsson et al. (1996a) who measured decreases in total N pools in the forest floor (FH) at four coniferous sites regardless of harvest method (WTH and CH). However, the largest decreases were found at whole-tree harvested sites, which are not in agreement with the results of Nykvist (1977a). In contrast, mineral soil (0-20 cm) pools increased at most sites. Plant uptake, leaching to lower lying horizons, denitrification and immobilization by decomposing roots was discussed as possible mechanisms.

Katzensteiner (2003) did not observe any N concentration differences in the forest floor between a clear-cut and a 10-year old regenerating stand and a 140-year old mature forest, respectively, after stem-only harvest. In addition, Smethurst & Nambiar (1990) did not observe any significant short-term (3.25 years) harvest effects on mineral soil pools after stem-only and whole-tree harvest. Simard et al. (2001) did not find any short-term (5 years) harvest effects on total N concentrations in stem-only plots compared with control plots. On the other hand, higher total N concentrations (+1.4 mg per gram) and pools (+840 kg per hectare) were observed 17-22 years after whole-tree harvest. No explanation was given but forest floor dry mass and carbon content increased as a result of input from logging residues, root litter and from the new forest stand. Input from logging residues seems, however, unlikely since clear-cutting was performed as whole-tree harvest. Increases was also reported by Belleau et al. (2006) who measured a short-term increase (2 years) in total N concentration of +2.68 mg per gram in the forest floor after stem-only cutting of an aspen stand. No effects were seen in the mineral soil (0-10 cm). Leaching from logging residues left on site could explain the increased N concentrations.

No treatment effects were found on total N concentrations in the forest floor or mineral soil 16-18 years after whole-tree harvest compared with pre-harvest conditions in a Canadian study (McLaughlin & Phillips, 2006). However, higher forest floor N pools were found both in the control forest (+275 kg per hectare) and in the regenerating forest (+237 kg per hectare) compared with pre-harvest conditions but the differences between the regenerating area and control were non-significant in terms of concentrations and pools. Thus, soil N pools increased with time but not as a result of cutting. Instead, the increase was explained by a combination of factors such as atmospheric deposition, plant uptake of N from the mineral soil, redistribution to the forest floor via litterfall and decomposition and N fixation by feather moss and cyanobacteria. These results are in agreement with those of Johnson & Todd (1998) who measured longterm (15 years) increases in mineral soil (A, E and Bt) total N concentrations after WTH and CH of a mixed oak forest compared to pre-cutting values. Forest floor data is missing. Similar factors to those identified by McLaughlin & Phillips (2006) were discussed, but the input via these sources was considered too small. Symbiotic fixation of N by black locust trees and legumes seemed unlikely. Instead N₂-fixation of free-living bacteria was put forward as the most likely explanation. Thus, with time, total N pools may increase as a result of natural factors similar to soil C.

Short- and long-term treatment differences between WTH and CH are usually non-significant (Johnson & Todd, 1989; Belleau et al., 2006). But, Hendrickson et al. (1989) reported higher N total concentrations in the forest floor but not mineral soil in WTH plots compared with CH, three years after harvest. In contrast, Wall (2008), Olsson et al. (1996a) and Nykvist (1977a) observed lower forest floor pools varying between -509 to -77 kg per hectare. These treatment differences were still measurable after 15-16 years (Olsson et al., 1996a) but not after 26-28 years (Olsson et al., 2004). Treatment differences in the mineral soil are usually non-significant (Wall, 2008; Olsson et al., 1996a; Olsson et al., 2004). The short- and medium-term differences are normally related to the removal of logging residues.

To summarize, the concentration and pools of total N seem to decrease following clear-cutting as a result of decomposition, leaching losses, reduced plant uptake, denitrification and immobilization by decomposing roots. Mechanical disturbances during harvest and increases in soil temperature and moisture may accelerate decomposition rates thereby enhancing losses. In addition, elevated groundwater tables or snow accumulation may increase leaching losses. Short-term increases in the forest floor may be associated with accumulation of logging residuals or invasion of weeds and in the mineral soil due to retention in podzolic B-horizons. With time, as the forest floor begins to build up and the new forest is established, total N concentrations and pools starts to increase as a result of deposition, N-fixation and plant uptake from deeper soil horizons which accumulates in the forest floor via litter input. Treatment differences between WTH and CH are usually non-significant but the removal of logging residues may decrease forest floor N pools in the short- and medium term.

Treatment effects on total N include:

- N deposition
- N fixation
- Litter input
- Decomposition
- Leaching
- Plant uptake
- Retention
- Immobilization by decomposing roots
- Redistribution of N via plant uptake from deeper soil horizons

8.5 Base cations (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺)

The base cation results are complicated to evaluate and summarize due to the large variation of analytical methods used especially regarding the soil matrix. In our opinion, it is important to separate between concentrations and pools; or fluxes regarding stream water. A concentration decrease does not necessarily lead to a reduction in soil pools, since an increased soil density might compensate for the lower concentration. Mixing of the humus layer with mineral soil, a common disturbance during harvest is an example of this. Additionally, the exchangeable ions constitute a share of the total presence of an element, which means that harvest can affect the two fractions differently. In order to minimize the possibilities of false conclusions, we will separately discuss concentrations and pools of exchangeable and total fractions in soils as well as concentrations and fluxes in stream water.

The sources of base cations are primarily mineral weathering, atmospheric deposition and redistribution within the ecosystem due to internal nutrient cycling. Besides being important nutrients, base cations buffer against soil and surface water acidification (chapter 4). Nutrient losses via whole-tree harvesting have historically been addressed as a method by which soil nutrient pools are depleted thereby risking a loss in productivity (e.g. Rennie, 1955; White, 1974; Kimmins, 1977; Hornbeck & Kropelin, 1982). The loss of base cations has also raised a concern in terms of surface water acidification (the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2007a). In areas subjected to acid deposition and loss of buffering capacity, whole-tree harvest may superimpose the negative effects of acid deposition. However, according to a review by Binkley & Högberg (1997), mineral weathering rates "appear to be greater than expected" suggesting that the loss of base cations may be partially or fully compensated for via weathering.

8.5.1 Decomposition and mineralization effects

After clear-cutting, nutrients continues to be released via decomposition of organic matter. Decomposition and nutrients release from various logging residues (stems, roots, branches, needles and leaves) after cutting are well-studied (e.g. Hyvönen et al., 2000; Arthur et al., 1993; Fahey et al., 1988; Fahey et al., 1991; Fahey & Arthur 1994; Palvainen et al., 2004b). The results show that nutrient rich material (leaves and needles) is a primary source of nutrients followed by more woody material (branches and roots) (e.g. Hyvönen et al., 2000). Potassium is quickly leached from the residues compared with other nutrients (e.g. Fahey et al., 1991; Fahey & Arthur 1994; Palvainen et al., 2004b).

It is scientifically debated whether decomposition of organic matter occurs more rapidly after clear-felling as a result of increased soil temperature and moisture conditions as put forward by e.g. Bormann & Likens, 1979, Martin & Pierce, 1980 and Martin et al., 2000. A number of studies have shown that decomposition and mineralization rates can decrease or remain indifferent compared with mature control forests (Yin et al., 1989; Prescott, 1997; Palvainen et al., 2004a; Cortina & Vallejo, 1994; Belleau et al., 2006). Prescott et al. (2000) studied temperature and moisture effects on the litter and forest floor decomposition rates in clear-cuts compared with mature forest across 21 sites in British Columbia, Canada. After four years, they did not find any evidence of increased decomposition rates on the clear-cuts. Instead a significant slower decomposition rate was found for pine needles on the clear-cuts compared with the uncut forest. Similar result was found in Catalonia, Spain after clear-cutting a Pinus radiata stand as a result of increased soil temperatures and decreased moisture content of the L-layer (Cortina & Vallejo, 1994). Thus, the drying out of the topmost soil layer as a result of increased sun exposure and wind speeds may in fact reduce decomposition rates after harvest. Prescott et al. (2000) concluded that "the suggestion that decomposition should be faster in clear-cuts appear to have its origin in speculation".

Slower decomposition rates on clear-cuts may be consistent with the observed changes in concentration and leaching after harvest. For example, Prescott (1997) studied the effect of different harvesting techniques (clear-cut, patch cut etc.) on decomposition rates and N mineralization in Canada. During the first couple of years, decomposition rates were slower on clear-cut compared with uncut forest attributed to more moist soils during summer and perhaps a more undisturbed soil fauna and microflora. However, the concentration of NO₃⁻ and N mineralization rates were the greatest on the clear-cuts and successively slowed down in areas subjected to patch cut, shelter wood etc. and mature forest. According to these results, NO₃⁻ leaching from traditionally clear-cut areas would have the highest potential for nitrate leaching. Prescott (1997) explained this somewhat contradictory result by a reduction of available C, resulting from reduced litter inputs, leading to a reduction in soil microbial biomass and a build-up of ammonia susceptible to nitrification. Additionally, the microbes would assimilate less NO₃⁻, favouring NO₃⁻ leaching.

8.5.2 Exchangeable concentrations in soils

Katzensteiner (2003) observed a short-term (≤ 5 years) increase in exchangeable Ca²⁺ in the forest floor in a chronosequence study between a clear-cut stand and a 10-year old regenerating stand in France. The increase was explained by mechanical and biological mixing of surface rich calcareous debris with the forest floor during stem-only harvest, a situation not likely to appear for most forest soils in Sweden. Medium- and long-term (≥ 15 years) decreases in Ca²⁺ at the same site between the regenerating stand and a 140-year old mature forest were not explained.

Mroz et al. (1985) reported increases in exchangeable base cation concentrations in the forest floor after whole-tree harvest of three podzolic hardwood sites in the USA. Compared with preharvest conditions, the concentration of Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ increased by +105 to +299, +16 to +41 and +5 to +10 cmol_c per kg, respectively, two and a half year after cutting. Further down in the mineral soil (E, Bh, Bs and BC), the concentration of exchangeable K^+ decreased, while data for Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} are not included. Reasons for the increased respectively decreased concentrations were not given. However, forest floor and mineral soil pools of K^+ decreased after whole-tree harvest, which was explained by cation exchange processes with H^+ , released during nitrification and substituting K^+ on the exchange sites. Changes in Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} pools showed no consistent pattern but in general, the mineral soil pools decreased as a result of leaching losses and soil disturbances.

Belleau et al. (2006) compared post-treatment differences between a whole-tree harvested plot and a control forest (WTH \leftrightarrow CTR) and observed higher concentrations of Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ in the forest floor (but not K⁺), two years after cutting of an aspen hardwood forest. No differences were found in the mineral soil. According to Belleau et al. (2006) the slash reduced the acidity of the forest floor and increased the availability of Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺. In contrast to these studies, Johnson et al. (1991b) observed decreased concentrations of exchangeable base cations both in the forest floor (Oa) and in the upper part of the mineral soil (E-horizon) three years after whole-tree harvest. The base cations were retained in the lower spodic B-horizon. According to Johnson et al. (1991b), podzols may thus limit the nutrient leaching following harvesting. The concentration increase in the mineral soil was explained by an increase in CEC by 30-60% (chapter 8.3). Despite these changes, Johnson et al. (1991b) concluded that the total effect of whole-tree harvesting on soil base cation pools was little, despite the large removal of nutrients in harvest and via stream water leaching. However, whole-tree harvest did lead to a redistribution of exchangeable cations in the soil.

Several other authors also report increases in mineral soil exchangeable concentrations based on results from pre- and postharvest studies. For example, Ranger et al. (2008) reported short-term increases in exchangeable concentrations of Ca^{2+} (+0.71 cmol_c per kg), Mg^{2+} (+0.12 cmol_c per kg) and K⁺ (+0.09-0.16 cmol_c per kg) in the 0-5 cm mineral soil layer up to three years after WTH. Decomposition of the forest floor and downward transport of organic matter could explain this increase. Further down in the mineral soil (5-10, 10-15, 15-30, 30-45 and 45-60 cm) statistically significant decreases in Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K⁺ concentration were often seen, especially in the lowest lying soil layers. It was suggested that H⁺ released during nitrification, although the production of NO₃⁻ decreased after cutting, was partly responsible for the decrease via cation exchange. The soil system (forest floor plus 0-60 cm mineral soil) lost -155, -44 and -162 kg per hectare of Ca, Mg and K, respectively.

Johnson & Todd (1998) measured a short- and medium-term (up to 15 years) increase of exchangeable Ca^{2+} (+1.18 and +0.36 cmol_c per kg) and Mg^{2+} (+0.14 cmol_c per kg) in the A- and E-horizon (only Ca^{2+}) compared with pre-cutting values after stem-only harvest of a mixed oak forest. The concentrations of K⁺ remained unaffected. In contrast, the Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} concentrations did not change after whole-tree harvest while the concentration of exchangeable K⁺ increased (+0.03 cmol_c per kg) in the Bt-horizon compared with pre-harvest data. Johnson & Todd (1998) explained the increase in Ca^{2+} concentrations in the mineral soil with time as a result of an accumulation from decomposing logging residues left on site after stem-only harvesting since the increase in Ca^{2+} were equal to the amount of Ca^{2+} released by logging residues. Increases in Mg^{2+} and K⁺ were not explained. Based on these results, Johnson & Todd (op.cit) concluded that WTH does not lead to a decrease in site productivity and that Ca^{2+} is efficiently retained in the soil.

Studies describing long-term effects are rare but available from some studies where both shortand long-term differences are described. For example, Simard et al. (2001) measured short-term (3-5 years) post-treatment effect of CPRS (Cut with Protection of Regeneration and Soils) with data from a control plot (CH \leftrightarrow CTR). In general, higher base cation concentrations were found in the clear-cut area. For example, the concentration of exchangeable Ca²⁺ in the forest floor was +2.4 cmol_c per kg higher in the clear-cut compared with the control forest but no difference was found for Mg²⁺ and K⁺. However, in the mineral soil (0-10 cm) all three base cations were higher by +0.18 (Ca²⁺), +0.05 (Mg²⁺) and +0.03 (K⁺) cmol_c per kg. Simard et al. (2001) also studied the long-term effect (11-16 years and 17-22 years) of whole-tree harvesting compared with a control forest (WTH \leftrightarrow CTR). Higher concentrations of Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ were found both in the forest floor and mineral soil while forest floor K⁺ concentration was lower compared with the control plot. Simard et al. (2001) explained the increased base cation concentrations by mineralization and decomposition of fresh organic matter demonstrated by higher dry mass and organic C content in the forest floor. This would certainly explain concentration increases in the stem-only but not the whole-tree harvested area.

In contrast to these results, Knoepp & Swank (1997) measured a short-term (<3 year) increase in exchangeable Ca^{2+} concentration in the 0-10 cm (but not the 10-30 cm) mineral soil layer after stem-only harvest. The concentration of Mg^{2+} and K^+ also increased immediately after cutting both in the 0-10 and 10-30 cm layer and were still greater compared with pre-harvest conditions 17-20 years after harvest. The short-term increases in cation concentrations (Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+) immediately following harvest were probably the result of leaching from fresh easily decomposable organic material in the logging debris. With time larger and woodier debris (branches and roots) become a nutrient source.

In a Canadian study by McLaughlin & Phillips (2006), long-term soil chemical changes in a 16-18 year old regenerating stand were studied. The results were compared with pre-harvest conditions and an uncut 77-85 year old reference stand. Forest floor concentrations of exchangeable Ca^{2+} and K^+ did not change after whole-tree harvest compared with preharvest values. However, the concentration of exchangeable Mg^{2+} decreased significantly by -3.76 cmol_c per kg. Mineral soil concentrations of exchangeable Mg^{2+} and K^+ were largely unaffected by harvesting while the concentration of Ca^{2+} increased with +0.73 cmol_c per kg. When comparing the data with the uncut reference stand no differences could be seen in forest floor Ca^{2+} concentration but the concentration of Mg^{2+} and K^{2+} were lower in the regenerating stand by -0.59 and -0.49 cmol_c per kg, respectively. In the mineral soil, exchangeable concentrations of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} were higher by +0.69 and +0.12 cmol_c per kg, respectively, while K⁺ remained unaffected. The higher Ca^{2+} concentration found in the 16-18 year old stand were explained by differences in weathering and decomposition rates, higher nutrient uptake and a greater circulation of Ca^{2+} between the trees and soil. The loss of Mg^{2+} with time at both the regenerating stand and reference stand were explained by acid atmospheric deposition, which induced Mg^{2+} depletion (but not Ca^{2+}) at these sites. Differences in sensitivity between the sites could explain why the Mg^{2+} concentrations were higher in the regenerating stand compared with the reference stand, despite the decrease with time. In spite of these changes, the exchangeable base cations pools remained unaffected by whole-tree harvesting (see below).

In the following text, treatment differences between harvest intensities (WTH and CH) are reported. In general, the differences between whole-tree and stem-only harvest (WTH \leftrightarrow CH) are non-significant in terms of exchangeable base cation concentrations (Table 13). However, lower concentrations of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺ have frequently been observed both in the forest floor and in the mineral soil (0-10 and \geq 10 cm) after whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only harvest (e.g. Johnson & Todd, 1998; Bélanger et al., 2003; Thiffault et al., 2006; Nykvist & Rosén, 1985; Belleau et al., 2006) for periods ranging between 3-21 years. The mechanism responsible for the observed differences is a relocation of base cations from decomposing logging residues to the soil exchange complex in stem-only harvested plots, which creates a measurable difference with whole-tree harvested plots (e.g. Nykvist & Rosén, 1985; Belleau et al., 2006).

However, the individual base cations may respond differently to the treatments. For example, Bélanger et al. (2003) measured significantly lower exchangeable concentrations of Mg^{2+} (-0.35 cmol_c kg⁻¹) in the forest floor three years after whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only harvest. Similar differences, although not statistically significant, were found also for Ca²⁺ and K⁺. In the mineral soil (0-20 cm, ~B-horizon) a statistically significant difference was found for exchangeable K⁺ (-0.013 cmol_c kg⁻¹) but not for Ca²⁺ or Mg²⁺. The explanations for this Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ lack of response include differences in the release of nutrients from decomposing logging residues, lower ion mobility in the soil and a low contribution of Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ to the soil solution ionic activity.

These results are in agreement with Johnson & Todd (1998) who measured lower concentrations of Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ in the mineral soil, 15 years after whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only, attributed to release of base cations from decomposing slash. Thiffault et al. (2006) compared long-term (15-20 years) treatment differences between CH and WTH at three sites in Canada. After whole-tree harvesting, lower concentrations of Ca^{2+} were found in the forest floor but not the mineral soil (0-20 cm) at all the three study sites. Lower concentrations of K^+ in the mineral soil were also found at one of the sites, while the concentration of Mg^{2+} remained unaffected at all three sites. In addition to these results, lower CEC in the forest floor and mineral soil was found at the whole-tree harvested sites compared with the stem-only harvested. Thiffault et al. (2006) concluded that the slash left on site after stem-only harvest was a source of Ca^{2+} , which was easily retained in the forest floor because of slow decomposition and low mobility. In contrast, K^+ was easily leached from the system and not retained in the soil, which explained why no differences were seen in the forest floor concentrations between WTH and CH plots. Some of the leached K^+ was however retained further down in the mineral soil.

8.5.3 Total concentrations in soils

Harvest effects on the total concentrations of base cations are less well described in the literature. Nevertheless, just like the concentrations of exchangeable base cations, total concentrations seem to increase in the soils following harvest. For example, in the chronosequence study by Katzensteiner (2003), the total concentration of Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ in the LF-layer increased by +6.3, +0.4 and +0.5 mg per gram, respectively, between a clear-cut and a 10-year-old plantation following stem-only harvest. In addition, the concentrations of Ca^{2+} also increased in the humus layer by +15.6 mg per gram. Reasons for this were not discussed. However, input from decomposing litter and decaying roots could be responsible as thickness and dry mass of the LFhorizon decreased during this time. In addition, input via weathering could have been a potential source as proposed by McLaughlin & Phillips (2006).

Hendrickson et al. (1989) and Simard et al. (2001) also observed higher BC concentrations following cutting compared with control plots. For example, Hendrickson et al. (1989) measured higher concentrations of Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ , especially in the upper part of the soil, three years after whole-tree and stem-only harvest using an uncut forest stand as a control. No reasons were given but the total soil organic matter content increased during the same time, which could explain the higher values. Simard et al. (2001) studied the short- and long-term effects of clearcutting (WTH and CH) on soil chemical properties at three study sites in Canada. Following cutting, the total concentration of Ca^{2+} was higher at all three sites regardless of harvest intensity compared with control plots. In addition, the total concentrations of Mg^{2+} were higher at two of the sites while K^+ remained unaffected. The exchangeable concentrations (see above) and pools of total Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} in the forest floor increased in a similar way. No explanation was given.

When data from a 10 years old stand were compared with a 140 years old mature forest Katzensteiner (2003), the total concentrations of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} (but not K⁺) decreased with time. No explanation was given for this difference. In contrast, Belleau et al. (2006) studied soil chemical changes following stem-only harvest of an aspen stand in Canada. Compared with a control plot of growing forest, no differences were observed between the two plots except for a small decrease in total K^+ concentration in the forest floor by -0.1 mg per gram during the first year after harvest. During the second year, this difference had disappeared. In the same study, the concentration of exchangeable Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} increased (see above). A decrease in total concentration of Ca²⁺ (-46%) was also reported by Brais et al. (1995), 5-12 years after whole-tree harvest in moist forest sites compared with control plots. At the same time, the pools of total Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ in the forest floor decreased significantly by 67% (-900 kg per hectare), 48% (-143 kg per hectare) and 40% (-136 kg per hectare), respectively. On dry to fresh soils, the total pool of Ca^{2+} decreased by 61% (-459 kg per hectare) while no significant change was seen for total Mg²⁺ and K⁺. The decreases in total pools of base cations were mainly attributed to a loss of substrate since the mean forest floor ash free dry weight decreased by 44% (36.4 tonnes per hectare) at moist sites.

Post treatment differences between whole-tree and stem-only harvest (WTH \leftrightarrow CH) in terms of total base cation concentrations are seldom reported in the literature. However, according to Belleau et al. (2006) the total concentration of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺ in the forest floor and in the upper mineral soil (0-10 cm) did not differ between whole-tree and stem-only harvested plots during the first and second year after cutting of a hardwood forest. In contrast, Hendrickson et al. (1989) reported lower total concentrations of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺ in the forest floor three years after harvest (WTH \leftrightarrow CH). Further down in the mineral soil (0-5, 5-10 and 10-20 cm), the total K⁺ concentrations were lower in the 10-20 cm soil layer. No other treatment differences could be found.

8.5.4 Exchangeable pools in soils

In general, the harvest effects on forest floor and mineral soil exchangeable base cation pools are non-significant compared with pre-harvest conditions and uncut control plots (e.g. Belleau et

al., 2006). But, there are reports of both increased and decreased pools after harvest for individual soil horizons and cations. In a study by Mroz et al. (1985), the nutrient content in forest floor and mineral soil (down to 100 cm) were compared prior to and after whole-tree harvest of three hardwood sites in the US. Compared with preharvest conditions and two and a half years after cutting, the pools of K⁺ decreased throughout the soil profile at all three sites between -1114 to -883 and -26 to -6 kg per hectare in the forest floor and mineral soil, respectively. The concentrations of exchangeable K⁺ changed in a similar way (see above) and it was assumed that the losses were due to a displacement of K⁺ with H⁺ (released during nitrification) on the exchange complex. Some losses were also seen in the pools of exchangeable Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} associated with leaching and mechanical disturbance of the forest floor during harvest. The great losses reported by Mroz et al. (1985) have been questioned by Binkley (1987) and commented on by Mroz et al. (1987).

Romanowicz et al. (1996) measured increases in mineral soil (down to the C-horizon) exchangeable pools of K^+ during the first three years following WTH of a high elevation spruce fir forest in the USA. An increase was also seen in the forest floor (Oa-horizon) although not statistically significant. Increases in soil pools, compared with pre-harvest conditions, were attributed to an increased retention of K^+ on the exchange complex. Eight years after harvest, these differences had disappeared. Increases in mineral soil pools of K^+ were also seen in the lower parts of the catchment although not significant. At one site, a decrease in the forest floor K^+ pool was documented between the third and eight year after harvest, but the pools were still higher compared with pre-harvest conditions. The results of Romanowicz et al. (1996) indicate that mineral soil pools of K^+ increases following cutting but seem to return to pre-harvest conditions with time.

Johnson et al. (1991b) also reported increased mineral soil pools of K^+ three years after wholetree harvest. However, the pools had returned to pre-harvest conditions eight years after harvest (Johnson et al., 1997). The increase was consistent with increased concentrations of exchangeable K^+ and CEC_{eff}. The pools of Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ did not change during this time. Using a chronosequence approach, Snyder & Harter (1984) measured initial increases in mineral soil pools of K^+ throughout the soil profile (E, Bh, Bs1 and Bs2) after stem-only harvest. Increased pools of Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ were also seen in the upper part of the soil. These increases were associated with decomposition and mineralization of logging residues, which were leached down into the mineral soil where they were retained. Although not statistically significant, both Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ appeared to increase with time (up to 30 years after harvest) whereas K⁺ started to decrease between 10-30 years after harvest.

Nykvist (1977b) measured differences in the pools of exchangeable K^+ with time after stemonly and whole-tree harvested plots in Sweden. In general, the pools of K^+ decreased four years after cutting both in the forest floor and mineral soil (0-20 cm) although the results were not statistically tested. Also, the pools became lower following whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only. The release of K^+ from logging residues could account for the observed differences. Brais et al. (1995) also reported significant declines in base cation exchangeable pools 5-12 years after whole-tree harvest associated with a substrate loss. McLaughlin & Phillips (2006) assessed long-term (16-18 years) differences in soil exchangeable pools in Canada. Compared with pre-harvest conditions, the forest floor pools of exchangeable Mg²⁺ decreased by 37 kg per hectare after whole-tree harvest. When tested alone, no differences were found in the mineral soil but when the results were combined with forest floor data a significant decrease was found for the total soil (forest floor+mineral soil) pools of Mg²⁺ (-7.2 kg per hectare). A similar trend in the uncut control indicated a loss of Mg²⁺ due to the acid deposition and not to the biomass harvest per se. In contrast to these results, the pool of exchangeable Ca²⁺ increased by 603 kg per hectare in the mineral soil compared with pre-cutting values. Compared with the uncut control stands, higher pools were also found in the mineral soil (+546 kg per hectare). McLaughlin & Phillips (2006) suggested that increased mineral weathering due to whole-tree harvest was responsible for this increase. Apparently, whole-tree harvesting does not necessarily lead to losses in the exchangeable base cation pools but gains can also occur.

Generally, there is no statistically significant difference in exchangeable base cation soil pools between whole-tree and stem-only harvested plots (WTH \leftrightarrow CH). However, decreased pools have frequently been reported, both in the forest floor and in the mineral soil associated with the removal of logging residues. For example, Olsson et al. (1996b) reported significantly lower pools of exchangeable Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺ in the forest floor and mineral soil (down to 20 cm) in whole-tree harvested plots compared with stem-only, 15-16 years after cutting. The largest differences took place in the uppermost soil layers. A relative large recovery of Ca²⁺ in the soil from decomposing logging residues in stem-only harvested plots explained the difference between WTH and CH. In contrast, K was easily leached from the system. In a follow-up study by Olsson et al. (2004), 26-30 years after cutting, the treatment differences could still be observed.

Wall (2008), Nykvist (1977b) and Nykvist (1990) also reported lower exchangeable soil pools. According to Wall (2008), removal of logging residues decreased the pools of base cations, especially K^+ , in the L, FH and 0-10 cm soil layer four years after harvest. Nykvist (1990) reported long-term exchangeable K^+ pool differences, 10 and 16 years after final felling, at two sites in Sweden. Compared with stem-only harvested plots, whole-tree harvested plots had lower pools of K^+ in the humus layer at both sites. Lower mineral soil pools (0-20 cm) were also found at the southern site compared with the northern site. However, these differences decreased with time.

8.5.5 Total pools in soils

Ranger et al (2008) described short-term treatment effects on the total base cation pools following whole-tree harvest of a Douglas fir plantation in France. During the first three years after cutting the pools of total Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ decreased by -144, -28 and -47 kg per hectare, respectively, in the forest floor and by -11, -16, -115 kg per hectare, respectively, in the mineral soil. These changes were due to a loss of substrate in the forest floor and acidification in the mineral soil. In Sweden, Nykvist (1977a) observed a short-term decrease in the forest floor pools of total K^+ and an increase in total Ca^{2+} , both after whole-tree and stem-only cutting compared with pre-harvest data. In contrast, the pools of total Mg^{2+} were indifferent following cutting. Despite these varying results, caused by humus layer heterogeneity, Nykvist (19977a) concluded that the general effect of harvest is decreased base cation pools. On the contrary, Simard et al. (2001) observed higher total pools of Ca^{2+} (+270 kg per hectare) and Mg^{2+} (+35 kg per hectare) in the forest floor, three to five years after stem-only harvest compared with an uncut control as a result of higher dry mass caused by litter input. Similar results were found when comparing whole-tree harvested plots and control plots 11-16 and 17-22 years after harvest at two other sites.

Post treatment differences between harvest intensities (WTH \leftrightarrow CH) on total pools of base cations are reported by Wall (2008), who measured lower pools of total Ca²⁺ (-387 to -64 kg per hectare), total Mg²⁺ (-35 to -6 kg per hectare) and total K⁺ (-34 to -6 kg per hectare) in the forest floor (litter layer) after WTH compared with stem-only, 4 years after final felling. No treatment differences were found in the humus layer (F+H) or mineral soil (0-10 cm). Nykvist (1977a) also reported lower total pools in the forest floor. During the first year after harvest the pools of

base cations were lower following WTH compared with CH ranging between -213 to -207 (Ca^{2+}) , -25 to -16 (Mg^{2+}) and -52 to -32 (K^+) kg per hectare. During the fourth year the differences were less; -150 to -37 (Ca^{2+}) , -7 to -1 (Mg^{2+}) and -13 to 0 (K^+) . Hence, the largest losses seemed to occur for Ca^{2+} .

8.5.6 Concentrations in soil water, groundwater and stream water

Short-term (\leq 5 years) treatment effects on base cation concentrations in soil water and stream water are well described in the literature while data from groundwater studies are largely lacking. In general, the concentrations of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺ increase in response to harvest (CH and WTH) in soil water (Hornbeck & Kropelin, 1982; Dahlgren & Driscoll, 1994; Romanowicz et al., 1996; Titus et al., 1997; Hendrickson et al., 1989; Briggs et al., 2000; Katzensteiner, 2003; Piirainen et al., 2004) ground water (Wiklander, 1974) and stream water (Bormann et al., 1968; Likens et al., 1970; Wiklander, 1974; Martin & Pierce, 1980; Grip, 1982; Tiedemann et al., 1988; Mann et al., 1988; Adamson & Hornung, 1990; Jewett et al., 1995; Kubin, 1995; Stevens et al., 1995; Martin et al., 2000; Neal et al., 2004; Wang, 2006; Löfgren et al., 2009b; Tremblay et al., 2009) compared with pre-harvest conditions or controls.

Changes in base cation concentrations may result from disturbances of the internal nutrient cycling or via changes in the weathering rates as well as in the atmospheric deposition of base cations and mineral acid anions. According to the mobile anion theory (Reuss & Johnson, 1986), changes in SO_4^{2-} , NO_3^{-} and Cl^{-} concentrations change the leaching of base cations. These processes may work independently or they may interact with each other. For example, during mineralization of organic N and nitrification of ammonia to NO₃, H⁺ is produced. An increase in H^+ may increase weathering rates or they may participate in cation exchange processes, causing increased BC concentrations in the soil solution. Together with NO_3^{-} , base cations are easily leached from the system (Bormann et al., 1968; Grip, 1982; Löfgren et al., 2009b). Dahlgren & Driscoll (1994) measured higher soil water NO₃⁻ concentrations both in the forest floor (Oa) and in the mineral soil (Bhs and Bs2) five to six years after whole-tree harvest compared with uncut control plots. The H⁺ released during nitrification were largely neutralized via aluminium buffering and cation exchange processes releasing Al^{3+} , Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ to the soil solution. Measurements at the catchment outlet showed that the released cations where leached together with NO₃⁻ from the soil to the stream water. Ten years later, the concentration of K^+ in soil water and stream water remained elevated as a result of decomposition, mineralization and weathering (Romanowicz et al., 1996).

In comparison, Wiklander (1974) measured increased concentrations of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} but not K^+ in a spring, two years after stem-only cutting of a softwood stand in Sweden. No reasons were given but the concentration of NO_3^- increased during the same time, probably affecting the Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} mobility. The lack of response in K^+ concentrations is more difficult to explain since increased stream water K^+ concentrations were found in another clear-cut area as a result of litter leaching (op. cit.). It is thus possible that K^+ was leached from the forest floor but was retained further down in the mineral soil. With time as revegetation takes place, NO_3^- concentrations and associated base cation leaching decrease (Hornbeck & Kropelin, 1982; Hendrickson et al., 1989; Briggs et al., 2000; Katzensteiner, 2003).

Disruptions in the internal nutrient cycling following harvest include reduced uptake by vegetation and microbial community of nutrients from fresh litter, roots and woody debris (Bormann et al., 1968; Rosén et al., 1996; Titus et al., 1997). Lawrence et al. (1987) explained increased stream water concentrations of Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ by reduced plant uptake and nitrification, one year after whole-tree harvest compared with an uncut control forest. Since K^+ is loosely held in plant tissue it is readily leached from fresh litter compared with Mg^{2+} and Ca^{2+} (Staaf & Berg, 1982; Titus & Malcolm, 1999). For example, Stevens et al. (1995) studied the effects of stemonly and whole-tree harvest in soil water and stream water five years after cutting. Following felling, the concentrations of K⁺ increased in soil water and stream water in the stem-only harvested plots as a result of leaching from the logging residues. However, not all of the released K⁺ reached the stream, indicating soil retention. Moreover, the concentration of NO₃⁻ increased which induced K⁺ leaching. On plots where logging residues had been collected, no K⁺ increase occurred.

Increased stream water concentrations of K^+ as a result of litter leaching have also been documented by Wiklander (1974), Adamson et al. (1987), Adamson & Hornung (1990), Tiedemann et al. (1988), Kubin (1995) and Löfgren et al. (2009b). In Canada, Tremblay et al. (2009) monitored stream water concentrations before and after (2 years) stem-only cutting of five catchments. The results were compared with unharvested control forests. Following clear-cutting, the concentrations of Mg^{2+} and K^+ increased relative to the control. During the same time, the concentration of NO_3^- increased while pH decreased slightly. Tremblay et al. (2009) believed that nitrification caused some of the increased cation concentrations and mobility, but reduced plant uptake was a more likely factor since the concentration of Mg^{2+} also increased. Short-term losses of NO_3^- and Ca^{2+} as a result of decomposition, reduced uptake and leaching from the system has also been reported by Martin and Pierce (1980) following clear-cut catchments compared with partial clear-cut areas. After circa five years, the concentrations returned to pre-harvest conditions.

Increased soil water concentrations may not necessarily lead to leaching losses from the system. For example, Piirainen et al. (2004) observed increased concentrations of Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ in the O-horizon three years after stem-only harvest compared with a control forest as a result of litter leaching and decomposition. However, most of this was retained in the mineral soil via adsorption. Jewett et al. (1995) and Romanowicz et al. (1996) also discussed ion exchange processes and mineral fixation as factors explaining decreased K⁺ concentrations. These results are in agreement with groundwater studies from Finland where base cation concentrations in two study areas remained unaffected five years after stem-only harvest when compared with controls (Mannerkoski et al., 2005). Reasons for the lack of response were not discussed. However, only 10-30 % of the catchments were clear-cut and most wells were located inside the aquifer but outside the harvested areas. In another Finnish study by Rusanen et al. (2004), no long-term (15-22 years) effects on base cation concentrations. On the other hand, the stream water concentrations may still increase despite decreasing soil water trends if e.g. the weathering rates increase as indicated by results from McLaughlin & Phillips (2006).

Swank et al. (2001) used a paired catchment study approach for monitoring the long-term (20 years) BC changes following stem-only cutting of a northern hardwood forest in the US. Compared with pre-harvest conditions and the control, higher concentrations of base cations and NO_3^- were found after cutting, especially during the third year. With time, as the new forest established, the concentrations of Ca²⁺ remained elevated. In contrast, the concentration of K⁺ only increased during the first five years before declining to similar values as the control. Prior to cutting the roads were seeded with grass, limed and fertilized (NPK), which increased the concentrations of Ca²⁺ and K⁺. After cutting, the concentration of Ca²⁺ increased further. In contrast to these ions, the concentrations of NO_3^- did not increase following N fertilization and prior to cutting due to in-stream processes, but increased after harvest and tree mortality 10-15

years after harvest. The high mortality reduced plant uptake and produced easily decomposable litter. However, a similar pulse was not seen for Ca^{2+} and K^+ .

In another long-term (up to 27 years) study by Martin et al. (2000), significant increases in Ca^{2+} , K^+ , NO_3^- and H^+ concentrations was observed immediately following stem-only and whole-tree harvest relative to a control forest. After three to five years, the concentrations returned to pre-harvest values. However, the concentrations of Ca^{2+} and K^+ remained elevated throughout the study period. Also, a second pulse of NO_3^- was observed in the whole-tree harvested catchment after the loss of short-lived pioneering trees. In the stem-only cut area no second pulse of NO_3^- was seen owing to the fact that measurements begun later resulting in a shorter (14 years) study period and consequently younger trees. Martin et al. (2000) did not discuss possible reasons for the elevated Ca^{2+} and NO_3^- concentrations. However, the increased NO_3^- concentrations during the first and second pulse (only in the WTH area) were probably causing some of the elevated Ca^{2+} and K^+ concentrations in the stream. The SO_4^{2-} concentrations, on the other hand, decreased immediately following cutting as a result of increased soil retention and returned to pre-harvest conditions by the 4th year after cutting.

Long-term (16-18 years) trends in soil water (collected at 50 cm depth) and stream water chemistry is also available from a whole-tree harvest experiment by McLaughlin & Phillips (2006). Compared with an uncut control catchment, short-term (0-3 years) increases in Ca^{2+} and NO_3^{-1} concentrations were seen in the soil water at 25 and 50 cm depth immediately after harvesting (1981), after which the concentrations returned to pre-harvest conditions (see Briggs et al., 2000). However, during the 90's, the concentrations of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} showed a decrease in the soil solution but an increase in stream water in the regenerating stand. Higher stream water concentrations may be a result of increased weathering and increased fluxes from the mineral soil. The decreasing trends in soil solution may be due to higher adsorption in the upper mineral soil (McLaughlin& Phillips, 2006).

Decreased base cation concentrations following harvest have also been shown for various other reasons. In a study by Ranger et al. (2007), the concentration of Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ decreased following whole-tree harvest of a Douglas-fir forest. Decreases were observed throughout the soil profile (forest floor and mineral soil down to 120 cm) but the results varied slightly between the individual horizons depending on the different lysimeter equipments (zero-tension plate lysimeters versus tension-cup ceramic lysimeters). The decreased BC concentrations coincided with decreased concentrations of NO_3^- . Ranger et al. (2007) proposed that the close relationship between Douglas-fir trees and nitrifiers prior to cutting were disrupted following tree removal. This led to a decreased nitrification and subsequently a decreased NO_3^- production. Mann et al. (1988) also showed the importance of tree species and their response to cutting on the BC concentrations of Ca^{2+} and K^+ increased as a result of increased NO_3^- concentrations. The increases took place both in softwood and hardwood forests regardless of cutting method (whole-tree and stem-only). However, harvested red alder stands were an exception to this since the NO_3^- concentrations decreased as the N-fixation ceased.

Robertson et al. (2000) obtained similar results when comparing soil water concentrations below clear-cut alder stands with harvested oak, spruce and pine stands. In New Zealand, Parfitt et al. (2002) measured decreased concentration of Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ in the upper mineral soil solution (10 cm) three years after stem-only cutting of a softwood forest compared with preharvest conditions. No significant changes were seen in the lysimeters at a soil depth of 60 cm. Just like Ranger et al. (2007) and Mann et al. (1988), the decrease in base cation concentrations appeared at the same time as the concentration of NO_3^- decreased. A rapid colonization of grasses and weeds together with microbial immobilization were responsible for the decreased NO_3^- concentrations. In addition, reduced dry deposition primarily affecting the concentration of Cl⁻ but also NH_4^+ and NO_3^- could have been responsible for the decrease. Measurements in spring water and stream water within the same catchment showed that the concentrations of major anions and cations remained fairly constant except for a small decrease in Ca^{2+} and NO_3^- (relative to the spring) probably due to denitrification and vegetation uptake. Similar results were found by Titus et al. (1997) who studied clear-cutting effects in soil water at 50 cm depth at sites of varying site quality. Contrary to what would be expected, the greatest increase in NO_3^- and base cation concentrations did not take place at the rich site since this site was moist, favouring vegetation uptake and denitrification. Hence, processes either preventing nitrification or limiting the build-up of produced NO_3^- may limit the base cation leaching.

Decreased dry deposition and dilution may also be responsible for decreased base cation concentrations after harvest. For instance, Robertson et al. (2000) observed clear differences in soil water Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ concentrations in the L-, A- and C-horizons before and three years after stem-only harvest, attributed to a reduction in atmospherically derived ions and to some extent dilution. One would except that the largest reductions would have taken place on the coniferous sites compared with hardwood sites due to higher dry deposition. However, two years after harvest, soil water concentrations differed little between the sites (Robertson et al., 2000). Compared with Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} , the concentrations of K⁺ in the mineral soil increased as a result of litter leaching and reduced plant uptake. The increase was however limited to the coniferous sites since the leaves were missing in the broadleaved stands at the time of felling. Decreased sea salt deposition was responsible for decreased Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ concentrations in groundwater and stream water six years after stem-only harvest (Neal et al., 2004). Harvesting effects in terms of increased NO₃⁻ concentrations were also observed both in groundwater and stream water during the first couple of years after felling, thereafter declining. In addition, decomposition and reduced plant uptake also affected the stream water Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺ concentrations. Two years after clear-felling, the stream water Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ concentrations started to decline while the K⁺ concentrations remained elevated compared with pre-harvest conditions and control. The decline corresponded to a gradual decrease in sea-salt derived ions.

Soil water, groundwater and stream water studies describing treatment differences between WTH and CH are scarce. In general, the leaching of cations is lower following whole-tree harvest compared with conventionally harvested areas where the logging residues are left on site. The presence or absence of slash most often explains the treatment differences between WTH and CH. For example, Staaf & Olsson (1994) measured lower soil water concentrations of K⁺ and NO_3^- (collected at 30 cm) after whole-tree harvesting compared with stem-only plots. Litter leaching of K⁺ and stimulated mineralization and nitrification releasing NO₃⁻ below piles of logging residues in stem-only harvested plots explained these differences as shown by Rosén & Lundmark-Thelin (1987). Four years after treatment, however, the differences between CH and WTH were no longer seen. Stevens et al. (1995) observed a short-term treatment difference following final felling of a Sitka spruce stand in Wales. Five years after harvest the soil water BC concentrations in the forest floor (L-layer) and mineral soil (C-horizon, 70 cm) after wholetree harvest were lower compared with stem-only as a result of lower litter leaching and NO₃⁻ concentrations. Based on Swedish sites, Westling et al. (2004) observed lower concentrations of Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^{+} in the soil solution at 50 cm depth, 9-11 years after whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only harvest. Also based on Swedish data, Zetterberg et al. (2008) showed that such treatment effects might persist up to 27-31 years.

In contrast to these results, Wall et al. (2008) did not detect any significant treatment differences in soil water BC concentrations in the O-horizon four years after harvest, while Hendrickson et al. (1989) measured higher Ca^{2+} leaching in the forest floor and in the mineral soil (100 cm) from whole-tree harvested areas compared with conventionally harvested, two years after cutting. Higher concentrations of K⁺ and Mg²⁺ were also observed in the forest floor and mineral soil, respectively. The cations were most probably released from the forest floor and leached to lower lying horizons. According to Hendrickson et al. (1989) it is also possible that plant uptake of fine roots in the forest floor was offset by the whole-tree harvesting. These differences had disappeared during the third year. Depending on site quality, Titus et al. (1997) measured, three years after final felling, a varied response in the soil water concentrations of Ca^{2+} , Mg²⁺ and K⁺. In general, stem-only harvest increased soil water concentrations of Ca^{2+} at 50 cm depth as a result of litter leaching, nitrification and reduced plant uptake. However, stem-only harvesting resulted in lower K⁺ respective Mg²⁺ concentrations at one out of three sites each. No explanation was given for these differences.

8.5.7 Fluxes in soil water and stream water

Soil water fluxes have been shown to both increase and decrease following cutting. For example, Ranger et al. (2007) measured short-term (3 years) increased fluxes of Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^+ of +3.2, +1.4 and +6.1 kg per hectare, respectively, from the mineral soil at 60 cm, but not 120 cm, as a result of increased water fluxes. Further down in the mineral soil, base cation fluxes decreased as a result of decreased concentrations despite increased water fluxes. Stevens et al. (1995) observed decreased concentrations and fluxes of Ca^{2+} and K^+ in the O- and L-layers five years after whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only harvest. Increased plant uptake was suggested causing the decreased Ca^{2+} fluxes, while no explanation was given for the decreased K^+ fluxes. In Finland, Piirainen et al. (2004) measured a doubling in base cation fluxes from below the O-horizon to the E-horizon three years after stem-only cutting of a coniferous forest. The leached ions were effectively retained in the mineral soil (below B-horizon). According to Piirainen et al. (2004) decomposition and mineralization of slash (and K⁺ from litter leaching) explained the flux changes. To our knowledge, data on groundwater fluxes are missing in the literature.

Base cation fluxes often increase in stream water (Likens et al., 1970; Haveraaen, 1981; Hornbeck et al., 1990; Ahtiainen, 1992; Stevens et al., 1995; Rosén et al., 1996; Ahtiainen & Huttunen, 1999; Swank et al., 2001; Löfgren et al., 2009b) following cutting as a result of increased runoff. As the new forest stand grows older evapotranspiration increases and fluxes return to pre-harvest levels. Increases in Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺ fluxes may last up to at least eight years after cutting. However, Adamson et al. (1987) observed increased fluxes of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺ during the first year following stem-only harvest compared with an unharvested control. In the second year, the BC fluxes decreased which Adamson et al. (1987) attributed to decreased fluxes of SO₄²⁻ and Cl⁻. In order to maintain electro neutrality, any change in the anion flux has the potential to affect the BC flux. The reduced sulphate deposition since the 1980's has reduced the BC fluxes in boreal, Swedish streams (Löfgren et al. 2009a).

8.5.8 Summary of harvest effects on base cations in soils and water

Generally, the exchangeable base cation $(Ca^{2+}, Mg^{2+} \text{ and } K^+)$ concentrations in the forest floor and upper mineral soil increase following clear-cutting. Decomposition of fresh litter and leaching from logging residues left on ground is an important source. Increased soil moisture facilitates a downward movement of organic matter and base cations in soil solution. Biological and/or mechanical mixing may accelerate the decomposition rates although drying out of the top most layers may slow it down. Increased exchangeable base cation concentrations in deeper mineral soil layers are usually caused by an increased CEC, offering more exchange sites to which base cations can absorb. However, decreased exchangeable base cation concentrations have frequently been measured in soils with extensive nitrification and cation exchange with H^+ . Clear-cutting increases the total base cation concentrations for the same reasons as given above, while decreases result from loss of soil organic matter.

The treatment effects on the pools of exchangeable and total base cations are usually nonsignificant although there have been some reports of either increasing or decreasing amounts. In the forest floor and upper mineral soil, diminishing pools are generally explained by decomposition and leaching. Deeper in the mineral soil, the pools seem to increase as a result of increased retention and weathering.

In general, the differences between whole-tree and stem-only harvest (WTH \leftrightarrow CH) are nonsignificant in terms of exchangeable base cation concentrations. However, lower exchangeable (and sometimes total) base cation concentrations have frequently been reported following WTH compared with CH. The mechanism responsible for the observed differences is a relocation of base cations from decomposing logging residues to the soil exchange complex in stem-only harvested plots, which creates a measurable difference with whole-tree harvested plots. Similar differences have been observed regarding the soil BC pools.

The soil chemical studies generally agree with the observations made in soil water, groundwater and stream water. In the aqueous media, the base cation concentrations and fluxes seem to increase after clear-felling and regardless of harvest intensity. Decomposition, mineralization, litter leaching, weathering and reduced plant uptake may cause increased soil water base cation concentrations. In addition, hydrogen ions released during nitrification participate in cation exchange processes transferring BC from the soil matrix to soil water. Processes responsible for decreased BC concentrations include dilution, leaching, cation exchange, mineral fixation of K^+ , reduced deposition of mineral acid anions and on rare occasions, decreased nitrification after clear-cutting of nitrogen fixating stands e.g. alder.

Treatment differences between whole-tree and conventional harvest on the BC leaching to soil water, groundwater and stream water are scarce. If observed, the leaching of base cations generally decrease following WTH compared with CH. The presence or absence of logging residues, stimulating mineralization and nitrification, most often explains the treatment differences between WTH and CH.

The reported changes in base cation concentrations, pools and fluxes show that there is no single mechanism which can explain the observed treatment differences but rather a combination of factors which includes:

- Plant uptake (reduced or increased)
- Litter leaching
- Decomposition of logging residues
- Mineralization and nitrification
- Denitrification
- Mobile anion associated leaching (in particular NO₃)
- Changed atmospheric deposition (primarily SO₄²⁻, Cl⁻, NO₃⁻)
- Dilution due to increased water fluxes (reduced evapotranspiration).

It appears that nitrification is a key process, which can increase base cation concentrations and fluxes in soil water, groundwater and stream water. Thus, by identifying nitrifying forest soils measures can be taken to limit the nutrient leaching. Removal of logging residues may also decrease NO_3^- and base cation leaching but usually the effect of cutting per se is greater than short-term treatment differences between WTH and CH.

8.6 Anions (NO_3^- , SO_4^{2-} , CI^- and DOC)

8.6.1 NO₃

Nitrogen losses from boreal forests are generally small (Hedin et al., 1995; Löfgren & Olsson, 1990; Binkley & Högberg, 1997; Nettelbladt et al., 2006) since tree growth is limited by the nitrogen availability (Tamm, 1991). However, increases do occur as a result of fire (Bladon et al., 2008), wind-throw (Mellert et al., 1996; Hellsten et al., 2009), insect outbreak (Swank et al., 1981) and human activities (Vitousek & Melillo, 1979; Binkley & Brown, 1993; Gundersen et al., 2006). In areas receiving high levels of N deposition, careful management has been called for not to enhance NO_3^- leaching due to N saturation (Rothe & Mellert, 2004). The term "N saturation" is not well defined and is used inconsistently in the literature (Binkley & Högberg, 1997). In general, most forested sites in Sweden are not N saturated using the definition "output of N is equal to or higher than the input" except for local sites on the southwest coast (Binkley & Högberg, 1997; Nettelbladt et al., 2006). Branches and needles contain higher concentration of nutrients (especially of N) compared with stems (e.g. Rosén, 1991). Therefore, in areas where the N deposition is high, whole-tree harvesting has been suggested as a countermeasure to lower the N accumulation and thereby the risk for N saturation. Harvest of logging residues in three thinnings and clear-felled areas would remove about 500-700 kg N per hectare, assuming 15% logging residues left on ground, and theoretically reduce the risk of N leaching during the clearcut phase (Lundborg, 1997).

In Sweden, Wiklander (1983) found a positive correlation between groundwater NO_3^- concentrations and site quality. Additionally, soil water studies in clear-cuts along an N deposition gradient showed a positive correlation between NO_3^- concentrations and deposition (Akselsson et al., 2004). An increased mineralization due to increased N-input was proposed to cause this effect (op.cit.). Gundersen et al. (2006) found the same positive relationship between atmospheric N-input and NO_3^- leaching for sites in the US and Europe (Figure 11). In contrast to what is generally believed (e.g. Lundborg, 1997), they did not see any differences between stem-only and whole-tree harvesting. Instead, excess NO_3^- leaching following clear-cutting is a result of pre-existing site conditions. In addition, tree species, stand age and deposition may influence excess NO_3^- leaching (Binkley & Högberg, 1997).

The results from this review also show that the concentration and fluxes of NO_3^- in soil water (Hornbeck & Kropelin, 1982; Stevens & Hornung, 1988; Hendrickson et al., 1989; Mitchell et al., 1989; Dahlgren & Driscoll, 1994; Romanowicz et al., 1996; Titus et al., 1997; Piirainen et al., 2002; Rothe & Mellert, 2004; Briggs et al., 2004; Westling et al., 2004; Ranger et al., 2007), groundwater (Wiklander, 1974; Tamm & Wiklander, 1972; Tamm et al., 1974; Kubin, 1998; Parfitt et al., 2002; Neal et al., 2004; Rusanen et al., 2004; Mannerkoski et al., 2005) and stream water (Bormann et al., 1968; Likens et al., 1970; Martin & Pierce, 1980; Grip, 1982; Adamson et al., 1987; Mann et al., 1988; Tiedemann et al., 1988; Harr & Fredriksen, 1988; Adamson & Hornung, 1990; Ahtiainen, 1992; Jewett et al., 1995; Kubin, 1995; Rosén et al., 1996; Ahtiainen & Huttunen, 1999; Martin et al., 2000; Swank et al, 2001; Neal et al., 2004; Tremblay et al.,

2009; Löfgren et al., 2009) usually increase after harvest regardless of cutting method (CH and WTH) compared with pre-harvest conditions and uncut controls.

Increased NO_3^- concentrations after clear-cutting are probably the most distinct chemical response and also the "*simplest emerging pattern*" according to Neal et al. (1998). Ring (2007) draw some generalized conclusions about the short-term effects of harvesting (stem-only and whole-tree harvesting) based on data from eight sites situated in Sweden. The conclusions are schematically illustrated in Figure 25 and follow those of Roth & Mellert (2004) and Gundersen et al. (2006):

- The concentration of NH_4^+ and NO_3^- generally increases following harvesting.
- The highest concentration is found at high quality sites.
- Elevated NO₃⁻ concentrations last approximately 5 years.
- The mean soil solution NO₃⁻ concentration is linearly correlated to the C/N-ratio and site quality class.
- There is a lag time before elevated concentrations are observed.
- The duration of this lag time differs between rich and poor sites. At poor sites (3.1 m³ per hectare and year) the lag time may be as long as 5 years compared with rich sites (8.4-12.6 m³ per hectare and year) where the lag time is only one year.



Figure 25. A schematic illustration of the short-term response and duration in NO₃- concentration (solid line) and runoff (broken line) after cutting. The increase can either be expressed as mean concentration (white circles) or as a polynomial equation (black circles). From Ring (2007).

The NO₃⁻ concentration increase is most often attributed to increased mineralization of organic N and nitrification in the forest floor and mineral soil. It often coincides with increased losses of K, decreased pH (e.g. Romanowicz et al., 1996; Staaf & Olsson, 1994; Dahlgren & Driscoll, 1994: Rosén et al., 1996; Neal et al., 2004; Adamson & Hornung, 1990) and SO₄²⁻ concentrations (Hornbeck & Kropelin, 1982), while the concentrations of inorganic aluminium increase (Emmett et al., 1991). The sudden release of nutrients are believed to be the result of higher soil temperatures positively affecting decomposition, increased water fluxes, mixing of the forest floor with the mineral soil, reduced vegetation uptake and a decrease in microbial immobilization. In addition, herbicide-treatment retarding growth has also been shown to increase NO₃⁻ concentration in soil water (Briggs et al., 2000) and surface water (Likens et al., 1970). Usually, the increase is most pronounced in the topsoil (Jewett et al., 1995). Differences in silvicultural practices such as the use of buffer strips (Martin et al., 1984; Ahtiainen 1992) partially clear-cut (Martin & Pierce, 1980; Feller et al., 2005) or strip-cut (Martin et al., 2000) harvest can reduce enhanced NO₃⁻ leaching to stream water.

Most studies report a short-term increase in NO_3^{-} , usually less than five years (e. g. Staaf & Olsson, 1994; Hornbeck & Kropelin, 1982; Mitchell et al., 1989; Rusanen et al., 2004) linked to the increasing nutrient demand of the new forest stand. As a result, NO_3^{-1} leaching is small in mature forests (Katzensteiner 2003). However, there are a few reports of long-term increases. For example, Kubin (1998) observed elevated NO_3^- concentrations in groundwater beginning in the first year following stem-only and whole-tree harvest of two upland forested sites in Finland, relative to an uncut control. Nitrate concentrations continued to increase and reached a maximum 4-5 years after harvest. However, the concentrations remained elevated throughout the study period, which lasted up to ten years after harvest. In a follow-up study, NO_3^- concentrations were still elevated, 20 years after harvest (Kubin & Krecek, 2009). This was partly explained by slow regeneration of the new forest stand. Martin et al. (2000) measured long-term changes in NO₃⁻ concentrations following stem-only (0-14 years) and whole-tree (0-27 years) harvest of a hardwood forest. In the stem-only strip cut area, the NO_3^- concentrations increased up to 7 years after harvest. Thereafter (8-14 years), the NO_3^- concentrations were less than during the pre-harvest conditions due to the regenerating tree stands. In the whole-tree harvested stand, NO_3^{-1} concentrations followed the same pattern. However, the concentrations of NO_3^{-1} increased again after 20 years most likely due to high mortality of short-lived pioneer trees and/or inefficient root activity of the new tree stand. Swank et al. (2001) also found a second NO_3 -pulse due to increased tree mortality circa 10 years after stem-only harvest of a mixed deciduous forest.

Some sites showed a short-term decrease in NO_3^- concentration (and often K⁺) in soil water following cutting (CH or WTH) (e.g. Mann et al., 1988; Robertson et al., 2000). Decreasing soil water NO_3^- concentrations in the organic layer has also been observed by Stevens & Hornung (1988) after stem-only harvest compared with an uncut control. By removing the trees, transpiration rates and interception decreased which in turn increased soil wetness causing a "dilution effect". Denitrification via increased groundwater levels (Neal et al., 1992) or via stream water running through wetland areas (Spoelstra et al., 2010) could also lower excess NO_3^- concentrations.

Ranger et al., (2007) observed large decreases in soil water NO_3^- concentrations ranging between -200 to -530 µeq per litre (-2.8 to -7.4 mg per litre). The decrease occurred throughout the soil profile (organic layer down to 120 cm) following whole-tree harvesting. This is in contrast to Stevens & Hornung (1998) who observed a decrease in the organic layer, no change in the E- and Bs-horizon and an increase in the C-horizon. The mechanism proposed to explain these results was that the Douglas fir stimulated the nitrifier population and by removing the trees their activity would decrease. Soil water concentrations in the mineral soil also decreased following clear-cutting in a pine plantation of high natural N status in New Zeeland (Parfitt et al., 2002). Suggested mechanisms include increased uptake by weeds, an increase in soil microbial biomass and a slow turnover of N in the microbial pools. Hence, final felling, with or without logging residues, can limit excess NO_3^- leaching under special circumstances.

Treatment differences between whole-tree and stem-only harvest are usually non-significant although there are some reports of lower NO_3^- concentrations following whole-tree harvest. For example, Staaf and Olsson (1994) reported increased NO_3^- concentrations in soil water (30 cm) following both stem-only and whole-tree harvest of a spruce stand in southern Sweden. However, higher leaching of NO_3^- (and K^+) was found under piles of slash (CH) compared with sites where logging residues had been collected (WTH). In addition, excess leaching of NO_3^- was effectively reduced by *Deschampsia flexuosa* growing on WTH plots. Lower soil water NO_3^- concentrations following WTH was also found by Rosén & Lundmark-Thelin (1987) at a conif-

erous site in Sweden. These results are in agreement with Emmett et al. (1991) who observed higher NO_3^- -fluxes under piles of slash (CH) due to stimulation of the microbial activity, transforming organic N to NO_3^- . According to Emmett et al. (1991) logging of residues can reduce the leaching of NO_3^- by 10%. In Canada, Titus et al. (1997) measured lower soil water concentrations on WTH plots compared with CH. The higher concentrations found on CH plots were attributed to leaching from the slash itself and increased microbial activity and mineralization beneath the slash. After three years no differences were found between the treatments. However, Titus et al. (1987) pointed out that lower soil solution concentrations on WTH-plots should not be used exclusively as an indicator for less impact since this does not take into consideration increased runoff and potentially larger NO_3^- -fluxes.

In summary, clear-cutting regardless of intensity generally leads to a short-term increase in the NO_3^- concentration and fluxes in soil water, groundwater and stream water. This coincides with a base cation concentration increase (especially K⁺) and a decrease in pH due to H⁺ production by the nitrification process. The pH change is buffered by aluminium oxyhydroxides in the soils, releasing inorganic Alⁿ⁺. The magnitude of these changes and the duration of the increased leaching vary from site to site. The mechanisms most important for the observed changes are reduced vegetation uptake and increased mineralization and nitrification. The use of buffer zones and harvesting techniques such as partial or patch cut have the potential to reduce the NO_3^- -leaching. The NO_3^- concentration increases are shorter following WTH compared with CH, which can leach for more than 10 years (Kubin, 1998). Tree mortality can induce a NO_3^- pulse.

Processes responsible for increasing or decreasing NO₃⁻ concentrations and fluxes include:

- Mineralization and nitrification
- Abiotic site condition changes (temperature and moisture)
- Immobilization
- Denitrification
- Silviculture practices (harvest techniques, buffer zones, fertilization etc.).
- Lower rates of N fixation (e.g. alder tree harvesting)
- Dilution effects
- Increased groundwater tables and runoff
- Tree mortality
- Revegetation

8.6.2 SO4²⁻

There are a number of studies where lower concentrations of SO_4^{2-} has been observed in soil water (Hornbeck & Kropelin, 1982; Westling et al., 2004; Piirainen et al., 2004; Robertson et al., 2000; Welsch et al., 2004; McLaughlin & Phillips, 2006; Zetterberg et al., 2008), groundwater (Neal et al., 2004; Welsch et al., 2004) and stream water (Bormann et al., 1968; Likens et al., 1970; Hornbeck & Kropelin, 1982; Adamson et al., 1987; Lawrence et al., 1987; Mitchell et al., 1989; Mann et al., 1989; Adamson & Hornung, 1990; Dahlgren & Driscoll, 1994; Martin et al., 2000; Welsch et al., 2004; Neal et al., 2004; McLaughlin & Phillips, 2006; Löfgren et al., 2009) following stem-only and whole-tree harvest.

Hornbeck & Kropelin (1982) observed in the beginning of the 1980's lower soil water and surface water SO₄⁻ concentrations following whole-tree harvest compared with an uncut control. They proposed dilution as primary cause for this change since runoff increased, but speculated that S oxidizing inhibition and decrease dry S deposition could cause lower concentrations. Removal of the forest cover during times of high atmospheric S deposition would lead to decreased dry deposition and consequently a decrease in stream water SO_4^- concentrations (Hultberg, 1985).

In southwest Sweden, decreased concentrations of SO_4^- were observed in soil water (50 cm depth) during the first four years following stem-only harvest as a result of reduced S dry deposition (Westling et al, 2004). Measurements were carried out during the 1990's, a period when non-marine S deposition in throughfall was greater than 14 kg per hectare in this region (Nettelbladt et al., 2006). In the UK, Robertson et al. (2000) measured lower soil water concentrations after stem-only harvest of four different tree species as a result of reduced dry deposition and/or dilution. Adamson et al. (1987) studied short-term (0-2 years) stream water changes following stem-only harvest of a spruce stand in 1983. Compared with a control catchment, SO_4^{2-} concentrations decreased as a result of decreased dry deposition, and possibly, decreased plant uptake. Similar results were found by Adamson & Hornung (1990) who carried out studies in the same area but including results from more sample plots. The results showed that SO_4^{2-} concentrations continued to decrease up to four years after harvest (Adamson & Hornung, 1990).

As a result of the S emission reductions, decreased concentrations of SO_4^{2-} in surface waters have been observed across Europe and North America (Skjelkvåle et al., 2001ab; Stoddard et al., 1999). The relative importance of dry deposition for decreasing SO_4^{2-} concentrations during the clear-cut phase must therefore be questioned and other mechanisms be looked for. For instance, Löfgren et al. (2009) conducted a study in the northern part of Sweden where current and historically S deposition has been low. The forest was clear-cut in 2006 using conventional harvest methods leaving logging residues left on ground. During the two years post-cutting period, the concentration of SO_4^{2-} decreased in stream water relative to an uncut area. A decrease in dry deposition was ruled out since it only amounted to circa 1.3 kg per hectare and year. Instead, higher groundwater levels could have led to dilution and anaerobic conditions and subsequently, less oxidation of SO_4^{2-} . Thus, in areas where current rates of S deposition are low, a reduction in dry deposition is not likely to be responsible for decreased SO_4^{2-} concentrations. Present day deposition rates of total S vary between 0-2 kg per hectare in the northern parts of Sweden and 3-6 kg per hectare in the southern part (Figure 2). However, some areas on the southwest coast still receive more than 6 kg per hectare and year. Thus, in these areas a reduction in dry deposition via clear-cutting could lead to decreased soil water, ground water and stream water SO_4^{2-} concentrations.

In areas where S deposition historically has been high or continues to be high, an accumulation of SO_4^{2-} has taken place in the soils, which may delay the recovery process in streams and lakes, despite reduced S emissions. Input-output budgets for acidified forest catchments in southwest Sweden show larger output than input of SO_4^{2-} as a result of decreased SO_4^{2-} deposition (Moldan, 1999). Suggested mechanism for these observations has been desorption of SO_4^{2-} in the mineral soil. However, soil water studies below the O-horizon (Löfgren et al., 2001) and isotopic studies on extractable SO_4^{2-} (Mörth et al., 2005) have also shown a net release of organic S via mineralization in the forest floor. In these systems, clear-cutting may delay the natural recovery process even further by affecting decomposition rates and SO_4^{2-} retention.

Increased S retention in the soil as a result of acidification has been suggested for decreased soil water and stream water concentrations (Fuller et al., 1987; Nodvin et al., 1988; Mitchell et al., 1989; Dahlgren & Driscoll, 1994; Martin et al., 2000; Welsch et al., 2004). For soil colloids with variable charge, the concentration of SO_4^{2-} in the soil and soil solution depends on soil solution pH, ionic strength (Sokolova & Alekseeva, 2007) and anion adsorption processes

(Johnson & Cole, 1980). If the pH in the soil solution increases, the number of negative charges on the soil surfaces will increase. Alternatively, if the pH decreases, the positive charge on soil surfaces increases and $SO_4^{2^-}$ ions can absorb. Nodvin et al. (1986) studied the effects of pH and ionic strength on $SO_4^{2^-}$ adsorption by using soil samples from a podzolic B-horizon. Depending on $SO_4^{2^-}$ concentration and pH in the solution, the net removal or release of $SO_4^{2^-}$ varied according to Figure 26. A small change in pH can thus significantly increase the $SO_4^{2^-}$ retention at low pH-values.



Figure 26. The net removal (positive values) or release (negative values) of SO₄²⁻ as a function of soil solution concentration and pH. From Nodvin et al., 1986.

In the Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest, stem-only harvest and herbicide treatment caused stream water SO_4^{2} concentrations to decrease relative to a control watershed (Likens et al., 1970). Nodvin et al. (1988) showed that the decline in SO_4^{2-} concentrations was caused by increased soil retention as a result of acidification induced by nitrification. These results are in agreement with Mitchell et al. (1989) and Zhang et al., (1999) who studied sulfur dynamics two and eight years, respectively, after whole-tree harvest in a nearby catchment. By analysing soil samples it was found that the amount of adsorbed SO_4^{2-} increased significantly after cutting in the lower mineral soil (E- and Bh-horizon) (Mitchell et al., 1989). In contrast, no change was observed in the organic S-pool. Higher SO₄²⁻ retention led to lower soil water (Bs2) and stream water SO_4^{2-} concentrations, relative to an uncut control, five months after harvest (Fuller et al., 1987). In contrast, forest floor (Oa) concentrations remained constant or increased as a result of increased mineralization (Fuller et al., 1987). Flux calculations showed that 88% of the decline in stream water concentrations was accounted for by increased S adsorption in the E- and Bhhorizons (Mitchell et al., 1989). A few years later, the stream water SO_4^{2-} concentrations increased relative to the control, probably as a result of a pH-induced desorption (Dahlgren & Driscoll, 1994). Fifteen years later, stream water SO_4^{2-} concentrations were still elevated relative to the control catchment (Martin et al., 2000). A similar short-term (4 years) decrease in stream water SO₄²⁻ concentration was also observed in a strip-cut forest in Hubbard Brook before returning to pre-harvest conditions (Martin et al., 2000).

The response of SO_4^{2-} concentrations to stem-only cutting of a northern hardwood forest, was studied in the Catskill Mountains, New York by combining the results from bulk deposition, soil water, groundwater, stream water concentrations and stream water fluxes and buried soil bags (Welsch et al., 2004). Following clear-cutting, short-term decreases in SO_4^{2-} concentrations
were evident in all matrixes, especially in the B-horizon soil solution where pH also dropped by 0.5 units (from 4.5 to 4.0) compared with pre-harvest conditions. The decrease in soil water SO_4^{2-} concentrations was positively correlated with H⁺ concentration (r²=0.71) in the B-horizon but not in the O-horizon. By removing the tree canopy, dry deposition of S decreased but only accounted for a decrease in stream water fluxes of between 0 to 43% during the first two years. The strong relationship between pH and SO_4^{2-} concentration indicated increased adsorption of SO_4^{2-} to the mineral surfaces as the primary cause of the decreasing SO_4^{2-} -trends in stream water concentrations. In addition, no changes were seen in the O-horizon soil water or in buried soil bags (25-30 cm), strengthening the hypothesis of S retention in deeper soil.

In Finland, Piirainen et al. (2004) observed a general decrease in $SO_4^{2^2}$ leaching from below the O-horizon over a three-year period following stem-only harvesting as a result of decreased atmospheric S inputs. However, variations between years and horizons were observed. The greatest leaching from below the O-horizon occurred during the first year following harvest but decreased during the second and third year. These results were explained by the release of $SO_4^{2^2}$ from logging residues via mineralization, direct leaching of S from dead organic matter, increased uptake of S by the understory vegetation, microbial immobilization and possibly reduced mineralization of S. Below the E- and B-horizon, the retention of $SO_4^{2^2}$ decreased after harvest probably as a result of decreased plant uptake in the E-horizon and a net release of earlier adsorbed $SO_4^{2^2}$ from the B-horizon itself due to an increase in soil water pH. Despite these changes, the net flux of $SO_4^{2^2}$ from the B-horizon did not change following harvesting.

Decreasing SO_4^{2-} concentrations appear to be of short duration before returning to pre-harvest conditions or values similar to an uncut control forest. However, in a study by McLaughlin & Phillips (2006) lower SO_4^{2-} concentrations were still observed in soil water (4 times lower) and stream water, 17 years after whole-tree harvest, compared with a mature forest. It was hypothesized that the "internal acidity generation" was greater in the control catchment resulting in lower pH and higher SO_4^{2-} concentrations. However, as shown above, a lower pH would result in lower SO_4^{2-} concentrations and not vice versa. An alternative explanation would be that the internal acidity generation was equal in the two watersheds but that buffering mechanisms in the cut area more effectively neutralized the acidity.

In contrast to these results, Mannerkoski et al. (2004) and Rusanen et al. (2004) did not observe any significant short-term effects on groundwater concentrations following stem-only harvest compared with an uncut control forest and pre-harvest conditions, respectively. Also, Parfitt et al., (2002) observed no changes in soil water concentrations following stem-only harvest. These results are in agreement with stream water studies by Grip (1982) and Patric & Aubertin (1977). Reasons for the lack of treatment response are usually not discussed. Ranger et al. (2007) reported increased soil water SO₄²⁻ concentrations at 60 cm depth after whole-tree harvest of a Douglas fir stand in France. Desorption of SO₄²⁻ from mineral soil surfaces were not considered likely. Instead it was hypothesized that mineralization of organic S could be a reason.

In terms of soil water fluxes, $SO_4^{2^2}$ leaching usually increases after harvest (Ranger et al., 2007) and stream water (Haveraaen, 1981; Adamson & Hornung, 1990; Rosén et al., 1996; Hornbeck et al., 1990; Swank et al., 2001; Löfgren et al., 2009). Increased leaching is usually coupled with increased groundwater tables and stream runoff.

Studies describing treatment differences between whole-tree and stem-only harvesting are rare. According to soil water studies from below 50 cm in the mineral soil, Westling et al. (2004) observed lower concentrations 9-11 years after whole-tree harvest. No explanation was given.

Soil pools were not affected by harvest differences (Örlander et al., 1997). In another study by Zetterberg et al. (2008) lower concentrations were still measurable after 28-31 years.

In summary, the concentration of SO_4^{2-} usually decreases after cutting, regardless of harvest method (CH and WTH). The effect is usually short-term since much of the increase can be explained by the "clear-cut" effect e.g. increased nitrification and subsequent release of H⁺ leading to increased retention of SO_4^{2-} ions on mineral surfaces. Processes responsible for the observed treatment effects include:

- Reduced dry deposition
- Dilution via increased groundwater tables and stream runoff
- Inhibition of S-oxidizing bacteria
- Anaerobic condition leading to S reduction
- Increased soil retention
- Changes in plant uptake

8.6.3 Cl⁻

Chloride is, together with $SO_4^{2^-}$ and NO_3^- , a major component of the strong acid anion sum (equation 7). However, chlorine (including all organic forms of chlorine and inorganic Cl⁻) is seldom studied in forested systems (Kauffman et al., 2003, Lovett et al., 2005) probably since the acidifying effect of Cl⁻ after harvest is less pronounced compared with the other two major anions (Neal et al., 1998). It originates primarily from atmospheric deposition (dry or wet) of sea salt why the highest soil and water concentrations are found in coastal regions (Öberg, 1998). During heavy storm events, sea salt deposition can cause episodic acidification in streams and lakes (e.g. Wigington et al., 1996a; Wright et al., 1988) and in the most severe cases lead to fish death (Hindar et al., 1994). An increase in neutral salt concentration is a powerful variable for displacing cations, aluminium and H⁺ on the soil exchange complex. This "sea-salt" effect is well recognized and has been documented over the years in Europe (e.g. Wiklander, 1975; Harriman et al., 1995; Hindar et al., 2005) and America (Wigington et al., 1996b). Input via weathering is considered small. For example, Lovett et al. (2005) estimated that only 1-2% of stream water output originated from weathering in Hubbard Brook, USA.

In general, the concentration of Cl⁻ decrease following harvest in soil water (Dahlgren & Driscoll, 1994; McLaughlin & Phillips, 2006; Westling et al., 2004; Parfitt et al., 2002; Robertson et al., 2000), groundwater (Neal et al., 2004) and stream water (Adamson et al., 1987; Neal et al., 2004) compared with pre-harvest conditions and uncut controls. In most studies this decrease is attributed to a reduction in dry deposition following the removal of "atmospheric scavenging" trees (Westling et al., 2004; Robertson et al., 2000; Neal et al., 2004; Adamson et al., 1987; Neal et al., 2004).

For example, Robertson et al. (2000) studied the effect of stem-only harvest in throughfall and soil water chemistry under four different tree species (spruce, pine, oak and alder) in the UK. Compared with pre-cutting values the concentration of Cl^- in the L-, A-, and C-horizons decreased during a three years study period immediately following harvest (especially below conifer trees) as a result of decreased atmospheric deposition and/or dilution. The most dramatic decrease (-715 µeq per litre) occurred in the A-horizon below pine trees. Robertson et al. (2000) suggested that higher surface leaf area of conifers and the fact that conifer trees don't shed their needles during winter time is likely to have caused the species differences. Neal et al. (2002) found similar results in a paired catchment study. Following stem-only harvest the concentration of Cl⁻ in groundwater and stream water decreased during a six years study period, compared

with an uncut control forest and pre-harvest conditions. Adamson et al., (1987) reported decreased stream water Cl⁻ concentrations two years after stem-only harvest, relative to a control catchment. The number of long-term observations is few. However, McLaughlin & Phillips (2006), measured lower soil water Cl⁻ concentrations (-14.4 μ eq per litre) in the mineral soil (total 25-50 cm) 16-18 years after whole-tree harvest compared with a control forest. However, no treatment differences could be seen in the stream water concentrations. No explanation was given, but it is likely that the crown structure of the regenerating stand has not fully developed which would lead to lower dry deposition compared with a mature forest. Also, the lack of response in stream water could be the result of internal sources releasing Cl⁻, see below.

Changes in stream water chemistry may not always mirror those in soil water and groundwater. For example, Parfitt et al. (2002) measured decreased soil water concentrations in the mineral soil (10 and 60 cm) up to three years after stem-only cutting of a *Pinus radiata* stand in New Zeeland, similar to the results above. However, spring water and stream water concentrations did not show any response to cutting (or decreased slightly), which suggested internal sources of Cl⁻ (rhyolite and pumice) released deeper down in the soil via weathering processes. Internal sources of Cl⁻ were also believed to be the reason for increased stream water concentrations six months after stem-only cutting in the Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest since output were larger than atmospheric input (Likens et al., 1970). However, some of the increase could also be attributed to the addition of a Br⁻ containing herbicide, not separated from Cl⁻ during analysis.

These results are in agreement with those of Dahlgren & Driscoll (1994) who studied the shortterm effect (5-6 years) of whole-tree harvest on soil water and stream water chemistry at three study sites. In general, soil water concentrations were small and relatively constant throughout the soil profile. Also, highest concentrations were found below coniferous stands compared with hardwood stands, similar to the results of Robertson et al. (2000). Clear-cutting resulted in a small short-term decrease in soil water concentrations in the Oa-horizon at two of the three sites. However, no changes were seen further down in the mineral soil (Bhs- and Bs2-horizon) whereas stream water concentrations increased slightly before returning to values similar to the control. Although not discussed this would indicate an internal source of Cl⁻. Öberg (1998) showed in a review that organic matter contains chlorine in amounts similar to phosphorous, which may be released via mineralization. In addition, the concentration of organic chlorine is 2-4 times larger than the concentration of inorganic Cl⁻ in the O-horizon (Johansson et al., 2003). In a later study by Öberg et al. (2005) it was shown that the pool of chlorine in organic matter is much larger than what is being lost from a catchment. Similarly, Rodstedth et al. (2003) found that the pools of chlorine were four times larger than the pools of Cl⁻. A small change in this pool may have an effect on Cl⁻ budgets.

Higher stream water concentrations after stem-only cutting was also observed by Löfgren et al. (2009b), who discussed the possibility of decomposition of organic matter, roots and litter (cf. Kauffman et al., 2003; Svensson, 2006). In a Finnish study, Mannerkoski et al. (2005) also observed increased groundwater concentrations of Cl⁻. They found a significant increase in Cl⁻ concentration in groundwater wells five years after stem-only harvest compared with control plots and pre-harvest values. The increase appeared in every groundwater well regardless of soil type. According to Mannerkoski et al. (2005) the reason for this increase is unclear, but release via decomposition was not considered in their study.

In contrast to these results, Hornbeck & Kropelin (1982) did not see any significant changes in soil water (30 cm) or stream water Cl⁻ concentrations, three years after whole-tree harvest compared with a reference area. Similarly, Rusanen et al. (2004) did not observe any significant

treatment effects on groundwater Cl⁻ concentrations following stem-only harvest in a large aquifer. In Sweden, Grip (1982) did not see any changes in stream water concentrations of Cl⁻ three years after stem-only cutting compared with a growing control forest. Reasons for the lack of effects are seldom discussed.

Soil water and stream water fluxes of Cl⁻ generally increase after harvest in the range of 7.6-8.3 kg per hectare in soil water (Ranger et al., 2007) and 0.1-19 kg per hectare in stream water (Likens et al., 1970; Haveraaen, 1981; Hornbeck et al., 1990; Swank et al., 2001; Rosén et al., 1996; Löfgren et al., 2009) for periods lasting up to eight years (Rosén et al., 1996). As groundwater tables rise following cutting, runoff increases which leads to a greater export of Cl⁻ from the soil to the stream.

Treatment differences between whole-tree and stem-only harvest for groundwater and stream water are not described in the literature. However, results from a soil water study by Westling et al. (2004) suggest that the Cl⁻ concentration following whole-tree harvest is lower compared with stem-only at a soil depth of 50 cm. However, at another research site included in the same study, no differences could be seen. Additionally, the soil water fluxes did not show any treatment effects (Örlander et al., 2004). Thus, treatment differences appear to be small and insignificant between stem-only and whole-tree harvest.

Chloride is generally believed to act as a conservative ion in the soil with an output largely balanced by the input via deposition (Lovett et al., 2005). However, sandbox experiments in Hubbard Brook, USA, have shown evidence of a built up of inorganic Cl⁻ in the soil (Kauffman et al., 2003). During harvest this inorganic Cl⁻ could be released from roots, litter and organic matter and be responsible for as much as 50% of the leached Cl⁻ (op. cit.). In addition, reduced vegetation uptake and decomposition of organic chlorine to Cl⁻ could occur. In Sweden, Svensson (2006) showed that the biogeochemistry of Cl⁻ is much more complex than previously believed involving organically bound chlorine released to the aqueous solution via decomposition. As a result, stream water Cl⁻ could be as old as several hundreds of years. Svensson (2006) proposed that the upper soil layers would act as a sink where inorganic Cl⁻ is transformed into organic chlorine. The lower soil layers would thus act as a source to which organic chlorine is transported to and released via decomposition.

In summary, clear-cutting generally leads to decreased Cl⁻ concentrations and increased fluxes in soil water, groundwater and stream water regardless of harvest methods. However, increased concentrations have frequently been reported in groundwater and stream water. Mechanisms responsible for the observed changes include:

- Decreased dry deposition
- Reduced plant uptake
- Increased decomposition
- Weathering
- Dilution

8.6.4 DOC

The concentration and export of DOC largely depend on catchment characteristics and seasonality (Ågren et al., 2007). For example, higher concentrations of DOC can usually be found in soil- and stream water draining wetlands and peat land areas compared with forest soils. The DOC flux from these types of catchments can be 4-8% of the annual net primary production (Kolka et al., 2008). Besides being an important source of nutrient and energy (Jansson et al., 2000; Ågren et al., 2008), dissolved organic acids are also strong complexing agents for metals such as aluminium (Cory et al., 2006) and mercury (Garcia et al., 2007) thus reducing their bioavailability. DOC is also a natural source of acidity (Driscoll et al., 1989). For instance, in an American study by Dijkstra et al. (2001) organic acids accounted for 25% and 43% of the negative charge depending on tree species. This negative charge is balanced by positive ions (protons, base cations and metals) and contributes to increased base cation leaching losses from the soil (Dijkstra et al., 2001). In the northern part of Sweden, DOC is the driving force of episodic stream water acidification during spring flow (Laudon et al., 2000) and autumn storms (Laudon & Bishop, 2002).

Recently, a number of studies have reported increasing concentrations of DOC in surface waters (lakes and streams) across Europe and North America (e.g. Skjelkvåle et al., 2001ab, 2005). Different processes have been proposed to explain these trends such as increased runoff (Hongve et al., 2004), increased temperature (Freeman et al., 2001), climate change (Worrall et al., 2003), N deposition (Pregitzer et al., 2004) leading to a shift in microbial community and function (Zak et al., 2008), land use changes (Garnett et al., 2000), increasing CO₂-levels (Freeman et al., 2004), increased litter production (Roulet & Moore, 2006), decreasing acid deposition (Evans et al., 2006) and changes in atmospheric deposition chemistry and acid sensitivity of catchments (Monteith et al., 2007). In Sweden, Weyhenmeyer & Karlsson (2009) showed that DOC increased in a nonlinear manner along a temperature gradient (longitudinal and latitudinal), best explained by the number of days when air temperature reached above 0°C. These results suggest that climatic factors are responsible for the observed increases. On the other hand, looking more closely at the climatic variables, Zhang et al. (2010) did not find any evidence of either increasing or decreasing trends in DOC concentrations in lakes in Canada during the last 21 years, except for one study area (Experimental Lakes Area in central Canada) where increasing concentrations correlated with increasing summer precipitation and decreasing summer total solar radiation. In a recent review, Clark et al (2010) have discussed possible mechanisms for the DOC dynamics.

In contrast to the surface waters, Zetterberg & Löfgren (2008) reported decreasing soil water DOC concentrations at 50 cm depth in southern part of Sweden during the period 1986-2008, which suggest that different processes are responsible for the increasing trends in surface water and the decreasing trend in soil water. Similarly, Wu et al. (2009) observed decreasing soil water DOC concentrations in Norway.

According to Hope et al. (1994) the main sources of DOC is input from vegetation (leaching from live vegetation and litter) and from the soil (microbial metabolism, root exudation and leaching of soil organic matter). Clear-cutting will have an effect on these cycles, but little is known about the effects of logging on the leaching of DOC in the boreal forest (Piirainen et al., 2002).

This review shows that clear-cutting often increases the concentrations of DOC in soil water, ground water and stream water following stem-only harvest. For example, Robertson et al. (2000) reported increased soil water DOC concentrations in the forest floor (L-layer) three years after stem-only cutting of a mixed hardwood/softwood forest in the UK. Smaller, but still significant increases were seen in the mineral soil (A- and C-horizon). These increases were attributed to increased decomposition and possibly leaching from logging debris. Similarly, Dahlgren & Driscoll (1994) observed higher DOC concentrations in the Oa-, Bhs- and Bs2-horizon at high and low elevation, after whole-tree harvest compared with an uncut forest. In comparison, at middle elevation no change was observed in the Oa- and Bhs-horizon whereas the concentration

decreased in the Bs2-horizon. Stream water measurements showed that whole-tree harvest had little effect on the DOC concentrations. Thus, DOC was leached from the forest floor to the lower mineral soil where it was largely retained (op. cit.). However, a couple of years later, Romanowicz et al. (1996) observed increased stream water DOC concentrations in the outlet of the watershed. The reason for this was not discussed.

Neal et al. (2004) reported increased DOC concentrations in groundwater and stream water following stem-only harvest of a softwood forest. Groundwater measurements carried out in the paired catchment showed that DOC concentrations increased by +0.05 mg per litre compared with pre-harvest conditions and by +0.19 mg per litre compared with the uncut reference during the first six years. Similarly, stream water concentrations increased by +0.21 (0-2 years) and +0.32 (2-6 years) mg per litre compared with pre-harvest data and by +0.58 (0-2 years) and +0.69 (2-6 years) compared with the uncut reference. Reasons for these increases were not discussed. In a Finnish study by Piirainen et al. (2002), the concentration of DOC from below the O-horizon increased 1-3 years after stem-only harvest, but the retention of DOC increased in the mineral soil (both the E- and B-horizons). The overall flux from below the B-horizon did however not change after cutting. Cutting of the trees removed an important source of DOC but the overall result was an increase in concentration (twice as high in plot 1 and five times as high in plot 2) most likely as a result from increased decomposition and leaching from logging residues and the organic layer. The podzolization process explains an accumulation of DOC in the Bhorizon. However, increased retention in the E-horizon could not be explained. During the three-year study period, the increased leaching did not show any signs of levelling off to preharvest conditions.

In the Appalachian Mountains, Qualls et al. (2000) measured soil water concentration and fluxes of DOC from a stem-only harvested hardwood forest. The results were compared with an uncut control forest. During the two-year sampling period, the concentration and fluxes of DOC was higher in clear-cut plots compared with uncut plots for all horizons. The largest difference was noticed in the leaching from slash, which was 2.6 times higher than from throughfall. Thus, logging residues were the main DOC source in the cut plots, while most of the DOC originated from the forest floor in the growing forest. Also, a greater proportion of DOC was retained in the A-horizon from the cut plot, but increased runoff and higher concentrations resulted in higher DOC fluxes. In accordance with the results of Piirainen et al. (2002) and McLaughlin & Phillips (2006), they attributed the decrease in DOC to adsorption to Fe and Al-oxyhydroxides. In terms of fluxes, Katzensteiner (2003) measured higher soil water DOC fluxes from the Ohorizon in a clear-cut compared with a 10-year old regenerating stand and a mature forest (140 years) during a three-year period. These differences were attributed to increased decomposition in the organic layer and leaching of soluble DOC from the logging debris. However, at all three sites, DOC fluxes decreased with time.

In contrast to these results, Mannerskoski et al. (2005) did not find any significant treatment differences in groundwater DOC concentrations five years after stem-only harvest compared with growing uncut forest. Also, Rusanen et al. (2004) measured no short-term change in DOC concentration in spring water from large aquifers. The lack of response could be due to the large volumes of water stored in the aquifers, which would "buffer" small changes in groundwater chemistry. In addition, only 17% of the catchment was clear-cut over a period of three years.

In Sweden, Lundin (1999) observed short-term increases in stream water DOC concentrations after stem-only cutting varying between 1-21 mg per litre compared with pre-harvest data. In contrast, Löfgren et al. (2009b) reported no significant stream water changes after stem-only

cutting, except for one site where higher DOC concentrations were found two years after cutting compared with a control area. Increases in DOC were positively correlated with stream runoff, which showed the largest increases during base flow (lower transpiration rates) and peak flow (larger snow accumulation during winter resulting in larger snowmelt) (Sørensen et al., 2009). Thus, significant increases in DOC occurred during base flow and snowmelt.

Following clear-cutting, DOC concentrations have also been shown to decrease, especially following whole-tree harvest. For example, Ranger et al. (2007) observed short-term (0-3 years) decreasing soil water DOC concentrations (and fluxes) both in the forest floor and in the mineral soil (measured at 15, 60 and 120 cm) after whole-tree harvest compared with pre-harvest conditions. No explanation was given. Long-term 16-18 years) decreases were reported by McLaughlin & Phillips (2006) who measured lower concentrations of DOC in soil water at 25-50 cm depth and in stream water after whole-tree harvesting compared with an uncut control forest. In addition, the concentration of DOC decreased (70%) with increasing soil depth in the clear-cut area, which indicated a high adsorption to Fe- and Al oxyhydroxides in the B-horizon, similar to the findings of Piirainen et al. (2002). McLaughlin & Phillips (2006) suggested that the observed differences between the clear-cut and uncut forest could have been the result of differences in litter input and residual effects from harvesting i.e. mixing of humus and mineral soils. Compared with the reference stand, the DOC flux was lower from the clear-cut stand.

There is only one study by Zetterberg et al. (2008) comparing DOC concentrations between WTH and CH. In general no long-term treatment differences were seen after 27-31 years except for one site where lower concentrations were found.

Generally, clear-cutting seems to increase DOC concentrations and fluxes. In some cases, decreased concentrations have been observed as a result of increased retention in the mineral soil. Processes responsible for the observed changes include:

- Increased decomposition
- Leaching from logging litter and organic horizons
- Increased retention in the mineral soil
- Increased runoff
- Groundwater levels and flow paths

9 Assessment in relation to previous reviews

9.1 Hydrology

The conclusions from this review are in agreement with those of Hibbert (1967), Bosch & Hewlett (1982) and Brown et al., (2005). Hydrological changes following clear-cutting are well documented since the 1960's. The soil water and groundwater tables usually increase immediately following harvest as a result of reduced evapotranspiration, leading to increased annual stream runoff. As new forest stands and understory vegetation establish, water tables and runoff return to normal levels or even becomes lower compared with pre-harvest conditions due to higher evapotranspiration. Tree mortality might cause long-term temporary increase in runoff. Generally, there is a close relationship between the reduction in forest cover and increase in runoff. Clear-cutting can increase spring flood as a result or larger snow packs during winter-time, but generally the runoff increases are most pronounced during the vegetation period due to

the decreased evapotranspiration. Only small changes occur wintertime. Harvesting may also change the magnitude and duration of peak (storm) flow.

A temporary increase in groundwater tables affects decomposition, mineralization and nitrification rates in the soil as it becomes more anaerobic. In addition, redox reactions might occur. Together these processes may lead to decreased concentrations of base cations, NO_3^- and H^+ , which in turn have an effect on other soil processes. In addition, stream runoff increases also allows for a greater transport of ions from the system. In conclusion, increased water tables and runoff due to harvesting have a short-term effect on the base cation concentrations (decrease) and fluxes (increase) by affecting decomposition and mineralization. In addition, reduced nitrification and subsequent release of NO_3^- ions may reduce the base cation fluxes even further.

9.2 pH

In general harvest effects on soil exchangeable pools (H^+) are small and mostly non-significant. However, the short-term effect on soil pH can be high. For example, there are a number of studies where forest floor and mineral soil pH have been shown to increase during the first five years in the range of +0.3 to +0.9 (n=3) and +0.1 to +0.4 (n=9) units, respectively, following whole-tree and stem-only cutting. These short-term increases are mainly a result of decomposition, mineralization and litter leaching, causing the concentrations of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺ to increase in the soil solution. Base cations replace H⁺ at the soil exchange complex leading to an increased soil pH. It appears that H⁺ is most often exchanged for Ca²⁺ (Katzensteiner, 2003; Hendrickson et al., 1989; Simard et al., 2001). Lower rates of nitrification would operate in a similar way due to a lower production of H⁺. After a few years, pH returns to pre-harvest conditions or values similar to uncut control forests. However, at some sites medium- to long-term pH increases have been observed in the forest floor (+0.2 to +1.2 units, n=3) and mineral soil (+0.1 to +0.6 units, n=6) up to seventeen years after cutting. These long-term changes can also be explained by base cation concentration changes (Simard et al., 2001), but also by increased CEC due to the build-up of soil organic matter (McLaughlin & Phillips, 2006).

Short- to medium-term pH decreases in the forest floor (-0.5 units, n=2) and mineral soil (-0.6 to -0.2 units, n=8) have been found in a few studies. In soils with high nitrification rates, pH usually decreases. Also a decrease in decomposition and mineralization, e.g. as a result of higher groundwater tables, may also lower pH by accumulation of organic matter. Long-term pH decreases occur as a result of natural biological acidification via plant uptake.

The conclusions regarding pH are partly in agreement with previous reviews (Sinclair et al., 1992; Egnell et al., 1998; Swedish Energy Agency, 2006). Egnell et al. (1998) concluded that "there is a temporary (10-20 years) increase in soil pH after clear-cutting which is 0-0.4 units lower in the humus layer following whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only. There are no observed pH effects in the mineral soil. However, this review shows that mineral soil pH increases cannot be ruled out.

Differences in pH between whole-tree and stem-only harvest are usually too small to be observed in the soil. Thus, in most studies, treatment differences are non-significant except for some Swedish studies (Staaf & Olsson, 1991; Olsson et al., 1996b and Olsson et al., 2004) where lower forest floor pH (but not in the mineral soil) has been reported after whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only. With time, these differences have disappeared. Sinclair et al. (1992) concluded that "the increase in pH after felling is smaller after whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only" and the Swedish Energy Agency (2006); "whole-tree harvest temporary lowers the concentration of exchangeable H^+ in the humus layer while the mineral soil remains *unaffected*" which is in agreement with this review.

Clear-cutting effects on pH in soil water, groundwater and stream water are more conclusive. Generally, pH decreases are consistent with increased NO₃⁻ concentrations, indicating netnitrification, and the release of organic acids from logging debris (e.g. Tremblay et al., 2009). Reported pH decreases in soil water varies between -0.3 to -0.6 units (forest floor) and -0.07 to -0.2 units (mineral soil \geq 50cm). Decreases in soil water pH in the 0-50 cm mineral soil have not been specified. Groundwater and surface water decreases varies between -0.14 units and -0.03to -0.8 units, respectively. Although not as common, there are also reports of higher soil water pH as a result of decreased nitrification (Ranger et al., 2007), decomposition and mineralization (Piirainen et al., 2004) and on rare occasion, bicarbonate production (Parfitt et al., 2002). Longterm increases in pH may results from increased CEC and weathering processes releasing buffering base cations to the soil solution (McLaughlin & Phillips). These results agree with those of Feller (2005) for soil water and stream water where clear-cutting "*lowers the pH in soil water and stream water in the order of magnitude of 0.2-0.5 pH-units as a result of nitrification and release of organic acids*". However, increases in pH were not discussed.

In conclusion, clear-cutting most often causes temporarily higher pH in soil, but lower pH in soil water, ground water and surface water. Generally, there are no differences in pH effects between whole-tree and stem-only harvest.

9.3 Carbon (C) and CEC

Organic matter plays an important role for the cation-exchange capacity of soils. Hence, a reduction in organic matter content may decrease the buffering capacity of the soil and subsequently increase the sensitivity to acid inputs. In this assessment, based on a limited number of C studies, total C concentrations appear to be largely unaffected by tree harvest although there have been some records of decreased concentrations in the forest floor and small concentration increases in the mineral soil. Total C pools seem to decrease in the humus layer and increase in the mineral soil as a result of accelerated decomposition and a downward transport and retention. With time, forest floor C pool rebuilds as a result of long-term input of litter. Most treatment differences are non-significant between whole-tree and stem-only harvest.

The data suggest that the overall effects of cutting on total C concentration are small, which is in agreement with the review of Kreutzweiser et al. (2008). Out of the 14 sites studied, 76 % showed no change in soil C concentrations following clear-cutting (forest floor and mineral soil horizons combined). Thus, only 24 % of the sites showed increases or decreases in soil C concentrations. The decreases were attributed to lower litter inputs while increases were not explained.

The assessment indicates decreasing forest floor C pools after clear-cutting. The effects on this soil layer are seldom discussed in other reviews. However, Sinclair et al. (1992) suggested "*the volume of humus will decrease*". Increased mineral soil pools of C after clear-cutting are in agreement with the review of Sanchez et al. (2006) who used data from the Long-Term Soil Productivity (LTSP) database following organic matter removal, including stem-only and whole-tree harvest treatments. During the first five years after clear-cutting, increases in mineral soil C pools were observed at most sites attributed to rapid decomposition of dead roots and root exudates from the new forest stand. The results are partly in agreement with Johnson & Curtis (2001) who found that the pools of mineral soil C increased following stem-only harvest

with 18 %. However, following whole-tree harvest, mineral soil C pools decreased with 6 %. Their conclusion is based on a much larger material and probably more conclusive. In contrast to these results, Egnell et al. (1998) concluded "*there is no short-term (1-16 years) effect on soil C pools*".

Differences between harvest intensities (WTH versus CH) were reviewed by Rosén (1991) who concluded that "the risk of a significant decrease of soil organic matter following whole-tree harvesting cannot be verified" and "thus, it appears that losses in soil C content are restricted to the forest floor and is of short duration. In Sweden, where harvest of logging residues is mainly carried out in coniferous forests with higher biomass production, treatment effects could appear after harvest". The result from this report verifies these conclusions based on a small number of data.

Due to the strong interrelation between C and CEC, the short- and long-term treatment effects on CEC are usually small and non-significant, regardless of harvest method. However, just like soil C, individual observations of increases and decreases in CEC have been documented. A decrease in the amount of organic matter or pH in the upper part of the soil leads to a decreased CEC, while increased humification, weathering and pH contribute to an increased CEC. Postharvest effects between different treatments (WTH \leftrightarrow CH) are often insignificant. An increased CEC may counterbalance base cation leaching.

9.4 Nitrogen (N) and major anions (NO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻, Cl⁻, DOC)

Generally, the NO₃⁻ concentrations increase after harvest compared with pre-harvest conditions and uncut controls, regardless of harvest method. In this review, the short-term (\leq 5 years) increases in soil water vary between +9-355 (forest floor), +23-6640 (\leq 50 cm) and +2.4-355 (\geq 50 cm) μ eq per litre. The NO₃⁻ concentrations increase in groundwater and stream varies +36-560 and +0.05-5790 µeq per litre, respectively. During the clear-cut phase, nitrification continues releasing NO_3^- and H⁺ to the soil solution. Low plant uptake means that the ions can be leached to deeper soil horizons and ultimately the stream water. Increased NO₃⁻ concentrations most often coincide with increased base cation concentrations especially K⁺. Microbial immobilization and mechanical mixing of the forest floor and mineral soil also influence the rate of nitrification. In some cases temporary long-term changes has been observed as a result of tree mortality. In contrast, decreased NO₃⁻ concentrations (and K^+) have been reported as a result of cutting nitrogen fixating stands e.g. alder, dilution, denitrification, rapid revegetation etc. Also, excess NO_3^- leaching may be affected by the choice of silvicultural practices e.g. buffer zones, partial cutting etc. Soil water studies between whole-tree and stem-only harvest indicate that removing the logging residues can reduce the NO_3^- leaching. Whether or not this is an effective method for reducing excess NO_3^- leaching to streams cannot be determined since there are no stream water studies uniquely comparing the treatment differences.

Increased NO₃⁻ losses are consistent with decreased total N concentrations and pools in the forest floor and mineral soil. The total N decreases are usually associated with decomposition (smaller soil pools) and increased runoff (loss of total N via leaching). Increased soil temperatures and moisture accelerates the N decomposition. In contrast, increases in total N concentrations, pools and fluxes may result from litter input and forest floor mass increases, retention deeper down in the soil, N-deposition, N-fixation and plant uptake (N recirculation). According to Egnell et al. (1998) the clear-cutting *"effect on N pools is not clear although there are some reports of lower soil pools in the humus layer and mineral soil"*. This is only partly true since soil N pools have been shown to increase in some studies due to retention. Kreutzweiser et al. (2008) reviewed clear-cutting effects in the boreal forests of North America. In terms of total N, *"the effect on total soil N (pools and concentrations) is variable and difficult to predict and highly site-specific. With respect to the 13 studies reviewed, 73 % of the soils showed no change. Compared with the mineral soil, changes (both increases and decreases) are more likely to occur in the forest floor".* In a meta-analysis, Johnson & Curtis (2001) also found that soil N (and C) increased following stem-only cutting by +18% but decreased with -6% after whole-tree harvest, in coniferous forests only. Despite these changes Johnson & Curtis (2001) concluded that the effect of harvesting is small, which is in agreement with the earlier review by Johnson (2002).

There are a number of reviews assessing clear-cutting effects on NO₃⁻ concentrations and fluxes in groundwater and stream water (e.g. Vitousek et al., 1979; Vitousek & Melillo, 1979; Martin et al., 1984; Binkley & Brown, 1993; Brown & Binkley, 1994; Feller, 2005; Gundersen et al., 2006). In general, the results from these assessments are in agreement with those in this assessment. However, in an old Swedish review, Rosén et al. (1991) concluded that "mineralization of nutrients (N, P, K and Mg) and nitrification in the forest floor decrease after whole-tree harvesting", and "in terms of nutrient leaching, whole-tree harvesting only have a minor effect". Clearly, this is not true since increased NO₃⁻ concentrations and fluxes have been observed following both stem-only and whole-tree harvesting. But, Rosén et al. (1991) pointed out "leaching below piles of slash may be substantial". Leaching from the slash and increased mineralization below the piles partly explains the observed differences between stem-only and whole-tree harvested plots. Egnell et al. (1998) on the other hand stated, "clear-cutting increases nutrient leaching. Compared with stem-only harvest, nutrient leaching is lower following whole-tree harvesting" which is in agreement with this assessment. Later on, the Swedish Environmental Agency (2006) concluded that "whole-tree harvesting reduces the concentration of NO_3 in the humus layer of the soil and sometimes in the soil water, but the effects are not clear". These results can be questioned since lower soil concentrations have been found in a number of studies (Rosén Lundmark-Thelin, 1987: Emmett et al., 1991; Staaf & Olsson, 1994; Titus et al., 1997). Thus, increased nitrification will lead to short-term acidification effects and NO₃- associated leaching of base cations from the system. The potential for nitrification can sometimes be reduced via whole-tree harvesting.

There are many reports of short-term decreases in SO_4^{2-} concentrations in soil water following stem-only and whole-tree harvest. The decreases range between -250 to -6 (0-50 cm) and -26.5 $(\geq 50 \text{ cm})$ µeq per litre. Decreases in the forest floor have also been observed but not quantified. Changes in groundwater and stream water vary between -241 to -84 and -217 to -10 µeq per litre, respectively. There are a number of processes responsible including dilutions, inhibition of S oxidizing bacteria, increased plant uptake, anaerobic conditions, microbial immobilization and less dry deposition. During periods of high atmospheric deposition a reduction in dry deposition would certainly have been responsible for much of the change. However, due to the obtained emission reductions, the total deposition of SO_4^{2} has tangibly decreased while other factors become more important. In areas where SO_4^{2-} has accumulated in the soil, clear-cutting could delay the aquatic recovery process via the release of SO_4^{2-} during decomposition. Increased SO_4^{2-} concentrations have been reported in a number of studies as a result of increased decomposition and mineralization, leaching from logging residues and dead organic matter, decreased plant uptake and desorption. The chemical transformations, which individually or combined could explain decreased stream water concentrations were summarized in a review by Feller (2005). He concluded that the process most likely responsible for decreased stream water concentrations is increased SO₄²⁻ adsorption in the soil.

The Cl⁻ concentrations have been found to decrease following clear-cutting as a result of reduced dry deposition and/or dilution. Decreases in soil water are seldom quantified but has been shown to decrease in the range -72 to -32 (n=4) in groundwater µeq per litre and -66 to -35(n=2) µeq per litre in stream water. Treatment differences between stem-only and whole-tree harvests appear to be small and insignificant. However, increased Cl⁻ concentrations have frequently been observed following both stem-only and whole-tree harvest. In most cases there seem to be an internal source of chlorine from which inorganic Cl⁻ is released via leaching or decomposition. Recent findings by Svensson et al. (2006) indicate that the soil pools are dominated by organic chlorine, while the fluxes are dominated by inorganic Cl⁻. The amounts of organic chlorine stored in organic matter are of the same order of magnitude as the amounts phosphorous (P: 0.03-0.2% and Cl: 0.01-0.5% dry matter) (Öberg, 1998). Accelerated decomposition after harvest could thus lead to the formation of inorganic Cl⁻, which is easily leached from the system together with base cations. So far, this process has been largely overlooked in the literature. Except for a brief mentioning by Feller (2005), neither of the reviews mentioned in chapter 3 discussed increased Cl⁻ concentration and the potential acidification effects. As the SO_4^{2-} concentrations in soil water and surface waters have decreased, the relative importance of other mobile anions for the base cations leaching has increased.

Based on few studies, the DOC concentrations in soil water, groundwater and stream water have increased during the short-term, clear-cut phase. The long-term effects are largely unknown. Decomposition and leaching from the logging residues and organic horizons have been proposed as responsible for the increased DOC concentrations. Increased DOC concentrations in soil water does not necessary lead to increased stream water concentrations since DOC is effectively retained in the B-horizon of podzols. These results are in agreement with the review of Kreutzweiser et al. (2008) who found that "disrupting the carbon cycle usually leads to increased DOC concentration both in soil water, streams and lakes attributed to a rise in water tables, leaching from slash and increased decomposition". Studies linking soil water and groundwater changes to stream water are rare. In terms of DOC it has been shown that the concentration and export of DOC to a large extent depends on catchment characteristics and seasonality (Ågren et al., 2007). Bishop et al. (2004) have shown the importance of the near-stream zone and hydrological flow paths. These studies indicate that the stream water response following cutting may differ significantly from soil water and groundwater. This is in agreement with the review by Hope et al. (1994) who concluded "differences in the export of DOC sometimes depend on hydrology, season and antecedent weather conditions and not the actual cutting".

Changes in anion concentrations (NO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻, Cl⁻ and organic anions/DOC) have a large impact on the base cation leaching. Neal et al. (1998a) studied individual effects of SO₄²⁻, NO₃⁻ and Cl⁻ on four acidification indices using multiple regression analysis (Figure 27). The general effect of increasing anion concentrations was an increase in Alⁿ⁺ and Ca²⁺ and a decrease in alkalinity and ANC (Figure 27). Also, the influence of individual anions varied. For example, compared with Cl⁻ and SO₄²⁻, the effect of NO₃⁻ on alkalinity and ANC was higher. In comparison, an increase in SO₄²⁻ had a greater effect on Ca²⁺ concentration than NO₃⁻. Also, the effects take place at different soil depths. For example, the small effect on Alⁿ⁺ by Cl⁻ indicates that the decrease in alkalinity and ANC occurs in the organic layers of the soil. Following the results from Neal et al. (1998) harvesting effects on individual anions should be discussed separately.



Figure 27. Based on nineteen sites, average coefficient variations could be determined for the acidification indices (Al, alkalinity, ANC and Ca²⁺). If NO₃⁻ decreases by 1 μeq per litre, Gran alkalinity will decrease by 0.3 μeq per litre. The remaining 0.7 μeq per litre is consumed by weathering, during which aluminium is released, From Neal et al. (1998a).

9.5 Base cations (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, K⁺)

Concern has been raised about forest productivity and risk of acidification when the loss of base cations exceeds input via weathering and deposition. In areas subjected to acid deposition and loss of buffering capacity, whole-tree harvest may exacerbate the negative effects of acid deposition. Following clear-cutting, short- and long-term increases in exchangeable and total base cation concentrations have been observed, both in the forest floor and mineral soil. Decomposition of fresh litter and leaching from logging residues left on ground is an immediate source of base cations. With time, decomposition of woody debris and roots becomes more important. An increase in soil moisture facilitates a downward movement of base cations in soil solution. Biological and/or mechanical mixing of organic and mineral soil layers accelerates the decomposition rates even further. Together these processes are responsible for the increases in exchangeable base cation concentrations in the forest floor and upper mineral soil. Increases deeper down in the mineral soil are usually explained by increased CEC offering more exchange sites to which base cations can absorb. In soils with extensive nitrification, exchangeable base cation concentrations in the mineral soil decreases via cation exchange processes with H⁺. Generally, the base cation trends in soil water, groundwater and stream water mirror those in the soil.

Egnell et al. (1998) concluded that the soil base cation pools and base saturation decrease following whole-tree harvesting. This is only partly true according to the reviewed studies. Kreutzweiser et al. (2008) reviewed changes in stream water concentration and export after CH and WTH in the North America boreal forest and showed that the base cation fluxes are likely to increase following harvest as a result of increased water fluxes. However, the soil concentrations (total and exchangeable) do not always change.

10 Conclusion

Following the abrupt removal of trees in final cutting, soil properties will be affected resulting in changed concentrations, pools and fluxes of many constituents. The quantitative importance and duration of these changes differ between sites. Treatment differences between whole-tree and stem-only harvest are difficult to quantify, which suggests that the effect of cutting per se is more important than the differences in harvest intensity, especially during the clear-cut phase. In general, short-term effects (equal to the clear-cut phase) are well studied, especially in forest soils, soil water and stream water, since this is usually the time when the largest changes take place. Groundwater studies are largely lacking. Clear-cutting effects should also be viewed in a catchment perspective, covering the effects on the entire soil to stream water system. This type of studies should therefore be prioritized in future research.

In addition, long-term effects are rarely described due to the lack of long-term data. There are no studies describing treatment effects older than 31 years. Considering normal forest rotation periods (60-120 years) and that it may take decades for soil changes to become detectable, continued monitoring in already established research sites should be supported. This becomes even more apparent when considering the use of steady-state mass-balances and dynamic modelling for predicting long-term changes. According to the model simulations, clear-cutting, especially whole-tree harvest, has a long-term negative impact on soil nutrients which cannot always be compensated for by weathering processes and deposition. However, based on the empirical data assessed in this review, the short-term effect of clear-cutting final felling is relatively small even though there are sites where the effect of cutting has been considerable. The long-term effects are largely unknown. Thus, there is a discrepancy between the empirical data and model predictions. A summary of the results from this assessment is given below:

Hydrology:

- Following harvest, groundwater tables and runoff usually increases as a result of reduced evapotranspiration varying between -3 to +96 cm (groundwater), -52 to +103 mm (soil water) and +4 to +450 mm (annual stream runoff). In the Nordic countries, runoff increases between 90-371 mm (average 212 mm) have been observed.
- With time, groundwater tables and stream runoff returns to pre-harvest conditions or values similar to an uncut forest. High transpiration rates by young forest stands may occasionally lead to lower runoff than before harvest.

pH and H^+ :

- In general, the short- and long-term effects of harvest on exchangeable pools of H⁺ are small and non-significant, regardless of harvest intensity. However, the short-term effect on soil pH can be high, both after stem-only and whole-tree harvest. Decomposition of organic matter, mixing of organic matter and mineral soil, nitrification and changed base cation concentrations are plausible explanations.
- Short- to long-term pH decreases in the forest floor may take place after cutting as a result of biological acidification. pH changes in the mineral soil appear to be linked with increased nitrification or increased groundwater tables, slowing down the decomposition processes.
- Treatment differences between stem-only and whole-tree harvests are rare, but when measurable, whole-tree harvest leads to higher acidity.
- Soil water, groundwater and stream water studies frequently report decreased pH regardless of harvest intensity as a result of nitrification. This effect is of relatively shortduration as the new forest stand establishes and NO₃⁻ concentrations returns to preharvest conditions.

Carbon and CEC:

- Based on few observations, the harvest effect on the total C concentrations is small and non-significant regardless of harvest method.
- Clear-cutting may lead to short- and long-term decreases in the forest floor C pools and increases in the mineral soil C pools. With time, the forest floor C pool rebuilds as a result of long-term input of litter

- Most studies indicate that there is no difference between WTH and CH indicating that whole-tree harvest does not lead to soil C losses. However, a larger dataset should be considered since the review of Johnson & Curtis (2001) suggest otherwise.
- The treatment effect on CEC is often non-significant. However, increases and decreases have been observed both in the forest floor and mineral soil. The treatment effects on CEC are coupled to the organic matter quantity, decomposition rates, weathering rates, clay minerals and changes in pH.

Nitrogen:

- Harvest effects on the soil N concentration and pools are similar to those observed for soil C.
- Short- and long-term decreases in the forest floor soil N concentrations and pools have been registered following whole-tree and stem-only harvest as a result of decomposition.
- Short- and long-term increases in the forest floor soil N concentration and pools could also occur e.g. as a result of plant uptake from deeper soil horizons which accumulates in the forest floor via litter input.
- Short- and long-term increases in the mineral soil N concentration and pools have frequently been reported due to leaching and retention. In contrast, mineral soil N concentration and pools could also decrease as a result of leaching.
- Short- and long-term treatment differences between WTH and CH are usually nonsignificant but there are examples where WTH has lowered the concentrations and pools of total N during the first five years.
- The effects of cutting on soil N appear to be site-specific and difficult to predict.
- Decomposition of total N and nitrification are key processes for the observed increases in soil water, groundwater and stream water NO₃⁻ concentrations and leaching of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺.

Anions $(NO_3^-, SO_4^{2-}, Cl^- and DOC)$:

- NO₃⁻ concentrations and fluxes usually increase during the clear-cut phase, regardless of harvest method. Enhanced NO₃⁻-leaching is often associated with increased base cation, especially K⁺, concentrations and fluxes. The magnitude of change and the duration of the increased leaching vary from site to site.
- SO₄²⁻ concentrations and fluxes usually decrease following harvest, regardless of cutting method. During times of high deposition, a reduction in dry deposition often explained much of the observed decreases. Total S deposition has decreased why other processes become more important such as S retention and SO₄²⁻ desorption.
- Decreases in Cl⁻ concentrations usually follows clear-cutting, especially in coastal areas, as a result of decreased dry deposition.
- Increases in Cl⁻ concentrations have frequently been reported suggesting an internal source of chlorine.
- DOC concentrations and fluxes often increase following clear-cutting.
- Following the law of electron neutrality principle, changes in anion concentrations will have an impact on the base cation concentrations.

Base cations (Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and K^{+}):

- Clear-cutting effects on Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺ results are complicated to assess due to the large variation of analytical methods used for soils.
- Decomposition and nutrient release from logging residues and organic soil layers are the primary sources of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺.

- Clear-cutting favours decomposition and mineralization. However, drying out of the top-most soil layer may slow down the rates.
- Compared with Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺, K⁺ is quickly leached from the logging residues. During periods of nitrification, excess NO₃⁻ leaching increases the base cation losses, especially K⁺. The base cations may be retained further down in the mineral soil.
- Short- term increases in the BC concentrations (total and exchangeable) in forest floor and mineral soil usually follows clear-cutting as a result of decomposition, deposition, weathering, litter leaching and mechanical/biological mixing.
- In the mineral soil, increases in BC concentrations (total and exchangeable) are explained by higher CEC or mineral fixation of K⁺.
- BC concentration decreases (total and exchangeable) often results from cation exchange processes, which generally coincides with extensive nitrification and release of H⁺. In addition, a loss of organic matter may lead to a decrease in concentrations and pools.
- Short- and long-term treatment effects on the base cations pools (exchangeable and total) are usually statistically insignificant.
- When measurable, decreasing base cation pools generally take place in the upper parts of the soil due to decomposition and leaching.
- Increases in mineral soil base cation pools results from weathering and adsorption of base cations leached from higher soil layers.
- In general, differences between whole-tree and stem-only harvest (WTH↔CH) are statistically insignificant in terms of exchangeable base cation concentrations.
- When measurable, lower exchangeable concentrations of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺ and K⁺ in the forest floor and in the mineral soil (0-10 and ≥10 cm) have been reported after whole-tree harvest compared with stem-only harvest for periods ranging between 3-21 years. The mechanism responsible for the observed differences is a relocation of base cations from decomposing logging residues to the soil exchange complex in stem-only harvested plots.
- Soil water, groundwater and stream water base cation concentrations usually increase after clear-cutting regardless of harvest intensity.
- Base cation fluxes increase as a result of increased groundwater tables and stream runoff.

The short-term (decades) empirical results versus steady-state mass-balance models:

- In general, there is a discrepancy between the empirical data in this assessment and mass-balance budget calculations for base cations.
- According to the mass balances, weathering and deposition alone cannot compensate for losses of Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺, regardless of harvest method (CH and WTH). Based on Swedish mass-balances, losses of K⁺ following CH in Scots pine stands are compensated for via weathering and deposition but not in Norway spruce stands following WTH.
- In this review, the long-term studies indicate that there is a relocation of BC from the forest floor and upper mineral soil to lower horizons. Additionally, there are indications on increased weathering rates following whole-tree harvest compensating for the BC-losses. Thus, long-term acidification effects due to BC-removal are still uncertain. Such feedback mechanisms are difficult to predict but necessary to include in the mass-balance models.
- In this review, it has been shown that BC-losses do occur via biomass removal and anion-associated leaching during the clear-cut phase. Regardless of harvest intensity, and thereby biomass BC-removal, it appears as if nitrification and NO₃⁻ leaching is a key process for surface water acidification.

• The data in this review cover only 0-30 years due to the lack of long-term experimental data. In addition, the studies may not be representative. It can therefore not be disregarded that acidification effects may appear later on in the succession, as indicated by the mass-balance simulations.

Implications for dynamic models such as MAGIC for simulating long-term biomass harvest acidification effects, the following issues are important:

- When modelling long-term acidification trends in first order streams following clearcutting and aboveground biomass removal, different landscape units and hydrological flow paths within a catchment must be considered.
- Conceptually, processes in both recharge and discharge areas (including the riparian zone) should preferably be simulated. Thus, when implementing the model, a minimum of two horizontally compartments should be used.
- The zonal appearance and chemical characteristics of podzols commonly found in Swedish forest soils have an impact on concentrations, pools and fluxes. Accordingly, a two-box model should represent the recharge compartment (forest floor & mineral soil) while a one-box model is sufficient for discharge areas.
- With time the forest floor builds up affecting CEC. At present, CEC is considered constant in MAGIC but should vary with time.
- Nitrification and NO₃⁻ leaching are key processes in terms of base cation leaching, especially for K⁺. The effect is usually short-term (\leq 5 years) but may remain elevated for periods up to 10 years. Hence, different scenarios on nitrification should be simulated.
- There are indications on increased weathering rates following harvest, which may compensate for the removed base cations. Hence, different scenarios on weathering should be simulated.

11 Acknowledgment

Research support for this literature review was provided by the Swedish Energy Agency and the Swedish Forest Agency for which we are very thankful. We would also like to express our sincere gratitude to Associate Professor Bengt Olsson and research assistant Doctor Martyn Futter, both at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences at Uppsala Sweden, for their insightful comments and suggestions on how to improve the content.

12 References

- Adams, P.W., Flint, A.L., Fredriksen, R.L., 1991. Long-Term Patterns in Soil-Moisture and Revegetation after a Clear-Cut of a Douglas-Fir Forest in Oregon. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 41, 249-263.
- Adams, M. B., Burger, J. A., Jenkins, A. B. & Zelazny, L. 2000. Impact of harvesting and atmospheric deposition on nutrient depletion of eastern US hardwood forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 138: 301-319.
- Adamson, J. K., Hornung, M., Pyatt, D. G. & Anderson, A. R. 1987. Changes in solute chemistry of drainage waters following the clear-felling of a Sitka spruce plantation. *Forestry*, 60(2): 165-177.
- Adamson, J. K. & Hornung, M. 1990. The effect of clearfelling a Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*) plantation on solute concentrations in drainage waters. *Journal of hydrology*, 116: 287-297.
- Ahtiainen, M. 1992. The effects of forest clear-cutting and scarification on the water quality of small brooks. *Hydrobiologia*, 243/244: 465-473.

- Ahtiainen, M. & Huttunen, P. 1999. Long-term effects of forest management on water quality and loading in brooks. *Boreal Environment Research*, 4: 101-114.
- Aherne, J., Posh, M., Forsius, M., Vuorenmaa, J., Tamminen, P., Holmberg, M. & Johansson, M. 2008. Modelling the hydro-geochemistry of acid-sensitive catchments in Finland under atmospheric deposition and biomass harvesting scenarios. *Biogeochemistry*, 88: 233-256.
- Andersson, P., Berggren, D. & Nilsson, I. 2002. Indices for nitrogen status and nitrate leaching from Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) stands in Sweden. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 157: 39-53.
- Anonymous, 1977. Projekt helträdsutnyttjande. Sammanfattande slutrapport 1977. Djursholm. Sveriges skogsvårdsförbund. 22 pp. *In Swedish*.
- Akselsson, C. & Westling, O. 2005. Regionalized nitrogen budgets in forest soils for different deposition and forestry scenarios in Sweden. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 14 (1): 85-95.
- Akselsson, C. Westling, O., Sverdrup, H. & Gundersen, P. 1997. Nutrient and carbon budgets in forest soils as decision support in sustainable forest management. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 238 (1-3): 167-174.
- Akselsson, C., Westling, O. & Örlander, G. 2004. Regional mapping of nitrogen leaching from clear-cuts in southern Sweden. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 202: 235-243.
- Arthur, M. A., Tritton, L. M. & Fahey, T. J. 1993. Dead bole mass and nutrients remaining 23 years after clear-felling of a northern hardwood forest. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 23(7): 1298-1305.
- Baize, D. & Girard, M-C. 2009. Référentiel pédologique 2008. Association française pour l'étude du sol. Versailles Cedex, France.pp 407.
- Bélanger, N., Paré, D. & Yamasaki, S. H. 2003. The soil acid-base status of black spruce stands after whole-tree and stem-only harvest. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 33: 1874-1879.
- Belleau, A., Brais, S. & Paré, D. 2006. Soil nutrient dynamics after harvesting and slash treatment in boreal aspen stands. *Soil Science Society of American Journal*, 70: 1189-1199.
- Binkley, D. & Brown, T. C. 1993. Forest practices as nonpoint sources of pollution in North America. Water Resources Bulletin, 29(5): 729-740.
- Bishop, K.. Grip, H. & O'Neill, A. 1990. The origins of acid runoff in a hillslope during storm events. *Journal of Hydrology* 116: 35-61.
- Bishop, K., Seibert, J., Köhler, S. & Laudon, H. 2004. Resolving the Double Paradox of rapidly mobilized old water with highly variable responses in runoff chemistry. *Hydrological Processes*, 18:185-189.
- Bladon, K. D., Silins, U., Wagner, M. J., Stone, M., Emelko, M. B., Mendoza, C. A., Devito, K. J. & Boon, S. 2008. Wildfire impact on nitrogen concentration and production from headwater streams in southern Alberta's Rocky Mountains. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 38: 2359-2371.
- Borge, A. 1997. A comparison of buffered and unbuffered ammonium salts to determine exchangeable base cations in acid soils. *Communications in soil science and plant analysis*, 28(15-16): 1421-1428.
- Bormann, F. H., Likens, G. E., Fisher, D. W. & Pierce, R. S. 1968. Nutrient loss accelerated by clear-cutting of forest ecosystem. *Science, New Series*, 159. No 3817:882-884.
- Bosch, J. M. & Hewlett, J. D. 1982. A review of catchment experiments to determine the effect of vegetation changes on water yield and evapotranspiration. *Journal of Hydrology* 55: 3-23.
- Boyle, J. R., Phillips, J. J. & Ek, A. R. 1973. "Whole-tree" harvesting: nutrient budget evaluation. *Journal of Forestry*, 71(12): 760-762.
- Brady, N. C. & Weil, R. R. 1996. The nature and properties of soils. 11th edition. Pearson-Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ. 710pp.

- Brandt, M., Bergström, S. & Gardelin, M. 1988. Modelling the effects of clearcutting on runoff: Examples from central Sweden. *Ambio*, 17(5): 307-313.
- Brais, S., Camiré, C. & Paré, D. 1995. Impacts of whole-tree harvesting and winter windrowing on soil pH and base status of clayey sites of northwestern Quebec. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 25(6): 997-1007.
- Briggs, R. D., Hornbeck, J. W., Smith, C. T., Lemin Jr, R. C., McCormack Jr, M. L. 2000. Longterm effects of forest management on nutrient cycling in spruce-fir forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 138: 285-299.
- Brown, T. C. & Binkley, D. 1995. Effect of forest management on water quality in North American Forests. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report RM-248. 31 pp.
- Brown, A. E., Zhang, L., McMahon, T. A., Western, A. W. & Vertessy, R. A. 2005. A review of paired catchments studies for determining changes in water yield resulting from alterations in vegetation. *Journal of hydrology*, 310: 28-61.
- Burt, T. P. & G. Linking hydrology and biogeochemistry in complex landscapes. Progress *in Physical Geography*, 29 (3): 297-316.
- Caissie, D., Jolicoeur, S., Bouchard, M. & Poncet, E. 2002. Comparison of streamflow between pre and post timber harvesting in Catamaran Brook (Canada). *Journal of Hydrology*, 258: 232-248.
- Chesworth, W. 2008. Encyclopaedia of soil science. Dordrecht, the Netherlands. pp 902.
- Clark, J. M., Bottrell, S. H., Evans, C. D., Monteith, D. T., Bartlett, R., Rose, R., Newton, R. J. & Chapman, P. J. The importance of the relationship between scale and process understanding long-term DOC dynamics. *Science of the Total Environment*, 408: 2768-2775.
- COM. 2007. Commission of the European Communities, Communication from the Commission to the European Council and the European Parliament. An Energy Policy for Europe . {SEC(2007) 12}.Brussels, 10.1.2007 COM (2007) 1 Final.
- COM. 2008. Commission of the European Communities. Proposal for a directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources presented by the Commission. {COM (2008) 30 final}, {SEC (2008) 57}, {SEC (2008) 85}, Brussels, Brussels, 23.1.2008 COM (2008) 19 final 2008/0016 (COD).
- County Administration Board. 2009. Samråd till förslag till Åtgärdsprogram, Västerhavets vattendistrikt. Samrådsmaterial för perioden 1 mars – 1 september 2009. Missiv. Vattenmyndigheten västerhavets vattendistrikt den 16 februari 2009. 537-8561-2009. In Swedish.
- Cortina, J. & Vallejo, V. R. 1994. Effects of clearfelling on forest floor accumulation and litter decomposition in a radiata pine plantation. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 70: 299-310.
- Cory, N., Buffam, I., Laudon, H., Köhler, S. & Bishop, K. 2006. Landscape control of stream water aluminium in a boreal catchment during spring flood. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 40: 3494-3500.
- Covington, W. W. 1981. Accumulation and depletion of base cations in the forest floor in the northeastern United States. *Ecology*, 62 (1): 2774-2787.
- Dahlgren, R. A. & Driscoll, C. T. 1994. The effect of whole-tree clear-cutting on soil processes at the Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest, New Hampshire, USA. *Plant and Soil*, 158: 239-262.
- De Vries, W. & Breeuwsma, A. 1987. The relation between soil acidification and element cycling. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution,* 35: 293-310.
- Driscoll, C. T., Fuller, R. D., Schecher, W. D. 1989. The role of organic acids in the acidification of surface waters in the eastern U. S. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution,* 43: 21-40.
- Driessen, P. M. & Dudal, R. 1991. The major soils of the world. Lecture notes on their geography, formation, properties and use. 310 pp.
- Dubé, S., Plamondon, A-P. & Rothwell, R. L. 1995. Watering up after clear-cutting on Forested Wetlands of the St. Lawrence lowland. *Water Resources Research*, 31(7): 1741-175.

- Duchesne, L. & Houle, D. 2008. Impact of nutrient removal through harvesting on the sustainability of the boreal forest. Ecological Applications, 18(7): 1642-1651.
- Egnell, G., Nohrstedt, H-Ö., Weslien, J., Westling, O. & Örlander, G. 1999. Miljökonsekvensbeskrivning (MKB) av skogsbränsleuttag, asktillförsel och övrig näringskompensation. Rapport 1-1998. Skogsstyrelsen, Jönköping. 170 pp.
- Egnell, G. & Leijon, B. 1997. Effects of different levels of biomass removal in thinning on shortterm production of pinus sylvestris and picea abies stands. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 12: 17-26.
- Emmet, B. A., Anderson, J. M. & Hornung, M. 1991. The controls on dissolved nitrogen losses following two intensities of harvesting in a Sitka spruce forest (N. Wales). Forest Ecology and Management, 41: 65-80.
- Eriksson, E., Karltun, E. & Lundmark, J-E. 1992. Acidification of Forest Soils in Sweden. *Ambio*, 21 (2): 150-154.
- Evans, C. D., Cullen, J. M., Alewell, C., Kopácek, J., Marchetto, A., Moldan, F., Pretchel, A., Rogora, M., Veselý, J. & Wright, R. 2001. Recovery from acidification in European surface waters. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 5(3): 283-297.
- Fahey, T. J., Hughes, J. W., Pu, M. & Arthur, M. A. 1988. Root decomposition and nutrient flux following whole-tree harvest of Northern hardwood forest. *Forest Science*, 34(3): 744-768.
- Fahey, T. J., Stevens, P. A., Hornung, M. & Rowland, P. 1991. Decomposition and nutrient release from logging residue following conventional harvest of Sitka spruce in North Wales. *Forestry*, 64(3): 289-301.
- Fahey, T. J. & Arthur, M. A. 1994. Further studies of root decomposition following harvest of a Northern hardwood forest. *Forest Science*, 40(4): 618-629.
- Falkengren-Grerup, U., Linnermark, N. Tyler, G. 1987. Changes in acidity and cation pools of south Swedish soils between 1949 and 1985. *Chemosphere*, 16 (10-12): 2239-2248.
- FAO–UNESCO, 1997. Soil map of the world. Revised legend. Technical Paper 20, International Soil Reference and Information Centre, Wageningen.
- Feller, M.C., Lehmann, R. & Olanski, P. 2000. Influence of forest harvesting intensity on nutrient leaching through soils in British Columbia. *Journal of Sustainable Forestry*, 10(3-4): 241-247.
- Feller, M. C. 2005. Forest harvesting and streamwater inorganic chemistry in western North America: a review. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 41(4): 785-411.
- Federer CA. 1984. Organic matter and nitrogen content of the forest floor in even-aged northern hardwoods. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 14:763–767.
- Fleming, R. L., Powers, R. F., Foster, N. W., Kranabetter, J. M., Scott, D. A., Ponder, Jr. F., Berch, S., Chapman, W. K., Kabzems, R. D., Ludovici, K. H., Morris, D. M., Page-Dumroese, D. S., Sanborn, P. T., Sanches, F. G., Stone, D. M. & Tiarks, A. E. 2006. Effects of organic matter removal, soil compaction, and vegetation control on 5-year seedling performance: a regional comparison of Long-Term Soil Productivity sites. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 36: 529-550.
- Fuller, R. D., Driscoll, C. T., Lawrence, G. B. & Nodvin, S. C. 1987. Processes regulating sulfate flux after whole-tree harvesting. *Nature*, 325(6106): 707-710.
- Fölster, J. & Wilander, A. 2002. Recovery from acidification in Swedish forest streams. *Environmen*tal Pollution, 117: 379-389.
- Fölster, J. 2007. Förslag till bedömningsgrunder för försurning i sjöar och vattendrag. Department of Environmental Assessment. SLU Report 2007:9. Uppsala. 22 pp. *In Swedish*.
- Garcia, E., Carignan, R. & Lean, D. R. S. 2007. Seasonal and inter-annual variations in methyl mercury concentrations in zoo-plankton from boreal lakes impacted by deforestation or natural forest fire. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 131: 1-11.

- Grip, H. 1982. Water chemistry and runoff in forest streams at Kloten. UNGI Rapport Nr 58. Naturgeografiska institutionen, Uppsala Universitet. PhD-dissertation.144 pp.
- Grip, H. 1987. Avrinningsförändringar efter kalavverkning. Sveriges Skogsvårdsförbunds Tidskrift, 2: 43-49. In Swedish.
- Gundersen, P., Schmidt, I. K., Raulund-Rasmussen, K. 2006. Leaching of nitrate from temperate forests – effects of air pollution and forest management. *Environmental Review*, 14:1-57.
- Guillemette, F., Plamondon, A. P., Prévost, M. & Lévasque, D. Rainfall generated stormflow response to clearcutting a boreal forest: peak flow comparison with 50 world-wide basin studies. *Journal of hydrology*, 302: 137-153.
- Hallbäcken, L. & Tamm, C-O. 1986. Changes in soil acidity from 1927 to 1982 in a forest area of south-west Sweden. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 1: 219-232.
- Harr, R. D. & Fredriksen, R. L. 1988. Water quality after logging small watersheds within the Bull Run watershed, Oregon. *Water Resources Bulletin*, 24(5): 1103-1111.
- Haveraaen, O. 1981. Virkning av hogst på vannmengde og vannkvalitet fra en østnorsk barskog. (The effect of cutting on water quantity and water quality from an East-Norwegian coniferous forest). Meddelser fra Norsk Institutt for Skogsforskning, 36-7. 16 pp
- Harriman, R., Anderson, H. & Miller, J. D. 1995. The role of sea-salts in enhancing and mitigating surface water acidity. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 85: 553-558.
- Hedin, L. O., Armesto, J. J. & Johnson, A. H. 1995. Patterns of nutrient loss from unpolluted, oldgrowth temperate forests: evaluation of biogeochemical theory. *Ecology*, 76(2): 493-509.
- Heikurainen, L. & Päivänen, J. 1970. The effect of thinning, clear-cutting, and fertilization on the hydrology of peatland drained for forestry. *Acta Forestalia Fennica*, 104: 1-27.
- Helling, C. S., Chesters, G. & Corey, R. B. 1964. Contribution of organic matter and clay to soil cation-exchange capacity as affected by the pH of the saturating solution. *Soil Science Society of America Journal – Proceedings*, 28(4): 517-520.
- Hellsten, H., Stadmark, J., Akselsson, C., Pihl-Karlsson, G. & Karlsson, P-E. 2009. Effekter av stormen Gudrun på kväveutlakning från skogsmark. Rapport till Naturvårdsverket 2009-12-18. IVL Svenska Miljöinstitutet.
- Hendrickson, O. Q., Chatarpaul, L. & Burgess, D. 1989. Nutrient cycling following whole-tree and conventional harvest in northern mixed forest. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 19: 725-735.
- Hibbert, A. R. 1967. Forest treatment effects on water yield. In: Sopper, W. E. and Lull, H. W. (Eds.). International Symposium on Forest Hydrology, Proceedings. New York: Pergamon Press. pp. 527-543.
- Hindar, A., 1994. Acid water and dead fish. Nature, 372: 327-328.
- Hindar, A. 2005. Whole-catchment application of dolomite to mitigate episodic acidification of streams induced by sea-salt deposition. *Science of the Total Environment*, 373 (1-3): 35-49.
- Hope, D., Billet, M. F. & Cresser, M. S. 1994. A review of the export of carbon in river water: fluxes and processes. *Environmental Pollution*, 84: 301-324
- Hornbeck, J. W., Smith, C. T., Martin, Q. W., Tritton, L. M. & Pierce, R. S. 1990. Effects of intense harvesting on nutrient capitals of three forest types in New England. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 30: 55.64.
- Hornbeck, J. W. & Kropelin, W. 1982. Nutrient removal and leaching from a whole-tree harvest of Northern hardwoods. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 11(2): 309-16.
- Hultberg, H. 1985. Budgets of base cations, chloride, nitrogen and sulphur in the acid Lake Gårdsjön catchment in SW Sweden. *Ecological Bulletins*, 37: 133-157.
- Hyvönen, R., Olsson, B. A., Lundkvist, H. & Staaf, H. 2000. Decomposition and nutrient release from *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. and *Pinus sylvestris* L. logging residues. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 126: 97-112.

- Högbom, L., Ring, E. & Jacobson, S. 2010. Effects of roll-pelletized wood-ash addition onto fresh clear-felling effects on soil solution chemistry. *Manuscript*.
- Ilvesniemi, H., Giesler, R., van Hees, P., Magnusson, T. & Melkerud, P-A. General description of the sampling techniques and the sites investigated in the Fennoscandinavian podzolization project. *Geoderma*, 94: 109-123.
- Jansson, M., Bergström, A-K., Blomqvist, P. & Drakare, S. 2000. Allochtonous organic carbon and phytoplankton/bacterioplancton production relationship in lakes. *Ecology*, 81(11): 3250-3255.
- Jenny H., 1941. Factors of Soil Formation. A System of Quantitative Pedology. McGraw Hill Book Company, New York, NY, USA. 281 pp. ISBN: 0486681289.
- Jewett, K., Daugharty, D., Krause, H. H. & Arp, P. A. 1995. Watershed responses to clear-cutting: Effects on soil solutions and stream water discharge in central New Brunswick. *Canadian Journal of Soil Sciences*, 75(4): 475-490.
- Johansson, E., Sandén, P. & Öberg, G. 2003. Organic chlorine in deciduous and coniferous forest soil in southern Sweden. Soil Science 168: 347-355.
- Johnson, D. W. & Cole, D. W. 1980. Anion mobility in soils: Relevance to nutrient transport from forest ecosystems. *Environmental International*, 3: 79-90.
- Johnson D.W. 1992. Effects of forest management on soil carbon storage. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution* 64:83–120.
- Johnson, D. W., Kelly, J. M., Swank, W. T., Cole, D. W., van Miegroet, H., Hornbeck, J. W., Pierce, R. S. & van Lear, D. 1988. The effect of leaching and whole-tree harvesting on cation budgets of several forests. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 17(3): 418-424.
- Johnson, D. W. & Todd, D. E. 1998. Harvesting effects on long-term changes in nutrient pools of mixed oak forests. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 62(6): 1725-1735.
- Johnson, D. W. & Curtis, P.S. 2001. Effects of forest management on soil C and N storage: meta analysis. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 140:227–238.
- Johnson, D.W., Knoepp, J. D., Swank, W. T., Shan, J., Morris, L. A., van Lear, D. H. & Kapeluck, P. R. 2002. Effects of forest management on soil carbon: results from some long-term resampling studies. Environmental Pollution, 116: S201-S208
- Johnson, C. E., Johnson, A. H., Huntington, T. G. & Siccama, T. G. 1991a. Whole-tree clearcutting effects on soil horizons and organic matter pools. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 55(2): 497-502.
- Johnson, C. E., Johnson, A. H. & Siccama, T. G. 1991b. Whole-tree clear-cutting effects on exchangeable cations and soil acidity. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 55(2): 502-508.
- Johnson, C. E., Romanowicz, R. B. & Siccama, T. G. 1997. Conservation of exchangeable cations after clear-cutting of a northern hardwood forest. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 27: 859-868.
- Joki-Heiskala, P., Johansson, M., Holmberg, M., Mattsson, T., Forsius, M., Kortelainen, P. & Hallin, L. 2003. Long-term base cation balances of forest mineral soils in Finland. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution*, 150: 255-273.
- Kauffman, S. J., Royer, D. L., Chang, S. & Berner, R. A. 2003. Export of chloride after clear-cutting in the Hubbard Brook sandbox experiment. *Biogeochemistry*, 63: 23-33.
- Katzensteiner, K. 2003. Effects of harvesting on nutrient leaching in a Norway spruce (*Picea abies* Karst.) ecosystem on a Lithic Leptosol in the Northern Limestone Alps. *Plant and Soil*, 250: 59-73.
- Keppeler, E. T., Zeimer, R. R. & Cafferata, P. H. 1994. Changes in soil moisture and pore pressure after harvesting a forested hillslope in northern California. In: Marston, R.A., Hasfurther, V.R. (Eds.). American Water Resources Association, Jackson Hole, WY. Herndon, pp. 205-214.
- Kilhberg, S. 1958. Himmelsberget. En undersökning av skogsbeståndets inverkan på vattenhushållningen. Grundförbättring, 11: 175-200.

- Kimmins, J. P. 1977. Evaluation of the consequences for future tree productivity of the loss of nutrients in whole-tree harvesting. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 1: 169-183.
- Knoepp, J. D. & Swank, W. T. 1997. Long-term effects of commercial sawlog harvest on soil cation concentrations. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 93: 1-7.
- Kirchner, J. W. 2003. A double paradox in catchment hydrology and geochemistry. *Hydrological Processes*, 17: 871-874.
- Kolka, R., Weishampel, P. & Fröberg, M. 2008. Measurement and importance of dissolved organic carbon. In Field Measurements for Forest Carbon Monitoring. Coeli, M. Hoover (ed.). Springer Netherlands. pp 171-176.
- Kreutzweiser, D. P., Hazlett, P. W. & Gunn, J. M. 2008. Logging impacts on the biogeochemistry of boreal forest soils and nutrient export to aquatic systems: A review. *Environmental Reviews*, 16:157-179.
- Kubin, E. 1995. Site preparation and leaching of nutrients. In. Riitari, A. Saarenamaa, H., Saarela, M. Poikajärvi, H. (eds). Northern Silviculture and Management. Proceedings of the IUFRO Symposium, August 16-22, 1987. Lapland, Finland. The Finnish Forest Research Institute, Research Papers 567: 55-62.
- Kubin, E. 1998. Leaching of nitrate nitrogen into the groundwater after clear felling and site preparation. *Boreal Environment Research*, 3: 3-8.
- Kubin, E. & Krecek, J. 2009. Impact of forestry practices in groundwater quality in the boreal environment. In From headwaters to the ocean. Taniguchi et al. (eds). Taylor & Francis Group, London. pp. 91-96.
- Köhler S.J., Laudon H., Wilander A. & Bishop K. 2000. Estimating organic acid dissociation in natural surface waters using total alkalinity and TOC. *Water Research*, 106: 55–65.
- Laudon H., Hemond H.F., Krouse R., Bishop K. 2002. Oxygen 18 fractionation during snowmelt: implications for spring flood hydrograph separation. *Water Resources Research* 38(11): 1258– 1268.
- Laudon, H. 2000. Separating natural acidity from anthropogenic acidification in the spring flood of northern Sweden. Doctoral thesis, Department of forest ecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå, Sweden.
- Laudon, H., Westling, O. & Bishop, K. 2000. Cause of pH decline in stream water during spring melt runoff in northern Sweden. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 57: 1888-1900.
- Laudon, H. & Bishop, K. 2002. Episodic stream water pH decline during autumn storms following a summer drought in northern Sweden. *Hydrological Processes*, 16: 1725-1733.
- Lawrence, G. B. & Driscoll, C. T. 1988. Aluminium chemistry downstream of a whole-tree harvested watershed. *Environmental Sciences and Technology*, 22: 1293-1299.
- Lawrence, G. B., Fuller, R. D. & Driscoll, C. T. 1987. Release of aluminium following whole-tree harvesting at the Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest, New Hampshire. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 16(4): 383-390.
- Likens, G. E., Bormann, F. H., Johnson, N. M., Fisher, D. W. & Pierce, R. S. 1970. Ecological Monographs, 40(1): 23-47.
- Lundborg, A. 1997. Reducing the nitrogen load: Whole-tree harvesting. A literature review. *Ambio*, 26(6): 387-393.
- Lundström, U. S., van Breemen, N. & Bain, D. 2000a. The podzolization process. A review. *Geoderma*, 94: 91-107.
- Lundström, U. S., van Breemen, N., Bain, D. C., van Hees, P. A. W., Geisler, R., Gustafsson, J. P., Ilvesniemi, H., Karltun, E., Melkerud, P-A., Olsson, M., Riise, G-., Wahlberg, O., Bergelin, A., Bishop, K., Finlay, R., Jongmans, A. G., Magnusson, T., Mannerkoski, H., Nordgren, A., Nyberg, L., Starr, M. & Tau Stran, L. 2000b. Advances in understanding the podzolization process resulting from a multidisciplinary study of three coniferous forest soils in the Nordic Countries. *Geoderma*, 94: 335-353.

- Lundin, L. 1979. Kalhuggningens inverkan på markvattenhalt och grundvattennivå. Rapport 36 i Skogsekologi och skoglig marklära. Institutionen för skoglig marklära. 35 sid.
- Lundin, L. 1982. Soil moisture and ground water in till soil and the significance of soil type for runoff. Doctoral dissertation, Uppsala University. UNGI Report Nr. 56.
- Lundin L, 1990. Saturated hydraulic conductivity of Nordic till soils. In Hydrological properties of Nordic tills. Haldorson, S. (ed). Nordic Hydrological Programme NHP Report No. 25.
- Lundin, L. 1999. Effects on hydrology and surface water chemistry of regeneration cuttings in peatland forests. *International Peat Journal*, 9:118-126.
- Lovett, G. M., Likens, G. E., Buso, D. C., Driscoll, C. T. & Bailey, S. W. 2005. The biogeochemistry of chlorine at Hubbard Brook, New Hampshire, USA. *Biogeochemistry*, 72: 191-232.
- Löfgren, S. & Olsson, H. 1990. Tillförsel av kväve och fosfor till vattendrag i Sveriges inland: underlagsrapport till Hav -90, Aktionsprogram mot havsföroreningar. Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Report 3692. 100 pp. *In Swedish with English* summary.
- Löfgren, S., Bringmark, L., Aastrup, M., Hultberg, H., Kindbom, K. & Kvarnas, H. 2001. Sulphur balances and dynamics in three forested catchments in Sweden. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 130(1-4): 631-636.
- Löfgren, S., Zetterberg, T., Larsson, P-E., Cory, N., Klarqvist, M., Kronnäs, V. & Lång, L-O. 2008. Skogsmarkskalkningens effekter på kemin i mark, grundvatten och ytvatten i SKOKALområdena 16 år efter behandling. Rapport 16-2008. Skogsstyrelsen, Jönköping. pp 1-135. In Swedish.
- Löfgren, S., Cory, N., Zetterberg, T., Larsson, P-E. & Kronnäs, V. 2009a. The long-term effects of catchment liming and reduced sulphur deposition on forest soils and runoff chemistry in southwest Sweden. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 258: 567-578.
- Löfgren, S., Ring, E., von Brömssen, C., Sørensen, R. & Högbom, L. 2009b. Short-term effects of clear-cutting on the water chemistry of two boreal streams in Northern Sweden: A paired catchment study. *Ambio*, 38(7): 347-356.
- Löfgren, S. & Cory, N. 2010. Groundwater Al dynamics in boreal hillslopes at three integrated monitoring sites along a sulphur deposition gradient in Sweden. *Journal of Hydrology*, 380: 289-297.
- McLaughlin, J. W. & Phillips, S. A. 2006. Soil carbon, nitrogen, and base cation cycling 17 years after whole-tree harvesting in a low-elevation red spruces (*Picea rubens*)-balsam fir (*Abies balsamed*) forested watershed in central Maine, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 222: 234-253.
- McClurkin, D. C., Duffy, P. D. & Nelson, N. S. 1987. Changes in forest floor and water quality following thinning and clearcutting of a 20-year-old pine. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 16(3): 237-241.
- Mann, L. K., Johnson, D. W., West, D. C., Cole, D. W., Hornbeck, J. W., Martin, C. W., Riekerk, H., Smith, C. T., Swank, W. T., Tritton, L. M. & van Lear, D. H. 1988. Effects of whole-tree and stem-only clearcutting on postharvest hydrological losses, nutrient capital, and regrowth. *Forest Science*, 34(2): 412-428.
- Mannerkoski, H., Finér, L., Piirainen, S. & Starr, M. 2005. Effect of clear-cutting and sitepreparation on the level and quality of groundwater in some headwater catchments in eastern Finland. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 220: 107-117.
- Martin, C. W., Noel, D. S. & Federer, C. A. 1984. Effects of forest clearcutting in New England on stream chemistry. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 13 (2): 204-210.
- Martin, C. W. & Pierce, R. S. 1980. Clearcutting patterns affect nitrate and calcium in streams of New Hampshire. *Journal of Forestry*, 78(5): 268-272.
- Martin, C. W., Hornbeck, J. W., Likens, G. E. & Busco, D. C. 2000. Impacts of intensive harvesting on hydrology and nutrient dynamics of northern hardwood forests. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries* and Aquatic Sciences, 57 (suppl. 2): 19-29.

- Mellert, K. H., Kolling, C. Rehfuess, K. E. 1996. Bioelement leaching from Norway spruce ecosystems in Bavaria after windthrow. *Forstwissenschaftliches Centralblatt*, 115(6): 363-377. *In Germany with English summary*.
- Mitchell, M. J., Driscoll, C. T., Fuller, R. D., David, M. B. & Likens, G. E. 1989. Effects of wholetree harvesting on the sulphur dynamics of a forest soil. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 53: 933-940.
- Moldan, F. 1999. Reversal of soil and water acidification in SW Sweden simulating the recovery process. Doctoral thesis, Department of Forest Ecology Umeå, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae, Silvestria 117.
- Mroz, G. D., Jurgensen, M. F. & Frederick, D. J. 1985. Soil nutrient changes following whole tree harvsting on three northern Hardwood sites. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 49(6): 1552-1557.
- Mörth, C. M., Torssander, P., Kjonaas, O. J., Stuanes, A. O., Moldan, F & Giesler, R. 2005. Mineralization of organic sulfur delays recovery from anthropogenic acidification. *Environmental Sciences and Technology*, 39 (14): 5234-5240.
- Neal, C., Reynold, B., Smith, C. J., Hill, S., Neal, M., Conway, T., Ryland, G. P., Jeffrey, H., Robson, A. J. & Fisher, R. 1992. The impact of conifer harvesting on stream water pH, alkalinity and aluminium concentrations for the British uplands: an example for an acidic and acid sensitive catchment in mid-Wales. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 126: 75-87.
- Neal, C., Reynolds, B., Adamson, J. K., Stevens, P. A., Neal, M., Harrow, M. & Hill, S. 1998a. Analysis of the impact of major anion variations on surface water acidity particularly with regard to conifer harvesting: case studies from Wales and Northern England. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 2(2-3): 303-322.
- Neal, C., Reynolds, B., Wilkinson, J., Hill, T., Neal, M., Hill, S. & Harrow, M. 1998b. The impact of conifer harvesting on runoff water quality: a regional survey for Wales. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 2(2-3): 323-344.
- Neal, C., Reynolds, B., Neal, M., Wickham, H., Hill, L. & Williams, B. 2004. The impact of conifer harvesting on stream water quality: the Afon Hafren, mid-Wales. *Hydrology and Earth System Sci*ences, 8(3): 503-520.
- Nettelbladt, A., Westling, O., Akselsson, C., Svensson, A. & Hellsten, S. 2006. Luftföroreningar i skogliga provytor Resultat till och med september 2005. IVL B-rapport B1682. IVL Svenska Miljöinstitutet AB, Stockholm. 50 pp. *In Swedish with English summary*.
- Nodvin, S. C., Driscoll, C. T. & Likens, G. E. 1986. The effect of pH on sulfate adsorption by a forest soil. *Soil Science*, 142(2): 69-75.
- Nodvin, S. C., Driscoll, C. T. & Likens, G. E. 1988. Soil processes and sulfate loss at the Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest. *Biogeochemistry*, 5: 185-199.
- Nykvist, N. 1974a, Växtnäringsämnenas fördelning före och efter kalaverkning. The distribution of inorganic nutrients before and after clear-cutting. Sveriges Skogsvårdsförbunds Tidskrift, 72: 75-79. In Swedish with English summary.
- Nykvist, N. 1974b. Växtnäringsförluster vid helträdsuttag. The loss of plant nutrients of whole-tree utilization. Institutionen för skogsteknik, Skogshögskolan, 76: 74-93. *In Swedish*.
- Nykvist, N. 1977a. Changes in the amount of inorganic nutrients in the soil after clear-felling. *Silva Fennica*, 11: 224-229.
- Nykvist, N. 1977b. Skogliga åtgärders inverkan på storlek och tillgänglighet av ekosystemets näringsförråd. Sveriges Skogsvårdsförbunds Tidskrift, 75: 167-178. *In Swedish*.
- Nykvist, N. & Rosén, K. 1985. Effect of clear-felling and slash removal on the acidity of northern coniferous soils. Forest Ecology and Management, 11:157-169.
- Nykvist, N. 1990. The effect of harvesting branches and needles on soil and vegetation. Institutionen för skogsproduktion, Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet, rapport 27: 77-108.

- Olsson, B. A., Staaf, H., Lundkvist, H. Bengtsson, J. & Rosén, K. 1996a. Carbon and nitrogen in coniferous forest soils after clear-cutting and harvests of different intensity. Forest Ecology and Management, 82:19-32.
- Olsson, B. A., Bengtsson, J. & Lundkvist, H. 1996b. Effects of different forest harvest intensities on the pools of exchangeable cations in coniferous forest soils. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 84:135-147.
- Olsson, B. 1999. Effects of biomass removal in thinnings and compensatory fertilization on exchangeable base cation pools in acid forest soils. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 122: 29-39.
- Olsson, B., Lundkvist, H., Bergholm, J., Brandtberg, P-O. Grip, H. & Lövdahl, L. 2004. Revisioner av markens näringstillstånd i långliggande fältförsök med skogsbränsleuttag respektive askåterföring. Slutrapport av STEM-projekt P12773-1 för perioden 2000-07-01 – 2004-06-30. *In Swedish with English summary*.
- Olsson, M., Rosén, K. & Melkerud, P-A. 1993. Regional modelling of base cation losses from Swedish forest soils due to whole-tree harvesting. *Applied Geochemistry*, supp 2: 189-194.
- Olsson, M. 1996. Långsiktiga näringsbalanser vid uttag av skogsbränsle. Kungliga Skogs- och Lantbruksakademins Tidskrift, 135, 13: 37-44. In Swedish.
- OJ L327. 2000. Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy. ISSN 0378-6978 L 327 Volume 43 22 December 2000. Official Journal of the European Communities. pp 1-73.
- Palvainen, M., Finér, L., Kurka, A-M., Mannerkoski, H., Piirainen, S. & Starr, M. 2004a. Decomposition and nutrient release from logging residues after clear-cutting of mixed boreal forest. *Plant and Soil*, 263: 53-67.
- Palvainen, M., Finér, L., Kurka, A-M., Mannerkoski, H., Piirainen, S. & Starr, M. 2004b. Release of potassium, calcium, iron and aluminium from Norway spruce, Scots pine and silver birch logging residues. *Plant and Soil*, 259: 123-136.
- Parfitt, R. L., Salt, G. J. & Hill, L. F. 2002. Clear-cutting reduces nitrate leaching in a pine plantation of high natural N status. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 170: 43-53.
- Patric, J. H. & Aubertin, G. M. 1977. Long-term effects of repeated logging on an Appalachian stream. *Journal of Forestry*, 75(8): 492-494.
- Piirainen, S., Finér, L., Mannerkoski, M. & Starr, M. 2002. Effects of forest clear-cutting on the carbon and nitrogen fluxes through podzolic soil horizons. *Plant and Soil*, 239: 301-311.
- Piirainen, S., Finér, L., Mannerkoski, H. & Starr, M. 2004. Effects of forest clear-cutting on the sulphur, phosphorous and base cation fluxes through podzolic soil horizons. *Biogeochemistry*, 69: 405-424.
- Plamondon, A.P., Lévesque, D., Ma, Y., Prévost, M., 1998. Long-term effects of forest mosaic management on storm and snowmelt flow, Quebec. In: Hydrology in a changing environment.
 1. Proceedings of the British Hydrological Society. International Conference, Exeter, pp. 503–515.
- Prescott, C.E., Blevins, L.L. & Staley, C.L. 2000. Effects of clear-cutting on decomposition rates of litter and forest floor in forests of British Columbia. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 30 (11): 1751-1757.
- Prescott, C. E. 1997. Effects of clearcutting and alternative silvicultural systems on rates of decomposition and nitrogen mineralization in a coastal montane coniferous forest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 95: 253-260.
- Pyatt, D. G., Anderson, A. R., Stannard, J. P. & White, I. M. S. A drainage experiment on peaty gley soil at Kershope Forest, Cumbria. *Soil Use and Management*, 1(3): 89-94.
- Qualls, R. G., Haines, B. L., Swank, W. T. & Tyler, S. W. 2000. Soluble organic and inorganic nutrient fluxes in clearcut and mature deciduous forests. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 64: 1068-1077.

- Rademacher, P., Mueller-Using, B., Meesenburg, H. & Meiwes, K. J. 2001. Inventory and budget of nutrients in managed German forest stands – a method for sustainable nutrient management. In Plant nutrition – food security and sustainability of agro-ecosystems. W. J. Horst et al. (eds). 906-907. Kluwer Academic Publisher, Netherlands.
- Ranger, J., Loyer, S., Gelhaye, D., Pollier, B. & Bonnaud, P. 2007. Effects of the clear-cutting of a Douglas-fir plantation (*Pseudotsuga menzeii* F.) on the chemical composition of soil solutions and on the leaching of DOC and ions in the drainage waters. *Annals of Forest Science*, 64: 183-200.
- Ranger, J., Bonnaud, P., Bouriard, O., Gelhaye, D. & Picard, J-F. 2008. Effects of the clear-cutting of a Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Mirb.) Franco) plantation on chemical soil fertility. *Annals of Forest Science*, 65(3): Artn 303.
- Rauland-Rasmussen, K. Stupak, I., Clark, N., Callesen, I., Helmisaari, H-S., Karltun, E. & Varnagiryte-Kabasinskiene, I. 2008. Effects of very intensive forest biomass harvesting on short and long term site productivity. In: Sustainable Use of Forest Biomass for Energy, A synthesis with Focus on the Baltic and Nordic region. I Röser, D., Asikainen, A., Raulund-Rasmussen, K., Stupak, I. (Eds.) pp. 29-72. Springer Science+Business Media B.V.
- Renberg, I., Korsman, T. & Anderson, N. J. 1993. A temporal perspective of lake acidification in Sweden. Ambio, 22 (5): 264-271.
- Rennie, P. J. 1955. The uptake of nutrients by mature forest growth. Plant and soil, 7(1): 49-95.
- Reuss, J. O. & Johnson, D. W. 1986. Acid deposition and the acidification of soils and waters, Ecological studies 59, Springer Verlag, New York. 119 pp.
- Ring, E. 2007. Estimation of leaching of nitrogen and phosphorus from forestry in northern Sweden. Kungl. skogs- och lantbruksakademiens 146, KSLAT 2: 7-13.
- Ring, E., Högbom, L. & Nohrstedt, H-Ö. 2001. Effects of brash removal after clear-felling on soil and soil solution chemistry and field-layer biomass in an experimental nitrogen gradient. *The ScientificWorld*, 1(S2): 1532-2246.
- Robertson, S. M. C., Hornung, M. & Kennedy, V. H. 2000. Water chemistry and throughfall and soil water under four tree species at Gisburn, northwest England, before and after felling. *For*est Ecology and Management, 129: 101-117.
- Robinson, M. & Dupeyrat, A. 2005. Effects of commercial timber harvesting on streamflow regimes in the Plynlimon catchments, mid-Wales. *Hydrological Processes*, 19: 1213-1226.
- Rodhe, A. 1987. The origin of stream water traced by oxygen-18. Uppsala university, Department of physical geography, division hydrology, Report Series A 41, 290 pp, Appendix 73 pp (doctoral thesis).
- Rodhe, A. 2003. Flow paths of water in Swedish forests. Kungliga Skogs- och Lantbruksakademins Tidskrift 142 (18): 23-29.
- Rodstedth, M., Ståhlberg, C., Sandén, P. & Öberg, G. 2003. Chloride imbalances in lysimeters. *Chemosphere*, 52: 381-389.
- Romanowicz, R. B., Driscoll, C. T., Fahey, T. J., Johnson, C. E., Likens, G. E. & Siccama, T. G. 1996. Changes in the biogeochemistry of potassium following a whole-tree harvest. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 60: 1664-1674.
- Romell, L. G. 1957. Man-made "nature" of northern lands. I. U. C. N. 6th technical meeting (Edinburgh 1956). Proc. and Papers: 51-53. London.
- Rothe, A. & Mellert, K. H. 2004. Effects of forest management on nitrate concentrations in seepage water of forests in southern Bavaria, Germany. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution*, 156: 337-355.
- Rosén, K. 1984. Effects of clear-felling on runoff in two small watersheds in central Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management, 9 (4): 267-281.
- Rosén, K. & Lundmark-Thelin, A. 1987. Increased nitrogen leaching under piles of slash a consequence of modern forest harvesting techniques. *Scandinanian Journal of Forest Research*, 2:21-29.

- Rosén, K. 1991. Skörd av skogsbränslen i slutavverkning och gallring ekologiska effekter. Meddelande 5-1991. Skogsstyrelsen, Jönköping. 57 pp. *In Swedish*.
- Rosén, K., Aronson, J-A. & Eriksson, H. 1996. Effects of clear-felling on streamwater quality in forest catchments in central Sweden. *Forest ecology and management*, 83:237-244.
- Rosenberg, O. & Jacobson, S. 2004. Effects of repeated slash removal in thinned stands on soil chemistry and understorey vegetation. *Silva Fennica*, 38(2): 133-142.
- Rusanen, K., Finér, L., Antikainen, M., Korkka-Niemi, K., Backman, B. & Britschgi, R. The effect of forest cutting on the quality of groundwater in large aquifers in Finland. *Boreal Environment Research*, 9: 253-261.
- Sanchez, F.G., Tiarks, A. E., Kranabetter, J.M., Page-Dumroese, D. S., Powers, R. F., Sanborn, P. T. & Chapman, W. K. 2006. Effects of organic matter removal and soil compaction on fifthyear mineral soil carbon and nitrogen contents for sites across the United States and Canada. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 36 (3): 565-576.
- Seibert, J., Grabs, T., Köhler, S., Laudon, H., Winterdahl, M. & Bishop, K. 2009. Technical Note: Linking soil – and stream-water chemistry based on a riparian flow-concentration integrated model. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussion*, 6: 5603-5629.
- Sinclair, E., Leijon, B. & Albrektson, A. 1992. Plant survival and growth following whole-tree removal - summering of field trials. FUD Rapport 1992:7. Vattenfall, Vällingby. 137 pp. In Swedish with English summary.
- Simard, D. G., Fyles, J. W., Paré, D. & Nguyen, T. Impacts of clearcut harvesting and wildfire on soil nutrient status in the Quebec boreal forest. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 81(2): 229-237.
- Skinner, M. F., Zabowski, D., Harrison, R., Lowe, A. & Xue, D. 2001. Measuring the cation exchange capacity of forest soils. *Communications in soil sciences and plant analysis*, 32(11-12): 1751-1764.
- Skjelkvåle, B. L., Stoddard, J. L., Andersen, T. 2001a. Trends in surface water acidification in Europe and North America (1989-1998). *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution,* 130: 787-792.
- Skjelkvåle, B. L., Mannio, J., Wilander, A. & Andersen, T. 2001b. Recovery from acidification of lakes in Finland, Norway and Sweden 1990-1999. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 5(3): 327-337.
- Skjelkvåle, B. L., Stoddard, J. L., Jeffries, D. S., Tørseth, K., Høgåsen, T., Bowman, J., Mannio, J., Monteith, D. T., Mosello, R., Rogora, M., Rzychon, D., Vesely, J., Wieting, J., Wilander, A. & Worsztynowicz, A. 2005. Regional scale evidence for improvements in surface water chemistry 1990-2001. Environmental Pollution, 137: 165-176.
- Smethurst, P. J. & Nambiar, E. K. S. 1990. Effects of slash and litter management on fluxes of nitrogen and tree growth in a young *Pinus radiata* plantation. *Canadian Journal of Canadian Re*search, 20(9): 1498-1507.
- Snyder, K. E. & Harter, R. D. 1984. Changes in solumn chemistry following clearcutting in Northern hardwood stands. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 49(1): 223-228.
- Sokolova, T. A. & Alekseeva, S. A. 2007. Adsorption of sulfate ions by soils (A review). *Eurasian Soil Science*, 41(2): 140-148.
- Spoelstra, J., Schiff, S. L., Semkin, R. G., Jeffries, D. S. & Elgood, R. J. 2010. Nitrate attenuation in a small temperate wetland following forest harvest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 259 (4): 2333-2341.
- Sørensen, R., Ring, E., Meili, M., Högbom, L., Seibert, J., Grabs, T., Laudon, H. & Bishop, K. 2009. Forest harvest increases runoff most during low flows in two boreal streams. *Ambio*, 38(7): 357-363.
- Staaf, H. & Berg, B. 1982. Accumulation and release of plant nutrients in decomposing Scots pine needle litter. Long-term decomposition in a Scots pine forest II. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 60(8): 1561-1668.

- Staaf, H. & Olsson, B. 1991. Acidity in four coniferous forest soils after different harvesting regimes of logging slash. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 6: 19-29
- Staaf, H. & Olsson, B. A. 1994. Effects of slash removal and stump harvesting on soil water chemistry in a clearcutting in SW Sweden. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 9:305-310
- Stevens, P. A., Norris, D. A., Williams, T. G., Hughes, S., Durrant, D. W. H., Anderson, M. A., Weatherley, N. S., Hornung, M. & Woods, C. 1995. Nutrient losses after clearfelling in Beddgelert forest: a comparison of the effects of conventional and whole-tree harvest on soil water chemistry. *Forestry*, 68(2): 115-131.
- Stevens, P. A. & Hornung, M. 1988. Nitrate leaching from a felled Sitka spruce plantation in Beddgelert forest, North Wales. *Soil Use and Management*, 4(1): 3-9.
- Stoddard, J. L., Jeffries, D. S., Lukewille, A., Clair, T. A., Dillin, P. J., Driscoll, J. T., Forsius, M., Johannesen, M., Kahl, J. S., Kellogg, J. H., Kemp, A., Mannio, J. Monteith, D. T., Murdoch, P. S., Patrick, S., Rebsdorf, A., Skjelkvåle, B. L., Stainton, M. P., Traeen, T., van Dam, H., Webster, K. E., Wieting, J. & Wilander, A. 1999. Regional trends in aquatic recovery from acidification in North America. *Nature*, 401 (6753): 575-578.
- Stumm, W. & Morgan, J. J. 1981. Aquatic chemistry. New York, John Wiley & Sons. 780 pp.
- Svensson, T. 2006. Chlorine transport in a small catchment. PhD-thesis. Department of water and environmental studies. Linköping University. Linköping, Sweden. 68 pp.
- Sverdrup, H., Thelin, G., Robles, M., Stjernquist, I. & Sørensen, J. 2006. Assessing nutrient sustainability of forest production for different tree species considering Ca, Mg, K, N and P at Björnstorp estate, Sweden. *Biogeochemistry*, 81: 219-238.
- Sverdrup, H., Martinson, L., Alveteg, M., Moldan, F., Kronnäs, V., Munthe, J. 2005. Modeling the recovery of Swedish Ecosystems from Acidification. *Ambio*, 34(1): 25-31.
- Sverdrup, H. & Rosén, K. 1998. Long-term base cation mass balances for Swedish forests and the concept of sustainability. Forest Ecology and Management, 110 (1-3): 221-236.
- Swank, W. T., Waide, J. B., Crossley, D. A. & Todd, R. L. 1981. Insect defoliation enhances nitrate export from forest ecosystems. *Oecologica*, 51: 297-299.
- Swank, W. T., Vose, J. M. & Elliot, K. J. 2001. Long-term hydrological and water quality responses following commercial clearcutting of mixed hardwoods on a southern Appalachian catchment. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 143: 163-178.
- Swedish Energy Agency. 2008. Energy in Sweden 2008. Eskilstuna. 156 pp.
- Swedish Energy Agency. 2006. Miljöeffekter av skogsbränsleuttag och askåterföring. En syntes av Energimyndighetens forskningsprogram 1997-2004. ER 2006:44. Energimyndigheten, Eskilstuna. 210 pp. *In Swedish*.
- Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2007a. Bara naturlig försurning. Underlagsrapport till fördjupad utvärdering av miljömålsarbetet. Rapport 5766. Naturvårdsverket, Stockholm. 118 pp. *In Swedish with English summary*.
- Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2007b. Bara naturlig försurning. Bilagor till underlagsrapport till fördjupad utvärdering av miljömålsarbetet. Rapport 5780 Naturvårdsverket, Stockholm. 208 pp. In Swedish.
- Swedish Forest Agency. 2008a. Rundvirkes- och skogsbränslebalanser för år 2007 SKA-VB 08. Skogsstyrelsen Meddelande 4-2008. Skogsstyrelsen, Jönköping. pp 1-83. *In Swedish.*
- Swedish Forest Agency. 2008b. Skogliga konsekvensanalyser 2008 SKA-VB 08. Skogsstyrelsen Rapport 25-2008. Skogsstyrelsen, Jönköping. 157 pp. *In Swedish*.
- Swedish Forest Agency, 2008c. Rekommendationer vid uttag av avverkningsrester och askåterföring. Meddelande 2-2008. Swedish Forest Agency, Jönköping. 33 pp. *In Swedish*.
- Tamm, C-O. 1964. Determination of nutrient requirements of forest stands. *International Review of Forest Research*, 1: 115-170.

- Tamm, C-O. & Wiklander, G. 1972. Kvävehalten i grundvattnet ökar vid skogsgödsling och kalhuggning. Forskning & Framsteg, 7. *In Swedish*.
- Tamm, C-O., Holmén, H., Popovic, B. & Wiklander, G. 1974. Leaching of plant nutrients from soil as a consequence of forestry operations. *Ambio*, 3(6): 211-221.
- Tamm, C-O. & Hallbäcken, L. 1986. Changes in soil pH over a 50 year period under different forest canopies in SW Sweden. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution,* 31: 337-341.
- Tamm, C-O., Hallbäcken, L. 1988. Changes in soil acidity in two forest areas with different acid deposition 1920s to 1980s. *Ambio*, 17 (1): 56-61.
- Tamm, C. O. 1991. Nitrogen in terrestrial ecosystems: Questions of productivity, vegetational changes, and ecosystem stability. *Ecological Studies* 81. New York, Springer-Verlag. 115 pp.
- Thiffault, E., Paré, D., Bélanger, N., Munson, A. & Marquis, F. 2006. Harvesting intensity at clearfelling in the boreal forest: Impacts on soil and foliar nutrient status. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 70: 691-701.
- Tiedemann, A. R., Quigley, T. M. & Anderson, T. D. 1988. Effects of timber harvesting on stream chemistry and dissolved nutrient losses in Northeast Oregon. *Forest Science*, 34(2): 344-358.
- Titus, B. D., Roberts, B. A. & Deering, K. W. 1997. Soil solution concentrations on three white birch sites in central Newfoundland following different harvesting intensities. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 13(4-5):313-330.
- Titus, B. D. & Malcolm, D. C. 1999. The long-term decomposition of Sitka spruce needles in brash. *Forestry*, 72(3): 207-221.
- Tremblay, Y., Rousseau, A. N., Plamondon, A. P., Lévasque, D. & Prévost, M. 2009. Changes in stream water quality due to logging of the boreal forest in the Montmorency Forest, Quebec. *Hydrological Processes*, 23: 764-776.
- Tromp-van Meerveld, H.J., McDonnell, J.J., 2006a. Threshold relations in subsurface stormflow: 1. A 147-storm analysis of the Panola hillslope. *Water Resources Research*, 42: W02410.
- Tromp-van Meerveld, H.J., McDonnell, J.J., 2006b. Threshold relations in subsurface stormflow: 2. The fill and spill hypothesis. *Water Resources Research*, 42: W02411.
- Vitousek, P. M. & Melillo, J. M. 1979. Nutrient losses from disturbed forests: patterns and mechanisms. *Forest Sciences*, 25(4): 605-619.
- Wall, A. 2008 Effect of removal of logging residue on nutrient leaching and nutrient pools in the soil after clearcutting in a Norway spruce stand. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 256: 1372-1383.
- Wang, X., Burns, D. A., Yanai, R. D., Briggs, R. D. & Germain, R. H. 2006. Changes in stream chemistry and nutrient export following a partial harvest in the Catskill Mountains, New York, USA. Forest Ecology and Management, 223: 103-112.
- Warfvinge, P. 1999. Miljökemi. Miljövetenskap i ett biogeokemiskt perspektiv. Lunds universitet. 277 pp. In Swedish.
- Wathmough, S. A., Aherne, J. & Dillon, P.J. 2003. Potential impact of forest harvesting on lake chemistry in south-central Ontario at current levels of acid deposition. *Canadian Journal of Fish*eries and Aquatic Sciences, 60: 1095-1103.
- Westling, O., Örlander, G. & Andersson, I. 2004. Effekter av askåterföring till granplanteringar med ristäkt. IVL Rapport B1552. IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute, Göteborg. 48 pp.
- Weetman, G. F. & Webber, B. 1972. The influence of wood harvesting on the nutrient status of two spruce stands. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 2: 351-369.
- Welsch, D. L., Burns, D. A. & Murdoch, P. S. 2004. Processes affecting the response of sulfate concentrations to clearcutting in a northern hardwood forest, Catskill Mountains, New York, U.S.A. *Biogeochemistry*, 68: 337-354.
- White, E. H. 1974. Whole-tree harvest depletes soil nutrients. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 4: 530-535.

- Wigington, P. J., DeWalle, D. R., Murdoch, P. S., Kretser, W. A., Simonin, H. A., van Sickle, J. & Baker, J. P. 1996a. Episodic acidification of small streams in the Northeastern United States: Ionic controls of Episodes. *Ecological Applications*, 6 (2): 389-407.
- Wigington, P. J., Baker, J. P., DeWalle, D. R., Kretser, W. A., Murdoch, P. S., Simoin, H. A., Van Sickle, J., McDowell, M. K., Peck, D. V. & Barchet, W. R. 1996b. Episodic acidification of small streams in the Northeastern United States: Episodic Response Project. *Ecological Applications*, 6(2): 374-388.
- Wiklander, G. 1974. Hyggesupptagningens inverkan på växtnäringsinnehållet i yt- och grundvattnet. Sveriges Skogsvårdsförbunds Tidskrift, 1: 86-90. *In Swedish.*
- Wiklander, G. 1983. Kväveutlakning från bördig skogsmark i södra Sverige. Skogs- och lantbruksakademins tidskrift, 122: 311-317. In Swedish with English summary.
- Wiklander, L. 1975. The role of neutral salts in the ion exchange between acid precipitation and soil. *Geoderma*, 14: 93-105.
- Wilander, A. & Lundin, L. 2000. Återhämtning i svenska vatten och skogsmark. In: Naturens återhämtning från försurning – aktuell kunskap och framtidsscenarier. Per Warfvinge and Ulla Bertills (eds). Report 5028. pages 53-65. *In Swedish*.
- Wright, R. F., Norton, S. A., Brakke, D. F. & Frogner, T. 1988. Experimental verification of episodic acidification in freshwater by sea salts. *Nature*, 334: 422-424.
- Wu, Y., Clarke, N. & Mulder, J. 2009. Dissolved organic carbon concentrations in throughfall and soil waters at Level II Monitoring plots in Norway: Short- and long-term variation. *Water, Air,* and Soil Pollution, 205(1-4): 273-288.
- Yanai RD, Siccama TG, Arthur MA, Federer CA, Friedland AJ. 1999. Accumulation and depletion of base cations in forest floors in the northeastern US. *Ecology* 80:2774–87.
- Yanai RD, Arthur MA, Siccama TG, Federer CA. 2000. Challenges of measuring forest floor organic matter dynamics: repeated measures from a chronosequence. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 138:273–83.
- Yanai, R.D., Currie, W.S. & Goodale, C. L. 2003. Soil Carbon Dynamics after Forest Harvest: An Ecosystem Paradigm Reconsidered. *Ecosystems*, 6: 197-212.
- Yin, X., Perry, J. A. & Dixon, R. K. 1989. Influence of canopy removal on oak forest floor decomposition. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 19(2): 204-214.
- Zak, D. R., Holmes, W. E., Burton, A. J., Pregitzer, K. S. & Talhelm, A. F. 2008. Simulated atmospheric NO₃- deposition increases soil organic matter by slowing decomposition. *Ecological Applications*, 18(8): 2016-2027.
- Zhang, L., Dawes, W. R. & Walker, G. R. 2001. Response of mean annual evapotranspiration to vegetation changes at catchment scale. *Water Resources Research*, 37(3): 701-708.
- Zhang, J., Hudson, J., Neal, R., Sereda, J., Clair, T., Turner, M., Jeffries, D., Dillon, P., Molot, L., Somers, K. & Hesslein, R. 2010. Long-term patterns of dissolved organic carbon in lakes across eastern Canada: Evidence of a pronounced climate effect. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 55(1): 30-42.
- Zetterberg, T., Kronnäs, V. & Hellsten, S. 2008. Helträdsuttag i samband med gallring/röjning och föryngringsavverkning, påverkan på markvattnet och modellerad försurningspåverkan. IVL Rapport B1772. IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute, Gothenburg. 36 pp. In Swedish with English summary.
- Zetterberg, T. & Löfgren, S. 2009. Decreasing concentrations of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in the soil solution in southern Sweden during the 1990's. Abstract, Biogeomon 2009.
- Ågren, A., Buffam, I., Jansson, M. & Laudon, H. 2007. Importance of seasonality and small streams for the landscape regulation of dissolved organic carbon export. *Journal of geophysical research*, 112: G03003.
- Ågren, A., Berggren, M., Laudon, H. & Jansson, M. 2008. Terrestrial export of highly bioavailable carbon from small boreal catchment in spring floods. *Freshwater biology*, 53: 964-972.

- Öberg, G. Chloride and organic chlorine in soil. 1998. Acta Hydrochimica Et Hydrobiologica, 26(3):137-144.
- Öberg, G. Holm, M., Sandén, P., Svensson, T., Parikka, M. 2005. The role of organic-matter-bound chlorine in the chlorine cycle: a case study of the Stubbetorp catchment, Sweden. *Biogeochemistry*, 75:241-269.
- Örlander, G., Langvall, O., Petersson, P. & Westling, O. 1997. Arealförluster av växtnäringsämnen efter ristäkt och markberedning på sydsvenska hyggen, Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet. Institutionen för sydsvensk skogsvetenskap.